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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(continued)

iv.	 To discuss with the External Auditor the audit plan, evaluation of the system of internal control and the External Audit Report as well as 
to review the External Auditor Management letter and Management’s response;

v.	 To review major audit findings raised by the External Auditors and Management’s response, including the status of previous audit 
recommendations;

vi.	 To review the assistance given by the Group’s officers to the External Auditors and any difficulties encountered in the course of the audit 
work, including any restrictions on the scope of activities or access to required information; and 

vii.	 To review or approve non-audit services provided by the External Auditors.

•	 Financial Reporting and Annual Report

	 To review the quarterly and year-end financial statements prior to recommendation to the Board, focusing particularly on:-

i.	 Changes in accounting policies and practices;

ii.	 Significant adjustments arising from the audit; and

iii.	 Compliance with applicable accounting standards and other legal and regulatory requirements.

•	 Related Party Transaction

	 To review related party transactions and conflict of interest situations that may arise within the Group including any transactions, procedures 
or course of conducts that may raise questions on Management’s integrity.

•	 Investigation

	 Instruct an investigation on any activities or matters within its terms of reference.

•	 Other Matters

	 Act on other matters as the Committee considers appropriate or as authorised by the Board of Directors.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Audit Committee has carried out its duties as set out in the terms of reference. The main 
activities were as follows:

Internal Audit Function

•	 Reviewed the annual audit plan to ensure adequate scope and coverage over the activities of the Group, focusing mainly on high risks areas;

•	 Reviewed the effectiveness of the audit methodology, adequacy of resources and the competency of the Internal Auditors;

•	 Reviewed internal audit reports and Management’s response to the audit recommendations;

•	 Monitored Management’s progress on implementation of audit recommendations; and

•	 Reviewed the appraisal on performance and remuneration of Internal Auditors.

External Audit

•	 Reviewed the audit scope, audit strategy, audit plan and Audit Report issued for the financial year;

•	 Assessed the objectivity and independence of the External Auditors during the year; 

•	 Evaluated the performance and effectiveness of the External Auditors and make recommendations to the Board on their appointment and 
audit fee; and

•	 Reviewed major audit findings raised by the External Auditors and Management’s response, including the status of previous audit 
recommendations.

Financial Reporting and Annual Report

•	 Reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial results and annual audited financial statements of the Group to ensure that financial reporting 
and disclosure requirements are in compliance with relevant standards and regulations, prior to recommendation to the Board for approval.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Audit Committee is supported by Group Internal Audit Department (“GIAD”) which conducts audit for the whole Group except for MAA Takaful 
Berhad which is supported by their own Internal Audit Department.

GIAD assists the Board, Audit Committee and Senior Management in discharging their duties and responsibilities by providing an independent 
and objective assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system, risk management and governance processes. The 
annual audit plan was developed based on assessment of the significance of potential risk exposure of respective auditable areas. The audit 
scope covers operational, financial, compliance and information system control. It seeks to ensure that internal controls embedded in respective 
business processes are adequate and effective in mitigating associated risks to the level acceptable to the Management. The results of the 
audit are reported to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis to highlight major audit internal control issues with significant risk exposure and 
effectiveness of the existing mitigating internal controls. An audit follow-up would also be carried out to report on the progress of implementation 
of audit recommendations to the Audit Committee.

During the financial year, the following activities were carried out by Internal Audit Function:

•	 Developed annual audit plan and prioritisation of auditable areas based on significance of potential risk exposure to the Group results, input 
from Senior Management and the Audit Committee, and in cognisance of Group business objectives and goals;

•	 Executed audit of respective business units and processes based on systematic and disciplined risk based audit approach;

•	 Ascertained the extent of compliance with established policies and procedures and statutory requirements;

•	 GIAD also conducted audit on Information Systems of the Group; 

•	 Carried out ad hoc audit assignments and special reviews as requested by Senior Management and Audit Committee;

•	 Carried out investigation into activities or matters as instructed by the Audit Committee and Senior Management;

•	 Recommended improvements to existing internal control system and work processes; and

•	 Preparation of Audit Committee Report and Statement on Internal Control for inclusion into Annual Report for financial year ended
	 31 December 2012.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(continued)
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Corporate Social Responsibility 

Introduction 

MAA Group Berhad (“MAAG” or the “Company”) takes pride in its CSR initiatives. MAAG develops policies that integrate responsible practices into 
its daily business operations. 

A business plan, embedded into one’s work culture, reflecting the organisational values and objectives through strategic CSR application, builds a 
sustainable and profitable future in the marketplace, the environment, the workplace and the community.

CSR in the Marketplace 

MAAG is a strong believer in ethics and integrity. We encourage transparency and ethical procurement practices that safeguard the interests of 
our stakeholders. We believe in acting responsibly through delivering quality products that are of value for money and meeting the demands of 
customers. By embedding CSR practices into our business strategies, we have the opportunity to continually affect change, increase profitability 
and provide new options for business investment while minimising the impact on the environment.  

CSR and the Environment 

Whilst the day-to-day business operations at MAAG are not industrial in nature, the Company has always adopted a green policy which reduces 
overall waste. MAAG is committed to carrying out business processes that minimise the use of resources. 

CSR within the Workplace 

MAAG places high commitment towards the well-being and future of our employees who are regarded as the greatest asset of the Company.

We have developed a safe, healthy and hospitable working environment which nurtures the personal growth of our employees. 

Our initiatives include;

1.	 Health, Safety and Employee Welfare 

	 Our Occupational Safety & Health (OSH) team looks into all aspects of office safety and health, and organises activities compliant with 
the Department of Occupational, Safety and Health (DOSH) regulation standards. We believe it is important to provide our employees 
with access to crucial information for precise decision-making with regards to their health and safety. In 2012, MAAG conducted a special 
in-house workshop, “City Survival Training for Ladies” to equip female employees with the right knowledge and techniques to defend 
themselves in the event of a crime. A total of 51 female employees attended this workshop. 

2.	 Staff Training 

	 Training and development is an essential tool in any organisation. A highly motivated, skilled and qualified workforce is the key to success. 
At MAAG, staff training is designed to suit each level within the organisation; from clerical to senior management staff.

	 The various types of employee training modules that cover specific topics include;
•	 Leadership and management skills
•	 Information Technology
•	 Industrial and industry training
•	 Technical training
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Corporate Social Responsibility
(continued) 

3.	 Agent and Advisor Training

	 Training is also extended to our Consultants and Unit Trust Advisors, who we believe, form a vital part of our company. The training 
conducted is crucial in enhancing their professionalism; ensuring they remain industry-competitive. Working hand-in-hand with our Advisors, 
we develop practical signature courses that are educational to enhance their individual potential and growth. 

	 Seminars, conferences and training programmes focusing on product knowledge, sales, selling skills, compliance, underwriting and claims 
procedures, leadership development and agency management are either conducted in-house or through a professional trainer for our 
Consultants. We are also, in continuous collaboration with LIMRA International and Centre for Research and Training (CERT) in developing 
all our training modules and materials in order to ensure the quality of our training programmes. 

4.	 Staff Benefits 

	 Rewarding our staff through incentives, company benefits and career advancement opportunities have always been the Company’s priority. 
In 2012, a total of RM583,182.63 was spent on staff retirement gratuity and training.

5.	 Long Service Awards 

	 The Long Service Awards ceremony is held biannually to recognise and express appreciation to employees who have completed five or more 
years of service with MAAG and its subsidiaries. For the year 2012, 29 participants who had completed five to ten years of service and 59 
participants who had completed 15 to 30 years of service were awarded with the Long Service Awards. Awards in the form of cash incentives 
and mementos were distributed. 

CSR within our Community 

MAAG plays a positive role in society through various programmes that benefit the local community. The following are our corporate responsibility 
initiatives; 

1.	 MAA Medicare Kidney Charity Fund (“MAA Medicare”) 

	 From its humble beginnings 18 years ago at a shop lot in Jalan Ipoh, equipped with just 7 machines and caring for 20 patients, MAA 
Medicare has grown by leaps and bounds to become the second largest dialysis provider in Malaysia, caring for 810 patients in 12 centres 
across the country. The nerve centre of MAA Medicare is the Secretariat Office, located at the 2nd Floor, Wisma MAA Medicare in Jalan Ipoh, 
Kuala Lumpur.

	 To date, all patients are taken care of with the assistance of 12 visiting nephrologists, 105 nursing staff and a management team of 20; 
providing highly subsidised dialysis treatment and medical expertise to patients. Patients have access to a total of approximately 200 dialysis 
machines which they depend upon three times a week, for up to 4 hours per session.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
(continued) 

	 Some of the recent activities and fundraising events of MAA Medicare are;

•	 “Celebrate Life” Charity Climb – Patients, staff and volunteers scaled Broga hill to celebrate life and raised RM11,000.00 
•	 Malaysia Fundraising Awards Gala Dinner 2012 – MAA Medicare was the First Runner-up for the Malaysian NGO Awards 
•	 SP Setia Foundation donated a 12-seater Pergio van worth RM78,500.00 to MAA Medicare’s Centre in Jalan Bangi 
•	 MAA Medicare donated T-shirts and school supplies to 260 children of patients 
•	 MAA Medicare established two new medically-equipped dialysis centres in Kajang and Kota Bharu 
•	 Received a donation of 19 dialysis machines from caring Malaysians 

2.	 The Budimas Charitable Foundation (“Budimas”)

	 Budimas was incorporated in 1952 with the sole purpose of providing guidance and funding in support of the welfare and well-being of 
orphans and underprivileged children in Malaysia. The Foundation supports more than 600 orphaned and underprivileged children in 12 
charitable homes nationwide, including Sabah and Sarawak. Budimas also manages two homes of its own; Orion I and II in Petaling Jaya. 

	 In 2012, some of the charitable events were; 

•	 Budimas 8th Annual Charity Raffle raised RM475,000.00 
•	 The co-branding of Budimas and MBF Cards raised RM271,000.00 
•	 Budimas’ Direct Debit Donor Programme raised RM8,725,000.00 
•	 Budimas’ Direct Mail Appeal raised RM174,000.00 
•	 OCBC Cycle Malaysia selected Budimas as one of its three charity participants and raised RM25,000.00 for the foundation 
•	 Majlis Berbuka Puasa where ‘Duit Raya’ and gifts were distributed to the children 
•	 Hosted a Christmas Party at The Budimas Orion Home and presented goodie bags 
•	 The Budimas Orion children were treated to a day of fun at Pusat Sains Negara 

3.	 Seribu Kenangan 

	 Since 2009, MAA Takaful has joined forces with MAA Medicare to organise the “Seribu Kenangan bersama MAA Takaful”. This is an initiative 
which involve the children of patients at MAA Medicare. The children drew festive greeting cards which were later distributed to friends, 
agents and policy holders at MAA Takaful. 

	 The colourful cards that were specially designed for festive occasions such as Hari Raya, Chinese New Year, Deepavali and Christmas 
captured the hearts of everyone. In recognition of these young talents, MAA Takaful turned Seribu Kenangan into a drawing contest and 
children whose drawings were shortlisted received cash vouchers and gifts.

 
4.	 Donations for Charitable Causes 

	 MAAG believes in aiding other charitable causes which will benefit the local and international community. In 2012, RM71,970.00 was 
extended as donations and sponsorships for the following causes;

•	 Paediatric Department of University Malaya Medical Centre – RM25,000.00
•	 Malaysian Paediatric Foundation – RM10,000.00 
•	 Islamic Fashion Festival (IFF) London 2012 – RM24,445.00
•	 Kejohanan Golf Amal Pendidikan Anak-Anak Yatim – RM1,000.00
•	 Cycling Expedition in aid of MAA Medicare Kidney Charity Fund (MAAKL) – RM5,000.00
•	 T-Shirts for participants of The 29th Kiwanis Treasure Hunt 2012 – RM6,525.00
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BUSINESS SUSTAINABILITY

Business sustainability refers to the pursuit of a business strategy that drives longer term corporate growth and shareholder value by embedding 
and managing economic, environmental and social developments / issues into the business model. In many instances, this orientation has been 
interpreted to mean stakeholders’ concerns effectively revolve around the 3Ps-Profit, People and Planet or the Triple Bottom Line.

Given its relatively long corporate citizenship, the MAA Group has strived to meet the expectations of stakeholders in the three aforesaid 
constituencies.   

For the Group, the financial component of the equation is characterised by such initiatives as the disposal of non-core assets, cost rationalisation 
measures, capital management, establishment of strategic business partnerships, enhancement of distribution channels and measures to 
enhance operational efficiency. The nature of the initiatives inevitably change over the course of time to reflect developments in the external 
operating environment as well as internal priorities. The Group utilises the occasion of the annual budget exercise to outline the specific areas of 
immediate concern, set performance targets and to roll-out identified business / operational strategies. The 5 Year Strategic Plans of the respective 
operating entities sets out in broad terms, the longer term direction / expectations of each company. A consistent theme in these endeavors is the 
requirement for the companies to be a credible player in their respective sectors by continuously strengthening revenue streams, being profitable, 
maintaining a low cost operating structure and being compliant with regulatory provisions.  

With regard to the social perspective, the Group has over the years, contributed substantial financial and non-financial resources to the medical 
and child welfare cause that it supports through MAA Medicare Sdn Bhd and The Budimas Charitable Foundation respectively. As these activities 
are explained in greater detail in the section on Corporate Social Responsibility (Page 63), it would suffice to say that, by virtue of being flagship 
causes, the Group is committed to the geographic expansion of both programmes so that a larger number of beneficiaries will have access to the 
educational, social and economic benefits that they confer.  

The Takaful arm of the Group has agreed in principle with its Bancatakaful partner, to contribute to Perbadanan Wakaf Selangor whose funds 
are currently managed by the latter. The said contributions will be sourced from the profits of the bancatakaful business and will be used by 
Perbadanan Wakaf Selangor to extent educational scholarships and to meet the health care needs of the needy as well as for investment purposes 
in order to develop a sustainable income stream.                    

The Group has also instituted a number of measures aimed at empowering its employees and improving the work environment. Amongst others 
these include, the introduction of a Whistle-blowing policy, subsidised workshops on self protection techniques for female personnel, flexible 
working hours, health insurance benefits for the entire Group staff and, access to the in-house gym with its range of sponsored tailored exercise 
regimes to encourage better work-life balance. However, the most critical component in this package is the yearly budgetary allocation for human 
capital development. For example in 2012, MAA Takaful incurred a total of RM2.7 million in training expenses. This translated into 19% of its annual 
wage bill and was well above the regulatory requirement of 3.5%.

With insurance and fund management being principal activities of the Group where the provision of financial advice is a key aspect of the selling 
process, the Group also has emplaced effective mechanisms to mitigate instances of deceptive marketing in order to protect customer rights. 
This includes a formalised grievance resolution channel and enforcement of remedial actions against erring parties. MAAKL Mutual’s proprietary 
business ethics code known as “MAAKL 7 Principles of Ethics” is one example of this emphasis.         

On the environmental front, the Group has implemented a number of measures that have in no small measure helped to eliminate wastage, 
minimise demand on resources and reduce the carbon footprint. Leveraging IT capabilities to undertake process automation has been the principal 
enabling factor in this regard. MAA Takaful’s award-winning Innovative Consultant Management System (iCMS) and MAAKL Mutual’s Adviser 
Management System (AMS) stand out. Other notable initiatives include emplacement of a more intelligent workflow processes (iCERT), e-Payment 
facilities, customer e-Portal (MyAccount) and e-Statements.

Collectively, these measures have streamlined work processes thereby reducing headcount demand, facilitated customer interaction and in the 
process eliminated the need to be physically present to make enquiries or to resolve issues, extended the geographical reach of the business 
franchise without having to incur the costs associated with establishing a brick and mortar presence and reduced printing costs. A conservative 
estimate suggests that these measures have contributed in excess of RM1 million to the Group’s bottom line on a recurring basis.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and providing management services. The principal activities of the Group consist of 
general and life insurance businesses, family takaful and all classes of general takaful businesses, investment holding, hire purchase, leasing and 
other credit activities, unit trust, property management, fund management and investment advisory and consultancy services.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities for the Group and the Company during the financial year, other than the 
significant events disclosed in Note 54 to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the operations of the Group and the Company for the financial year were as follows:

		  GROUP	 COMPANY
		  RM’000	 RM’000
			 
Profit for the financial year attributable to:	
- Owner of the Company	 42,477	 43,264
- Non-controlling interests	 (7,352)	 -

		  35,125	 43,264
			 

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year and the Directors do not recommend the payment 
of any dividend for the current financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year are disclosed in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who have held office during the period since the date of the last report are:

Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah
Muhamad Umar Swift
Yeo Took Keat
Datuk Seri Razman Md Hashim bin Che Din Md Hashim 
Tan Sri Ahmad bin Mohd Don
Tunku Yahaya @ Yahya bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah
Dato’ Jaffar Indot (Appointed on 5 September 2012)
Dato’ Narendrakumar Jasani A/L Chunilal Rugnath (Appointed on 5 September 2012)
Onn Kien Hoe (Appointed on 5 September 2012)
Major General Datuk Lai Chung Wah (Rtd) (Resigned on 5 September 2012)
General Dato’ Sri Hj Suleiman bin Mahmud RMAF (Rtd) (Resigned on 5 September 2012)
Dato’ Sri Iskandar Michael bin Abdullah (Resigned on 16 July 2012)
Dr Zaha Rina Zahari (Resigned on 1 July 2012)
	
In accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, Datuk Seri Razman Md Hashim bin Che Din Md Hashim and Dato’ Jaffar Indot 
retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 73 of the Company’s Articles of Association,  Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah  and Yeo Took Keat retire 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 79 of the Company’s Articles of Association,  Dato’ Narendrakumar Jasani A/L Chunilal Rugnath  and Onn Kien Hoe 
retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued) 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings, particulars of interests of Directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares 
in the Company are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM1.00 each

Company
At 

1.1.2012 Acquired Disposed
At

31.12.2012

Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah (“TY”) 
- Indirect # 105,777,084 - - 105,777,084

Tunku Yahaya @ Yahya bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah (“TYY”)
- Indirect * 105,777,084 - - 105,777,084

Tan Sri Ahmad bin Mohd Don 2,055,000 - - 2,055,000

Datuk Seri Razman Md Hashim bin Che Din Md Hashim 150,000 - - 150,000

Yeo Took Keat 80,000 - - 80,000

#	 Deemed interested by virtue of TY being the founder and ultimate beneficial owner of Khyra Legacy Berhad, the holding company of Iternum 
Melewar Sdn Bhd which is in turn a substantial shareholder of Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd. Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd is the holding company 
of Melewar Equities (BVI) Ltd, which is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

*	 Under Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act, 1965, TYY is deemed interested in Khyra Legacy Berhad’s deemed interest in the Company by 
virtue of his family relationship with TY.

By virtue of the above mentioned Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company, they are also deemed to have a substantial interest in the 
shares of the subsidiary companies of the Company to the extent the Company has an interest.

None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year held any interest in shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its related 
corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a party, being arrangements with the object or 
objects of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 
other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than Directors’ 
remuneration, fees paid to a company in which certain Directors have an interest and benefits provided to Directors as disclosed in Note 34 to 
the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he is a 
member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Before the financial statements were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(a)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for doubtful debts and 
satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b)	 to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business their values as shown in 
the accounting records of the Group and Company had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a)	 which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amounts of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of 
the Group and Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and Company misleading; or

(c)	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and Company misleading 
or inappropriate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued) 

STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the 
financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may affect the ability of the Group or the Company to meet their obligations when they 
fall due.

For the purpose of the above paragraph, contingent or other liabilities do not include liabilities arising from contracts of insurance underwritten in 
the ordinary course of business of the insurance subsidiary companies of the Company.
 
At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liability of any other 
person; or

(b)	 any contingent liability of the Group or Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which 
would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a)	 the results of the Group’s and the Company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature, other than the gain on disposal of subsidiaries as disclosed in the “Significant Events During The 
Financial Year and Subsequent to the Financial Year End” in this report and in Note 54 to the financial statements; and

(b)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material 
and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or Company for the financial year in which this report 
is made, other than as disclosed in the “Significant Events During The Financial Year and Subsequent to the Financial Year End” in this report 
and in Note 54 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR END

(a)	 On 30 September 2011, the Company completed the disposal of its entire 100% equity interest in Malaysian Assurance Alliance Berhad 
(“MAA”) (now known as Zurich Insurance Malaysia Berhad) and other identified subsidiary companies, namely Multioto Services Sdn Bhd, 
Maagnet Systems Sdn Bhd, Malaysian Alliance Property Services Sdn Bhd and Maagnet-SSMS Sdn Bhd (hereinafter collectively known 
as the (“Disposed Subsidiaries”) to Zurich Insurance Company Ltd (“Zurich”) for a total cash consideration of RM344.0 million (“Disposal”)).

	 Under the terms of the Conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Zurich in relation to the Disposal, there is an adjustment to 
the sale consideration of RM344.0 million equal to the difference between the aggregate net asset value of Disposed Subsidiaries as at 
30 September 2010 and the final aggregate net asset value as at 30 September 2011 (“Adjustment to Consideration”). The Adjustment to 
Consideration shall be finalised within one hundred and twenty (120) days from the completion of the sale of the Disposed Subsidiaries, 
unless disputes arise which shall be resolved in accordance to the relevant terms and conditions stipulated in the SPA.    

	 On 30 December 2011, based on the draft completion accounts and statement of aggregate net assets value of the Disposed Subsidiaries 
prepared by and received from Zurich, there is an upward adjustment of RM86.0 million to the sale consideration of RM344.0 million. The 
upward adjustment of RM86.0 million equals to the difference between the aggregate net asset value of Disposed Subsidiaries as at 30 
September 2010 and the final aggregate net asset value as at 30 September 2011.

	 On 17 February 2012 and 12 April 2012, the Company submitted notifications of disputes (“Dispute Notifications”) to Zurich to disagree 
certain downward adjustments made to the draft completion accounts and statement of aggregate net assets value of the Disposed 
Subsidiaries.  

	 On 28 June 2012, the Company received RM30.1 million in the escrow account from Zurich being the net held back sum upon satisfaction 
of certain conditions precedent in the SPA in relation to Prima Avenue Klang property, one of the real properties owned by MAA.

	 On 16 July 2012, the Company received a letter dated 13 July 2012 from Zurich confirming an overstatement of RM5.3 million in the Life 
fund liabilities of MAA in the draft completion accounts.

	 On 27 July 2012, the Company received RM20.6 million in the escrow account from Zurich being the held back sum upon satisfaction of 
certain condition precedent in the SPA in relation to Mithril’s 3% 8-year redeemable convertible secured loan stocks (“RCSLS”).

	 On 2 November 2012, the Company filed and served a notice of arbitration against Zurich with the Singapore International Arbitration Centre 
seeking, inter alia, declarations to refer disputes on the calculation of General Insurance Reserves and other dispute matters in the draft 
completion accounts prepared by Zurich to an Expert Accountant in accordance with terms of the SPA in order to determine the final selling 
price of the Disposed subsidiaries, as well as further declarations to be entitled to receive payment of escrow monies in accordance  with the 
Escrow Agreement dated 28 September 2011, having satisfied the requirements under the SPA and the Side Letter dated 17 August 2011 
in respect of the Prima Avenue Klang property, together with damages, interests and costs.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued) 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR END (CONTINUED)

(b)	 On 30 September 2011, the Company became an affected listed issuer pursuant to Practice Note 17 (“PN17”) of the Listing Requirements 
whereby a listed issuer has suspended or ceased its major business, i.e. in this case the disposal of MAA.

	 Nonetheless, the Company did not trigger any of the other prescribed criteria under PN17 of the Listing Requirements, such as consolidated 
shareholders’ equity of 25% or less of the issued and paid up share capital, a default in payment by the Group, the auditors having expressed 
an adverse or disclaimer opinion on the Company’s latest audited accounts, etc. 

	 As an affected listed issuer, the Company is required pursuant to paragraph 4.1 of the PN 17 of the Listing Requirements to announce details 
of its regularisation plan. 

	 On 28 September 2012, the Company submitted an application to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) for a waiver from 
having to comply with Paragraph 8.04(2) of the Listing Requirements and a waiver from submitting a regularisation plan to Bursa Securities 
pursuant to Paragraph 8.04(3) of the Listing Requirements (“Application for Waiver”).

	 On 1 October 2012, Bursa Securities had vide its letter informed that the suspension on the trading of the Company’s securities and delisting 
of the Company in accordance with Paragraph 8.04 of the Listing Requirements shall be deferred pending the decision on the Application 
for Waiver.

	 On 30 November 2012, the Company submitted an application to Bursa Securities for an extension of time from complying with Paragraph 
8.04(3) and PN17 of the Listing Requirements (“Application for Extension of time”).

	 On 20 December 2012, Bursa Securities had vide its letter rejected the Company’s Application for Waiver from complying with Paragraph 
8.04(3) and PN17 of the Listing Requirements and has granted an extension of time of up to 18 June 2013 for the Company to submit a 
regularisation plan taking into consideration amongst others the following:

(i)	 The consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2012 including its consolidated shareholders’ equity and net 
assets of approximately RM451.9 million, cash and cash equivalents of approximately RM154.6 million as well as the Group’s low 
gearing position;

(ii)	 The future receipts of balance of cash proceeds from the disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries which is scheduled to be released to 
the Company from the escrow account in 2013;

(iii)	 The steps taken to regularise the Company’s financial position to date and in particular the disposals of non-performing or loss making 
assets (such as Wira Security Services Sdn Bhd and PT MAA Life Assurance as disclosed in note (c) and (d) below) and the acquisition 
of Origin Mortgage Management Services by Columbus Capital Pty Ltd in note (f) below; and

(iv)	 The Company’s plan to revert, sustain and grow the profitability of the Group.

(c)	 On 28 June 2012, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary company, MAA Corporation Sdn Bhd (“MAA Corp”), completed the disposal of 
its 100% equity interest in Wira Security Services Sdn Bhd (“Wira”) for a total cash consideration of RM7.0 million, arrived at on a ‘willing 
buyer-willing seller’ basis.

(d)	 On 16 August 2012, MAA International Assurance Ltd (“MAAIA”), a wholly owned subsidiary company of MAA Corp, completed the disposal 
of its 99.5% equity interest in PT MAA Life Assurance (“PT MAAL”) for a final sale consideration of IDR23.56 billion (equivalent to approximately 
RM7.79 million) to Tokio Marine Holdings, Inc. 

(e)	 On 5 September 2012, the Company disposed its 45% equity interest in an associated company, Maybach Logistics Sdn Bhd to Crest 
Corporate Services Sdn Bhd for a total cash consideration of RM14,000. 

(f)	 On 21 September 2012, Columbus Capital Pty Ltd (“CCAU”) , an associated company of Columbus Capital Singapore Ltd (“CCS”) which is 
in turn a wholly owned subsidiary company of MAA International Investments Ltd (“MAAII”), also a wholly owned subsidiary company of MAA 
Corp, entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (“ANZ”) to acquire 
ANZ’s wholesale mortgage distribution business, Origin Mortgage Management Services, which manages a portfolio of approximately AUD 
2.2 billion in residential mortgages.

	 The acquisition was financed by funds raised from issuance of Preference Shares B to shareholders’ CCS and Consortia Group Holdings Pty 
Limited (“Consortia”).

	 A Share Subscription Deed to subscribe for 2.0 million Preference Shares B at AUD1.00 per share, representing 4.68% of the enlarged 
equity interest in CCAU, for a total cash consideration of AUD2.0 million or RM6.7 million equivalent (based on the prevailing exchange rate of 
AUD1.00: RM3.35) was executed by CCS on 11 September 2012. Consortia subscribed for 1.25 million Preference Share B at an issue price 
of AUD1.00 per share which represented 2.92% of the enlarged equity interest in CCAU. The subscription increased CCS’ equity interest in 
CCAU from 46.84% to 47.95% whilst correspondingly decreased Consortia’s overall interest from 53.16% to 52.05%.

	
	 On 28 September 2012, CCAU completed the acquisition of ANZ’s wholesale mortgage distribution business, Origin Mortgage Management 

Services.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR END (CONTINUED)

(g)	 On 2 October 2012, MAA Credit Berhad (“MAA Credit”), a wholly owned subsidiary of MAA Corp, had in exercise of its power of attorney 
pursuant to memorandum of deposit shares in Keris Murni Sdn Bhd (“KMSB”) and Pusat Tuisyen Kasturi Sdn Bhd (“PTKSB”) (“the Security 
Shares”) dated 1 October 2009 signed with Famous Vertex Sdn Bhd (“FVSB”), transferred all the Security Shares to itself. This forms part of 
debt recovery action taken to enforce the Security Shares after FVSB had defaulted the loan (both principal and interest) due to MAA Credit. 

	 Consequently, KMSB and PTKSB become 70% owned subsidiary companies of MAA Credit on 2 October 2012.

(h)	 On 26 November 2012, MAA Credit entered into a Shares Sale Agreement with Ahmad Nor Shaffuddin bin Ahmad Baharuddin and Rozeeta 
binti Ahmad Baharuddin (collectively referred to as “Vendors”) on the same date to acquire from the Vendors 290,002 ordinary shares of 
RM1.00 each representing 100% equity interest in Nilam Timur Sdn Bhd (“Nilam Timur”) for a total cash consideration of RM10.00, arrived 
at on a ‘willing seller-willing buyer’ basis. This forms part of debt recovery action taken by MAA Credit for a loan due by Nilam Timur. MAA 
Credit intends to sell Nilam Timur which has the sub-lease on lands to any interested party to recover the loan.

(i)	 On 5 December 2012, MAA Corp and NTY Enterprise Sdn Bhd, entered into a Share Sale Agreement, for the disposal of 385,000 ordinary 
shares representing 11% of the issued and fully paid up ordinary shares and the 153 redeemable preference shares representing 100% of 
the issued and fully paid up redeemable preference shares in Meridian Asset Management Holdings Sdn Bhd (“MAM”) respectively for a total 
cash consideration of Ringgit Malaysia Ten (RM10) only, arrived at on a ‘willing seller-willing buyer’ basis. Upon completion of the disposal, 
MAM has ceased to be a subsidiary company of MAA Corp/the Company and has been accounted for as an associated company of the 
Group.

(j)	 On 23 April 2013, Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) discussed and approved in principle the proposed disposal of MAAIA’s 
entire interest in PT MAA General Assurance (“PT MAAG”), an 83% owned subsidiary company in Indonesia. The Company has been in 
discussions with an interested party for the proposed disposal; however the terms and conditions of the contemplated sale and purchase 
agreement have yet to be finalised. The Board is of the opinion that it will be in the best interest of the Company to divest PT MAAG based 
on its financial condition and to therefore mitigate the loss from this operations in Indonesia.   

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 24 April 2013.

MUHAMAD UMAR SWIFT	 YEO TOOK KEAT
DIRECTOR	 DIRECTOR

Kuala Lumpur
24 April 2013

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(continued) 
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 169(15) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

We, Muhamad Umar Swift and Yeo Took Keat, two of the Directors of MAA Group Berhad, state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial 
statements set out on pages 76 to 222 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company as at 31 
December 2012 and of the results and the cash flows of the Group and Company for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the requirements of the Companies Act, 
1965, in Malaysia.

The supplementary information set out in Note 55 have been prepared in accordance with the Guidance of Special Matter No.1, Determination 
of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as 
issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 24 April 2013.

MUHAMAD UMAR SWIFT	 YEO TOOK KEAT
DIRECTOR	 DIRECTOR

Kuala Lumpur

STATUTORY DECLARATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 169(16) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

I, Muhamad Umar Swift, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of MAA Group Berhad do solemnly and sincerely 
declare that the financial statements set out on pages 76 to 222 are, in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously 
believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

MUHAMAD UMAR SWIFT

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Muhamad Umar Swift at Kuala Lumpur in Malaysia on 24 April 2013, before me.

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MAA GROUP BERHAD 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of MAA Group Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012 
of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 76 to 222.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair view in accordance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in 
Malaysia and for such internal controls as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with approved 
standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2012 
and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

Emphasis of matter

Without qualifying our opinion above, we draw attention to Note 2.1 to the financial statements. PT MAA General Assurance, an 83% owned 
subsidiary company, reported a shareholders’ deficit of RM55.7 million as at 31 December 2012, and has not complied with the capital and 
solvency regulatory requirements under the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia. Note 2.1 outlines the action plans the Directors of the Company 
are undertaking to address these issues. These matters indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the 
subsidiary company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) 	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company, and its subsidiaries of 
which we have acted as auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) 	 We have considered the accounts and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors, which are indicated 
in Note 9 to the financial statements.

(c) 	 We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements are in form and 
content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory 
information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) 	 The audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under Section 174(3) 
of the Act.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MAA GROUP BERHAD

(continued)

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The supplementary information set out in Note 55 on page 222 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not 
part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on 
Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

OTHER MATTERS

1.	 As stated in Note 2 to the financial statements, MAA Group Berhad adopted Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards on 1 January 2012 
with a transition date of 1 January 2011. These standards were applied retrospectively by Directors to the comparative information in these 
financial statements, including the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2011, and the income statements, 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011 and related disclosures. We were not engaged to report on the restated comparative information and it is unaudited. Our 
responsibilities as part of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2012 have, in these circumstances, included obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances as at 1 January 2012 
do not contain misstatements that materially affect the financial position as of 31 December 2012 and financial performance and cash flows 
for the financial year then ended.

2. 	 This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS 	 SRIDHARAN NAIR
(No. AF: 1146) 	 (No. 2656/05/14 (J))
Chartered Accountants 	 Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
24 April 2013
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				    Restated	 Restated
		  Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Assets	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment		  4	 23,886	 10,373	 8,387
Investment properties		  5	 11,632	 11,175	 11,601
Intangible assets		  6	 7,859	 8,461	 8,271
Investments		  7	 473,621	 426,995	 417,161

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss			   201,800	 171,333	 154,353
Available-for-sale financial assets			   216,335	 201,091	 224,335
Loans and receivables		  8	 55,486	 54,571	 38,473

Associated companies		  10	 56,314	 50,522	 49,404
Reinsurance/retakaful assets		  11	 212,743	 147,928	 123,897
Insurance/takaful receivables		  12	 68,804	 81,556	 68,575
Trade and other receivables		  13	 257,590	 209,833	 39,666
Tax recoverable			   3,617	 3,563	 4,712
Deferred tax assets		  14	 558	 784	 2,133
Cash and cash equivalents		  15	 141,717	 177,252	 252,579
Assets classified as held for sale		  16	 1,015	 1,589	 7,597,399

Total assets			   1,259,356	 1,130,031	 8,583,785
				  
Equity, policyholders’ fund and liabilities	 			 
				  
Liabilities	 			 
				  
Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 17	 600,929	 508,490	 522,410
Investment contract liabilities	 18	 11,289	 17,756	 40,538
Borrowings 				  

- Medium Term Notes (secured)		  19	 -	 -	 170,000
- Revolving credit (secured)		  20	 -	 -	 36,300
- Bank overdrafts (unsecured)		  21	 4,335	 9,232	 9,905

Insurance/takaful payables	 22	 101,543	 96,092	 65,388
Trade and other payables	 23	 74,659	 81,921	 79,829
Current tax liabilities		  6,373	 3,418	 631
Deferred tax liabilities	 14	 6,110	 5,155	 3,322
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale	 16	 -	 -	 7,363,214

Total liabilities	 	 805,238	 722,064	 8,291,537
				  
Equity	 			 
				  
Capital and reserves attributable to the Company’s equity holders				  
				  
Share capital	 24	 304,354	 304,354	 304,354
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)	 25	 118,734	 76,257	 (38,460)
Reserves	 25	 4,316	 (616)	 (981)

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company	 	 427,404	 379,995	 264,913
				  
Non-controlling interests		  26,714	 27,972	 27,335

Total equity	 	 454,118	 407,967	 292,248
				  

Total equity, policyholders’ fund and liabilities	 	 1,259,356	 1,130,031	 8,583,785
				  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

		  Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Assets				  
				  
Property, plant and equipment		  4	 2,316	 1,176	 1,784
Intangible assets		  6	 181	 176	 57
Investments		  7	 1,760	 1,168	 9,866

Available-for-sale financial assets			   1,664	 -	 4,658
Loans and receivables		  8	 96	 1,168	 5,208

Subsidiary companies		  9	 126,972	 134,727	 283,853
Associated companies		  10	 100	 100	 100
Trade and other receivables		  13	 251,029	 199,715	 64,568
Tax recoverable			   1,933	 1,932	 2,841
Cash and cash equivalents		  15	 6,141	 6,946	 47,934
Assets classified as held for sale		  16	 -	 -	 110,981

Total assets			   390,432	 345,940	 521,984
				  
Equity and liabilities	 			 
				  
Liabilities	 			 
				  
Borrowings				  

- Medium Term Notes (secured)		  19	 -	 -	 170,000
- Revolving credit (secured)		  20	 -	 -	 36,300

Trade and other payables		  23	 4,527	 5,083	 11,361
Deferred tax liabilities		  14	 131	 11	 19

Total liabilities			   4,658	 5,094	 217,680
				  
Equity	 			 
				  
Share capital		  24	 304,354	 304,354	 304,354
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)		  25	 79,756	 36,492	 (1,048)
Reserves		  25	 1,664	 -	 998

Total equity			   385,774	 340,846	 304,304
				  

Total equity and liabilities			   390,432	 345,940	 521,984
				  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

			   GROUP		  COMPANY 

			   Restated			 
	 Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS					   

Gross earned premiums/contributions	 27(a)	 431,418	 362,203	 -	 -
Premiums/contributions ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 27(b)	 (188,697)	 (151,085)	 -	 -

Net earned premiums/contributions	 	 242,721	 211,118	 -	 -
					   
	
Investment income	 28	 22,416	 19,471	 5,249	 3,360
Realised gains and losses	 29	 15,166	 10,579	 1	 -
Fair value gains and losses - net	 30	 12,220	 (17,850)	 176	 (3,836)
Fee and commission income	 31	 37,365	 32,318	 -	 -
Other operating revenue from non-insurance businesses	 32	 43,908	 43,497	 1,866	 4,325

Other revenue	 	 131,075	 88,015	 7,292	 3,849
					   
	
Gross benefits and claims paid	 33(a)	 (184,744)	 (133,311)	 -	 -
Claims ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 33(b)	 81,893	 67,477	 -	 -
Gross change to contract liabilities	 33(c) 	 (113,656)	 (27,430)	 -	 -
Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 33(d)	 66,590	 17,440	 -	 -

Net insurance/takaful benefits and claims	 	 (149,917)	 (75,824)	 -	 -
					   
	
Fee and commission expense		  (95,662)	 (86,076)	 -	 -
Management expenses	 34	 (121,892)	 (89,837)	 (19,594)	 (17,582)
Other operating expenses - net	 35	 (15,389)	 (15,317)	 (88)	 (171,736)
Finance costs	 36	 (420)	 (14,428)	 (2)	 (13,567)

Other expenses	 	 (233,363)	 (205,658)	 (19,684)	 (202,885)
					   
	
Share of loss of associated companies, net of tax		  (665)	 (350)	 -	 -
	
Loss/(profit) before taxation	 	 (10,149)	 17,301	 (12,392)	 (199,036)
					   
	
Taxation of life insurance, general takaful and family takaful businesses		  (5,804)	 (2,080)	 -	 -

Surplus after taxation/profit/(loss) before taxation		  (15,953)	 15,221	 (12,392)	 (199,036)

Surplus attributable to participants		  (9,192)	 (6,222)	 -	 -

Surplus retained in life insurance fund		  -	 (1,453)	 -	 -

(Loss)/profit before taxation	 	 (25,145)	 7,546	 (12,392)	 (199,036)
					   
	
Taxation	 37	 (3,664)	 (4,927)	 (120)	 8
Zakat		  (226)	 (188)	 -	 -
					   
	
(Loss)/profit for the financial year from continuing operations		  (29,035)	 2,431	 (12,512)	 (199,028)
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INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

(continued)

			   GROUP		  COMPANY 

			   Restated			 
	 Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS						    
	
Profit before taxation	 38	 64,313	 135,133	 55,776	 236,568

Taxation	 37	 (153)	 (23,424)	 -	 -

Profit for the financial year from discontinued operations	 38	 64,160	 111,709	 55,776	 236,568

	
Profit for the financial year	 	 35,125	 114,140	 43,264	 37,540
	
Profit/(loss) for the financial year attributable to:

- Owners of the Company		  42,477	 114,717	 43,264	 37,540
- Non-controlling interests		  (7,352)	 (577)	 -	 -

		  35,125	 114,140	 43,264	 37,540
					   
	
Gross dividends per share (sen)	 39	 -	 -	 -	 -
	
Basis earnings/(loss) per ordinary share attributable to

Owners of the Company (sen):

- Continuing operations	 40	 (7.12)	 0.99	
- Discontinued operations	 40	 21.08	 36.70		
	
		  13.96	 37.69

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

			   GROUP		  COMPANY 

			   Restated			 
	 Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

					   
	
Profit for the financial year	 	 35,125	 114,140	 43,264	 37,540
	
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Foreign currency translation differences	 25	 3,950	 216	 -	 -

Fair value gain/(loss) of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax	 25	 767	 149	 1,664	 (998)

Fair value gain on revaluation of leasehold lands	 25	 215	 -	 -	 -

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the financial year, net of tax		  4,932	 365	 1,664	 (998)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year		  40,057	 114,505	 44,928	 36,542

Total comprehensive income for the financial year attributable to:		

- Owners of the Company		  47,409	 115,082	 44,928	 36,542
- Non-controlling interests		  (7,352)	 (577)	 -	 -

		  40,057	 114,505	 44,928	 36,542
Total comprehensive income for the financial year

attributable to owners of the Company:

- Continuing operations		  (16,751)	 3,373	 44,928	 36,542
- Discontinued operations		  64,160	 111,709	 -	 -

		  47,409	 115,082	 44,928	 36,542
					   
	
					   
	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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	 Attributable to owners of the Company

				    (Accumu-			 
		   		  lated			 
				     losses)/			   Non-
			   Share	 retained			   controlling	 Total
		  Note	 capital	 earnings	 Reserves	 Total	 interests	 equity
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
							     
At 1 January 2011	 						    
- as previously stated			   304,354	 (16,728)	 (981)	 286,645	 33,339	 319,984
- prior year adjustments		  43	 -	 (21,732)	 -	 (21,732)	 (6,004)	 (27,736)

			   304,354	 (38,460)	 (981)	 264,913	 27,335	 292,248
							     
Profit for the financial year							     
- as previously stated			   -	 125,769	 -	 125,769	 974	 126,743
- prior year adjustments		  43	 -	 (11,052)		  (11,052)	 (1,551)	 (12,603)

			   -	 114,717	 -	 114,717	 (577)	 114,140
							     
Other comprehensive income for the financial year	 25	 -	 -	 365	 365	 -	 365

							     
Total comprehensive income	 for the financial year		  -	 114,717	 365	 115,082	 (577)	 114,505

Transactions with non-controlling interests			   -	 -	 -	 -	 1,214	 1,214
							     
At 31 December 2011	 		  304,354	 76,257	 (616)	 379,995	 27,972	 407,967
							     
							     
At 1 January 2012	 						    
- as previously stated			   304,354	 109,041	 (616)	 412,779	 35,527	 448,306
- prior year adjustments		  43	 -	 (32,784)	 -	 (32,784)	 (7,555)	 (40,339)

			   304,354	 76,257	 (616)	 379,995	 27,972	 407,967
							     
							     
Profit for the financial year			   -	 42,477	 -	 42,477	 (7,352)	 35,125
							     
Other comprehensive income for the financial year	 25	 -	 -	 4,932	 4,932	 -	 4,932
	
							     
Total comprehensive income for the financial year		  -	 42,477	 4,932	 47,409	  (7,352)	 40,057

Transactions with non-controlling interests			   -	 -	 -	 -	 6,094	 6,094

At 31 December 2012	 		  304,354	 118,734	 4,316	 427,404	 26,714	 454,118
							     
							     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

	 Non-
	 distributable	 Distributable

					     (Accumulated	
					     losses)/
			   Share		  retained	 Total
		  Note	 capital	 Reserves	 earnings	 equity 
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
					   
At 1 January 2011	 		  304,354	 998	 (1,048)	 304,304

Profit for the financial year			   -	 -	 37,540	 37,540

Other comprehensive loss for the financial year		  25	 -	 (998)	 -	 (998)
					   
Total comprehensive income for the financial year			   -	 (998)	 37,540	 36,542
					   
At 31 December 2011	 		  304,354	 -	 36,492	 340,846

					   
At 1 January 2012	 		  304,354	 -	 36,492	 340,846
					   

Profit for the financial year			   -	 -	 43,264	 43,264
					   
Other comprehensive income for the financial year		  25	 -	 1,664	 -	 1,664
					   
Total comprehensive income for the financial year			   -	 1,664	 43,264	 44,928
					   
At 31 December 2012	 		  304,354	 1,664	 79,756	 385,774
					   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

			   Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000
			 
(Loss)/profit for the financial year from continuing operations	 	 (29,035)	 2,431

General takaful and Family takaful fund surplus after taxation		  16,608	 20,433
Investment income		  (22,416)	 (19,471)
Realised gains and losses		  (15,166)	 (10,579)
Fair value gains and losses		  (12,220)	 17,850
Finance costs		  420	 14,428
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties		  -	 450
Purchases of financial assets		  (185,655)	 (313,866)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets		  133,955	 310,077
Decrease in loans and receivables		  (2,469)	 (16,098)

Non-cash items:	
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		  3,654	 1,622
Amortisation of leases		  2	 -
Amortisation of intangible assets		  1,996	 1,915
Allowance for/(write-back of) impairment on insurance receivables		  1,546	 (1,562)
Allowance for impairment loss on trade and other receivables		  41	 176
Bad debts written off		  166	 6
Amortisation of capitalised MTNs issues expenses		  -	 1,949
Tax expense		  9,468	 7,007

Changes in working capital:	
Increase in reinsurance assets		  (64,815)	 (24,031)
Decrease/(increase) in insurance receivables		  10,440	 (11,419)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables		  (52,896)	 8,306
Increase/(decrease) in insurance contract liabilities		  101,091	 (34,353)
Decrease in investment contract liabilities		  (6,467)	 (22,782)
Increase in insurance payables		  5,600	 30,704
Increase in trade and other payable		  2,719	 3,656
	
Cash utilised in operating activities	 	 (103,433)	 (33,151)
	
Investment income received		  17,129	 20,059
Finance cost paid		  (420)	 (14,291)
Income tax paid		  (3,302)	 (227)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (continuing operations)		  (90,026)	 (27,610)

Net cash inflow from operating activities (discontinued operations)	 	 68,471	 110,016
	
Investing activities:	
Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment		  172	 623
Purchase of property plant and equipment		  (17,409)	 (6,910)
Purchase of intangible assets		  (1,395)	 (2,361)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal of discontinued operations, net of transaction costs,

deferred consideration and cash disposed 	 41	 10,984	 (557,851)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (continuing operations)	 	 (7,648)	 (566,499)
			 
Net cash outflow from investing activities (discontinued operations)	 	 (1,435)	 (3,536)

Financing activities:	 		
Repayment of medium-term notes		  -	 (170,000)
Repayment of from revolving credit		  -	 (36,300)
			 
Net cash outflow from financing activities (continuing operations)	 	 -	 (206,300)
			 
Net cash outflow from financing activities (discontinued operations)	 	 -	 -
			 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (continuing operations)	 	 (97,674)	 (800,409)
			 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (discontinued operations)	 	 67,036	 106,480
			 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year	 	 168,020	 861,949
			 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 	 15	 137,382	 168,020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

			   Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000

Profit for the financial year 	 	 43,264	 37,540
			 
Investment income		  (5,249)	 (3,360)
Realised gains and losses		  (55,777)	 (236,568)
Fair value gains and losses		  (176)	 3,836
Allowance for impairment loss on investments in subsidiary companies		  2,350	 126,106
(Write-back of)/allowance for impairment loss on amounts due from subsidiary companies		  (2,245)	 46,541
Finance costs		  2	 13,567
Decrease in loans and receivables		  1,072	 4,040
			 
Non-cash items:	 		
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		  410	 317
Property, plant and equipments written off		  179	 3
Amortisation of intangible assets		  64	 88
Amortisation of capitalised MTNs issues expenses		  -	 1,949
Tax expenses/(income)		  120	 (8)
			 
Changes in working capital:	 		
Decrease in trade and other receivables		  11,628	 5,052
Decrease in amounts due from subsidiary and associated companies		  5,414	 16,469
Decrease in trade and other payable		  (556)	 (6,414)
			 
Cash generated from operating activities	 	 500	 9,158
			 
Interest income received		  319	 456
Finance cost paid		  (2)	 (13,431)
Income tax (paid)/refund		  (1)	 909
			 
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities		  816	 (2,908)
			 
Investing activities:	 		
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		  126	 156
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets		  1	 -
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary company, net of transaction costs and deferred consideration 	 41(a)	 -	 168,315
Proceeds from disposal of an associated company		  14	 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		  (1,692)	 (44)
Purchase of intangible assets		  (70)	 (207)
			 
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities	 	 (1,621)	 168,220
			 
Financing activities:	 		
Repayment of medium-term notes		  -	 (170,000)
Repayment of revolving credit		  -	 (36,300)
			 
Net cash outflow from financing activities	 	 -	 (206,300)
			 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	 	 (805)	 (40,988)
			 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year	 	 6,946	 47,934
			 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 	 15	 6,141	 6,946
			 
	 	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012

1	 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GENERAL INFORMATION

	 The Company is principally engaged in investment holding and providing management services. The principal activities of the Group consist 
of general and life insurance businesses, family takaful and all classes of general takaful businesses, investment holding, hire purchase, 
leasing and other credit activities, unit trust, property management, fund management and investment advisory and consultancy services.

	 There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities for the Group and the Company during the financial year, other than 
the significant events disclosed in Note 54 to the financial statements.

	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad. 

	 The registered office and principal place of business of the Company are as follows:

	 Registered office

	 12th Floor, No.566
	 Jalan Ipoh
	 51200 Kuala Lumpur

	 Principal place of business

	 13th Floor, No.566
	 Jalan Ipoh
	 51200 Kuala Lumpur

	 These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 24 April 
2013.

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the financial 
statements, unless otherwise stated.

2.1	 Basis of preparation

	 The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards, and comply with the requirements of the Companies Act,1965 in 
Malaysia.

	 The financial statements of the Group and Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 are the first set of financial 
statements prepared in accordance with the MFRS, including MFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of MFRS’. Subject to certain transition 
adjustments as disclosed in Note 43 to the financial statements, the Group and Company have consistently applied the same 
accounting policies in its opening MFRS statements of financial position at 1 January 2011 (transition date) and throughout all financial 
years presented, as if these policies had always been in effect. Comparative figures for 2011 in these financial statements have been 
restated to give effect to these changes. Note 43 to the financial statements discloses the impact of the transition to MFRS on the 
Group and Company’s reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The comparative statements of financial 
position as at 31 December 2011, comparative statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the financial year then ended have been audited under the previous financial reporting framework, Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”) in Malaysia.

	 The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
valuation of investment properties at fair value, remeasurement at fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, and financial assets 
held at fair value through profit or loss. 

	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported financial year. It also requires 
Directors to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Group and Company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates 
and judgment are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)	

	 Going concern of a subsidiary company

	 In preparing the financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Directors of the Company have 
taken into consideration the financial position of PT MAA General Assurance (“PT MAAG”), an 83% owned subsidiary company in 
Indonesia.

	 As at 31 December 2012, PT MAAG reported a shareholders’ deficit position of  RM55.7 million. In addition, PT MAAG received a letter 
from the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia (“MOF”) on 28 December 2012 requiring it to comply with the minimum solvency margin using 
the Risk Based Capital basis of at least 120% for risk of loss that might arise from the deviation of assets and liabilities management. PT 
MAAG also received a sanction from the MOF to restrict it from writing new business until the shortfall in the capital from the minimum 
requirement of Indonesia Rupiah 70 million (equivalent of RM22 million) is addressed. These factors indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of  PT MAAG to continue as a going concern.

	 On 23 April 2013, the Directors of the Company discussed and approved in principle the proposed disposal of its entire interest in 
PT MAAG.  The Company has been in discussions with an interested party; however, the terms and conditions of the contemplated 
sales and purchase agreement have yet to be finalised.  In view of the plans to address the going concern status of PT MAAG via the 
disposal and the ongoing discussions with the third party, the Directors of the Company are of the view that it is appropriate to prepare 
the financial statements of PT MAAG and the Group on a going concern basis.

	 Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are applicable to the Group 
and Company but not yet effective	

	 The Group and Company will apply the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in the following 
periods:	

(i)	 Financial years beginning on/after 1 January 2013

•	 MFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ (effective from 1 January 2013) changes the definition of control. An investor 
controls an investee when it exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power in the investee. It establishes control as the basis for determining 
which entities are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and sets out the accounting requirements for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements. It replaces all the guidance on control and consolidation in MFRS 127, 
‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ and IC Interpretation 112, ‘Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities’.

•	 MFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities’ (effective from 1 January 2013) sets out the required disclosures for 
entities reporting under the two new standards, MFRS 10 and MFRS 11, and replaces the disclosure requirements currently 
found in MFRS 128, ‘Investments in Associates’. It requires entities to disclose information that helps financial statement 
readers to evaluate the nature, risks and financial effects associated with the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, associates, 
joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities. 

		
•	 MFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (effective from 1 January 2013) aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity 

by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for 
use across MFRSs. The requirements do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should 
be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other standards. The enhanced disclosure requirements are 
similar to those in MFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, but apply to all assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
not just financial ones. 

•	 The revised MFRS 127, ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ (effective from 1 January 2013) includes the 
provisions on separate financial statements that are left after the control provisions of MFRS 127 have been included in the 
new MFRS10.

•	 The revised MFRS 128, ‘Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures’ (effective from 1 January 2013) includes the 
requirements for joint ventures, as well as associates, to be equity accounted following the issue of MFRS 11.

•	 Amendment to MFRS 101, ‘Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income’ (effective from 1 July 2012) requires 
entities to separate items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (‘OCI’) in the statement of comprehensive income 
into two groups, based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. The amendments do not 
address which items are presented in OCI. 

•	 Amendment to MFRS 119, ‘Employee Benefits’ (effective from 1 January 2013) makes significant changes to the recognition 
and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination benefits, and to the disclosures for all employee 
benefits. Actuarial gains and losses will no longer be deferred using the corridor approach. MFRS 119 shall be withdrawn 
on application of this amendment. 

•	 Amendment to MFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (effective from 1 January 2013)  requires more extensive 
disclosures focusing on quantitative information about recognised financial instruments that are offset in the statement 
of financial position and those that are subject to master netting or similar arrangements irrespective of whether they are 
offset. 
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)	

	 Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are applicable to the Group 
and Company but not yet effective (continued)	

	 The Group and Company will apply the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in the following periods: 
(continued)	

(ii)	 Financial years beginning on/after 1 January 2014

•	 Amendment to MFRS 132, ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ (effective from 1 January 2014) does not change the 
current offsetting model in MFRS 132. It clarifies the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ that the 
right of set-off must be available today (not contingent on a future event) and legally enforceable for all counterparties in the 
normal course of business. It clarifies that some gross settlement mechanisms with features that are effectively equivalent 
to net settlement will satisfy the MFRS 132 offsetting criteria. 

(iii)	 Financial years beginning on/after 1 January 2015

•	 MFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’ (effective from 
1 January 2015) replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in MFRS 139 with a single model that has 
only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

	 The accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments has been relocated from 
MFRS 139, without change, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL’). 
Entities with financial liabilities designated at FVTPL recognise changes in the fair value due to changes in the liability’s 
credit risk directly in OCI. There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI to profit or loss, but accumulated gains 
or losses may be transferred within equity. 

	
	 The guidance in MFRS 139 on impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting continues to apply. 

	 MFRS 7 requires disclosures on transition from MFRS 139 to MFRS 9. 

	 The Group and Company are presently assessing the implication of adopting the above standards, amendments to published standards 
and interpretations to existing standards onto the prevailing accounting policies.

2.2	 Basis of consolidation

(a)	 Subsidiary companies
			 
	 Subsidiary companies are all entities over which the Group and Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 

policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another 
entity.  

	 Subsidiary companies are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

	 The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary company is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate 
share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

	 Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in 
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the successive acquisition dates at each stage, and the changes in fair value is taken 
through the income statement. 

	 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income of the subsidiaries are attributed to the parent and the non-
controlling interest, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

	 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance 
with MFRS 139 either in income statements or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2	 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(a)	 Subsidiary companies (continued)

	 Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling 
interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in income statements.

	 Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Profits 
and losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of 
subsidiary companies are changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b)	 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
			 
	 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions - that is, 

as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c)	 Disposal of subsidiary companies

	 When the Group ceases to have control over a subsidiary company, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair 
value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial 
carrying amount for the purpose of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associated company, joint venture 
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income statements.

(d)	 Associated companies

	 Associated companies are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method 
of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased 
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s 
investment in associated companies includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss (see 
accounting policy in Note 2.9 on impairment of non-financial assets).

	 If the ownership interest in an associated company is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of 
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate. 

	 Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associated companies are recognised in the income statement.

	 The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest 
in the associated company, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated company. 

	 The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associated 
company is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associated company and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss) of an 
associated company’ in the income statement.

	 Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associated company are 
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associated companies. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of associated companies are changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.	
			 

2.3	 Investments in subsidiary and associated companies

	 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary companies and associated companies are carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of investments in subsidiary and associated companies, the difference between 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments is recognised in the income statement.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4	 Segment reporting

	 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The 
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the Group’s Executive Committee that makes strategic decisions.

2.5	 Foreign currencies 

(a)	 Functional and presentation currency

	 Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit 
Malaysia, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

(b)	 Transactions and balances

	 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of 
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

	 For translation differences on financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial 
assets, refer to Note 2.11(c).

(c)	 Group companies 

	 The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that 
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
statement of financial position;

•	 income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income or separate income statement presented are translated 
at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rates on the dates of the 
transactions); and

•	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of other comprehensive income.

	 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

	 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings 
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

	 On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly 
controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that 
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the separate component of equity are reclassified to the income statement. 

	 In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised 
in income statements. For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in associates or jointly 
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the 
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to the income statement.
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2 	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6	 Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”)
		
(a)	 Cost

	 PPE are initially stated at cost. Land are subsequently shown at fair value, less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. 
Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from 
its carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of 
the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other PPE are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 

	 The cost of an item of PPE initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Cost also 
includes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (refer to 
accounting policy Note 2.19 on borrowing costs).

	 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses 
in the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

(b)	 Depreciation and residual value

	 Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an infinite life. Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are ready for their 
intended use. Other PPE are depreciated on a straight line basis to allocate the cost of the assets, or their revalued amounts, to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives. 

	 Leasehold land is amortised in equal instalments over the period of their respective leases or earlier if the expected useful life is 
lower than the leasehold period. In previous financial years, leasehold land was reported as prepaid leases rentals under other 
receivables.

	 The annual depreciation rates are as follows: 

	 Leasehold land		  Over the remaining leasehold period
	 Plant and machinery		  10% - 20%
	 Furniture, fittings and equipment	 10% - 20%
	 Motor vehicles		  10% - 20%
	 Renovation		  10% - 20%	

	 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting date.

(c)	 Impairment

	 At the end of each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications exist, an 
analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount (see accounting policy in Note 2.9 on impairment of non-financial assets).

(d)	 Gains and losses on disposals

	 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are credited or charged to the 
income statements.

 
(e)	 Revaluation reserves

	 When an asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is recognised in other comprehensive 
income as a revaluation surplus reserve, except that for the life insurance business, such revaluation surplus are reported as a 
separate component of insurance contract liabilities. When the asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, 
the decrease is recognised in income statement. However, the decrease is recognised in other comprehensive income to the 
extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus reserve of that asset, except that for the life insurance business, 
general takaful business and family takaful business, deficits that offset such previous increases are debited against its component 
in the insurance contract liabilities.  Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the 
asset charged to the income statements, and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from ‘other reserves’ 
to ‘retained earnings’.

	 The revaluation surplus included in equity is transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is retired or disposed of. 
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.7	 Investment properties

	 Investment properties, comprising principally of land and buildings, are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or 
both, and are not occupied by the Group.

	 Investments properties are initially stated at cost including related and incidental expenditure incurred and are subsequently carried at 
fair values. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of 
the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active 
markets or discounted cash flow projections. The fair values of investment properties are reviewed annually, and a formal valuation by 
an independent professional valuer is carried out once in every three years or earlier if the carrying values of the investment properties 
are materially higher than the fair values.

	 Gains or losses arising from changes in fair values of investment properties are recognised in the income statement in the year in which 
they arise.

	 Property located on land that is held under an operating lease is classified as investment property as long as it is held for long-term 
yields and is not occupied by the Group. The initial cost of the property is the lower of the fair value of the property and the present 
value of the maximum lease payments. The property is carried at fair value after initial recognition.

	 On disposal of an investment property or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected 
from its disposal, it is derecognised (eliminated from the statement of financial position). The difference between net proceeds and the 
carrying amount is recognised in the income statement in the financial year of the retirement or disposal.

	 If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its fair value at the date of 
reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

	 If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed, any difference arising 
between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in asset revaluation reserve as a 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised 
in the income statement. Upon the disposal of such investment property, any surplus previously recorded in asset revaluation reserve 
is transferred to the statement of comprehensive income and/or shown as a separate component in the insurance contract liabilities.

	 2.8	 Intangible assets

(a)	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s 
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash generating 
units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of 
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level. 

	 Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the value in use and 
the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

(b)	 Management rights

	 This represents the purchase consideration to acquire the rights to manage unit trust funds. The purchase consideration on the 
acquired right is capitalised and amortised over a period of 20 years, the period over which the Group expects to recognise the 
related revenue.

(c)	 Computer software

	 Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.

	 Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs that are 
directly associated with identifiable software systems controlled by the Group and Company, which do not form an integral part of 
the hardware, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible 
assets. 

	 Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight line method over their estimated 
useful lives, ranging between 5 to 10 years.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets

	 Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  Assets that are subject 
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may 
not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of impairment at each reporting date.

			 
	 The impairment loss is charged to the income statement unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it is charged to the 

revaluation surplus. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. In respect of other assets, any subsequent increase in recoverable 
amount is recognised in the income statement unless it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset in which case it is taken to 
revaluation surplus reserve.

2.10	 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations 

	 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amounts are to be recoverable 
principally through a sale transaction and the sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amounts and 
fair values less costs to sell.

	 A component of the Group is classified as a discontinued operation when the criteria to be classified as held for sale have been met or 
it has been disposed of and such a component represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part 
of a single co-ordinated major line of business or geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to 
resale.

2.11	 Financial assets

(a)	 Classification
		
	 The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. Management determines the classification at initial recognition.

	
	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

	 The Group classifies financial assets acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term as held for trading. Derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if 
expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

	 In addition, certain financial assets are designated at initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss when one of the 
designation criteria is met: 

 
•	 Designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; 
•	 Its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 

strategy; and 
•	 The item is a hybrid contract that contains one or more embedded derivatives. 

 
	 Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

	 Investments held by investment-linked funds are designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception as they are managed 
and evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the respective investment strategy and mandate.

	 Loans and receivables

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market but do not include insurance receivables. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period, they are classified as non-current assets.

	 Available-for-sale financial assets

	 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classified in 
any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to 
dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.11	 Financial assets (continued)

(b)	 Recognition and initial measurement

	 Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. 

	 Financial assets are initially recognised at fair values plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair values, and the transaction 
costs are expensed in the income statement.

(c)	 Subsequent measurement – Gains and losses

	 Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair values. 
Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, including the effects of currency translation, 
interest and dividend income are recognised in the income statement in the period in which the changes arise.

	 Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for 
impairment losses (see accounting policy Note 2.11(d)) and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets. The exchange 
differences on monetary assets are recognised in the income statement, whereas exchange differences on non-monetary assets 
are recognised in other comprehensive income as part of fair value change. However, for general takaful business and family 
takaful business, such fair value gains or losses are reported as a separate component of insurance contract liabilities until the 
investment is derecognised.

	
	 Interest and dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised separately in the income statement. Interest on 

available-for-sale debt securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in the income statement. Dividend 
income on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the Group’s/Company’s right to 
receive payments is established.

(d)	 Subsequent measurement – Impairment of financial assets

	 Assets carried at amortised cost 

	 A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.

	 The Group/Company first assesses at each reporting date whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant. If the Group/Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and 
for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

	 To determine whether there is objective that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the Group/Company 
considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant 
delay in payments.

	 The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate/yield. The asset’s carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account and 
the loss is recorded in the income statement.

	 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement, to the extent 
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

	 When an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance account. Such assets are written off after all the 
necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. 
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.11	 Financial assets (continued)

(d)	 Subsequent measurement – Impairment of financial assets (continued)

	 Available-for-sale financial assets 

	 The Group/Company assesses at the end of the reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale 
financial asset is impaired, including in the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also considered as an indicator that the financial assets are impaired. 

	 If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss that had been recognised in equity is 
transferred from equity through the statement of comprehensive income or from insurance contract liabilities to the income 
statement. The amount of cumulative loss that is reclassified to the income statement is the difference between the acquisition 
cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on the financial asset previously recognised in the income statement, is 
transferred from equity through the statement of comprehensive income or from insurance contract liabilities to the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not 
subsequently reversed through the income statement. 

	 The impairment loss is reversed through the income statement, if in a subsequent period the fair value of a debt instrument 
classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised in the income statement.

(e)	 Derecognition

	 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

	 When available-for-sale financial assets are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to the income statement. 

2.12	 Financial instruments

	 Description

	 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another enterprise.

	 A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another enterprise, a 
contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially favourable, or an equity 
instrument of another enterprise.

	 A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another enterprise, or to 
exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially unfavourable.

	 Recognition method

	 The particular recognition method adopted for financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position is disclosed in the 
individual accounting policy note associated with each item.

	 Offsetting financial instruments
	
	 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statements of financial position when there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

2.13	 Fair value of financial instruments

	 The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted or 
published bid prices on reporting date. If quoted prices are not available over the counter, broker or dealer price quotations are used.

	 For investments in unit and real estate investment trusts, fair value is determined by reference to published bid values.

	 For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair value is determined by using valuation techniques. Such techniques 
include using recent arm’s length transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow analysis and/or option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as 
possible on entity-specific inputs. For discounted cash flow techniques, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best 
estimates and the discount rate used is a market related rate for a similar instrument. Certain financial instruments are valued using 
pricing models that consider, among other factors, contractual and market prices, correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield 
curve volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The use of different pricing models and assumptions could 
produce materially different estimates of fair values.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.13	 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

	 The fair value of floating rate and over-night deposits with financial institutions is their carrying value. The carrying value is the cost of 
the deposit/placement and accrued interest/profit. The fair value of fixed interest/yield-bearing deposits is measured using estimated 
discounted cash flow techniques. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates for similar instruments at the reporting 
date.

	 If the fair value cannot be measured reliably, these financial instruments are measured at cost, being the fair value of the consideration 
paid for the acquisition of the instrument or the amount received on issuing the financial liability. All transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition are also included in the cost of the investment.

2.14 	Loans 

	 Loans are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective interest method, less 
allowance for impairment. An allowance for impairment of loans is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference 
between the assets’ carrying amounts and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rates. 
This includes interest that is suspended and/or recognised to the extent of the recoverable amount. 

	 The amount of specific allowance also takes into account the collateral value and recoverable amount of interest due, which may be 
discounted to reflect the impact of recovery process. The recovery process is estimated to be between one to five years, depending on 
default condition of the loan, type of collateral and whether under litigations. The amount of the allowance is recognised in the income 
statement.

	 Where the collateral is property, the net realisable value for the property is determined by using its fair value which is based on open 
market value by independent property valuers, adjusted if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the 
specific asset, while the net realisable value for share is based on last transacted price. If this information is not available, the Group 
uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets, adjusted if necessary, for any difference in the nature, 
location or condition of the specific asset or discounted cash flow projections. 

	 Consistent with previous years, loans are classified as non-performing when repayments or interests are in arrears for more than six (6) 
months from the first day of default or after maturity date.

	  
2.15	 Insurance receivables

	 Insurance receivables are recognised when due. They are measured at initial recognition at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, insurance receivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective yield method.  

	 If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the insurance 
receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the income statement. The Group gathers the objective evidence that an 
insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment loss 
is calculated under the same method used for these financial assets. These processes are described in Note 2.11(d) on subsequent 
measurement for impairment of financial assets.

	 Insurance receivables are derecognised when the derecognition criteria for financial assets, as described in Note 2.11(e) on derecognition 
of financial assets have been met.

2.16  Trade and other receivables

	 Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If 
collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. 
If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 

	 Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less provision for impairment.

2.17	 Operating leases

	 Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownerships are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement 
on a straight line basis over the lease period. 

2.18	 Finance leases - lessor

	 When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The difference 
between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is 
recognised over the term of the lease using the sum of digits method. 
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.19	 Borrowings

	 Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost; any difference between the initial recognised amount (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the 
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.20	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.21	 Assets acquired under hire purchase agreements
	
	 Assets financed by hire purchase agreements which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group/Company 

are capitalised as property, plant and equipment and the corresponding obligations are treated as liabilities. The property, plant and 
equipment capitalised are depreciated on the same basis as owned assets. Finance charges are allocated to the income statement 
over the period of the agreements to give a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining hire purchase liabilities.

2.22	 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

	 The Group/Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. A contingent 
liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Group/Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in the extremely rare case where there is a liability that cannot 
be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably.

	 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Group/Company. The Group/Company does not recognise contingent assets but discloses their existence where 
inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.

2.23	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group/Company has a present obligation, either legal or constructive, as a result of past events, 
when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can 
be made.

	 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates. If it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the 
time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific 
to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance costs.

2.24	 Employee benefits

	 Short-term employee benefits

	 Wages, salaries, paid annual leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are 
rendered by employees of the Group and Company.

	 Post employment benefits

	 The Group and Company have post-employment benefit schemes for eligible employees, which are defined contribution plans.

	 A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group and Company pay fixed contributions or variable contributions as 
determined yearly, into a separate entity (“a fund”), and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior financial years.

	 The Group’s and Company’s contributions to defined contribution plans, including the Employees’ Provident Fund, are charged to the 
income statement in the period to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group and Company have no further 
payment obligations.

2.25	 Other financial liabilities and insurance payables

	 Other financial liabilities and insurance payables are recognised when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective yield method.

	 A financial liability and an insurance payable are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially modified terms, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the income statement.	
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.26	 Share capital 

(a)	 Classification

	 The Company has issued ordinary shares that are classified as equity. 

(b)	 Share issue expenses

	 Incremental external costs that are directly attributed to the issue of these shares are recognised in equity, net of tax.

(c)	 Dividend distribution

	 Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are paid.

	 Dividends for the financial year that are approved after end of the reporting date are dealt with as an event after the date of the 
statement of financial position.

2.27	 Product classification

	 The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.

	 Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity 
price, foreign exchange rate, index of price or rate, credit rating or credit index or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial 
variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Insurance risk is the risk other than financial risk.

	 Insurance/takaful contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. An insurance/takaful contract is a contract under 
which the Group (the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholders) by agreeing to compensate 
the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholders. As a general guideline, the 
Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits paid with benefits payable if the insured event did 
not occur.

	 Investment contracts are those contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk.

	 Once a contract has been classified as an insurance/takaful contract, it remains an insurance/takaful contract for the remainder of its 
life-time, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or expired. 
Investment contracts can, however, be reclassified as insurance/takaful contracts after inception if insurance risk becomes significant.

	 The insurance and investment contracts of the conventional insurance subsidiary companies are further classified as being either with 
or without discretionary participation features (“DPF”). DPF is a contractual right to receive as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, 
additional benefits that are:

•	 likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;
•	 whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer; and
•	 that are contractually based on the:

oo performance of a specified pool of contracts or a special type of contract
oo realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the issuer; or
oo the profit or loss of the Group, fund or other entity that issues the contract.

	 Under the terms of contracts, surpluses in the DPF funds can be distributed on a 90/10 basis to the policyholders and the shareholders 
respectively. The Group has the discretion over the amount and timing of the distribution of these surpluses to policyholders. All 
DPF liabilities, including unallocated surpluses, both guaranteed and discretionary, at the end of the reporting period are held within 
insurance or investment contract liabilities, as appropriate.

	 Life insurance/family takaful contract liabilities are calculated based on the Gross Premium Valuation (“GPV”) method which takes 
into consideration not only the guaranteed but also the discretionary benefits in the case of participating products and the underlying 
assumptions are based on the respective subsidiary company’s actual experience.

	 For financial options and guarantees which are not closely related to the host insurance/takaful contract and/or investment contract 
with DPF, bifurcation is required to measure these embedded derivatives separately at fair value through profit or loss. However, 
bifurcation is not required if the embedded derivative is itself an insurance/takaful contract and/or investment contract with DPF, or if 
the host insurance/takaful contract and/or investment contract itself is measured at fair value through profit or loss.

	 When insurance/takaful contracts contain both a financial risk component and a significant insurance risk component and the cash 
flows from the two components are distinct and can be measured reliably, the underlying amounts are unbundled. Any premiums 
relating to the insurance risk component are accounted for on the same bases as insurance contracts and the remaining element is 
accounted for as a deposit through the statement of financial position similar to investment contracts.

	 Insurance risk is considered to be significant when the ratio of the insurance risk over the deposit component is not less than 105% of 
the deposit component at any point of the insurance/takaful contract in force.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.28	 Reinsurance/Retakaful

	 The Group cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business for most of its businesses. Reinsurance/retakaful assets represent 
balances due from reinsurance/retakaful companies. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with 
the outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsurers’ policies and are in accordance with the related 
reinsurance/retakaful contracts.

	 Ceded reinsurance/retakaful arrangements do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders/participants. Premiums/
contributions and claims are presented on a gross basis for both ceded and assumed reinsurance/retakaful.

	 Reinsurance/retakaful assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment 
arises during the reporting period. Impairment occurs when there is objective evidence as a result of an event that occurred after initial 
recognition of the reinsurance/retakaful asset that the Group may not receive all outstanding amounts due under the terms of the 
contract and the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurers. The impairment 
loss is recorded in the income statement.

	 Gains or losses on buying reinsurance/retakaful are recognised in the income statement immediately at the date of purchase and are 
not amortised.

	 The Group also assumes reinsurance/retakaful risk in the normal course of business for life insurance/family takaful and general 
(non-life) insurance/general takaful contracts when applicable. Premiums/contributions and claims on assumed reinsurance/retakaful 
are recognised as revenue or expenses in the same manner as they would be if the reinsurance/retakaful were considered direct 
business, taking into account the product classification of the reinsured business. Reinsurance/retakaful liabilities represent balances 
due to reinsurance/retakaful companies. Amounts payable are estimated in a manner consistent with the related reinsurance/retakaful 
contracts. 

2.29	 Insurance contracts - Life insurance business

	 Reinsurance/retakaful assets or liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights are extinguished or expire, or when the contracts 
are transferred to another party.

	 Reinsurance/retakaful contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk are accounted for directly through the statement of 
financial position. These are deposit assets or financial liabilities that are recognised based on the consideration paid or received less 
any explicit identified premiums or fees to be retained by the reinsured. Investment income on these contracts is accounted for using 
the effective yield method when accrued.

	 The surplus transferable from the life insurance business to the income statement is based on the surplus determined by an annual 
actuarial valuation of the long-term contract liabilities to policyholders. In the event the actuarial valuation indicates that a transfer is 
required from the shareholders’ fund, the transfer from the income statement to the life insurance business is made in the financial year 
of the actuarial valuation.

	 Gross premiums

	 Premium income includes premium recognised in the life fund and the investment-linked fund. Gross premiums of the life fund are 
recognised as soon as the amount of the premiums can be reliably measured. First premiums are recognised from inception date and 
subsequent premiums are recognised when they are due.

		
	 At the end of the financial year, all due premiums are accounted for to the extent that they can be reliably measured.

	 Premium income of the investment-linked fund includes creation of units which represents premiums paid by policyholders as payment 
for new contracts or subsequent payments to increase the amount of those contracts. Net creation of units is recognised on a receipt 
basis.

	 Reinsurance premiums

	 Gross reinsurance premiums are recognised as expenses when payable or on the date on which the policies are effective. 

	 Benefits, claims and expenses

	 Benefits and claims that are incurred during the financial year are recognised when a claimable event occurs and/or the insurer is 
notified.

	 Benefits and claims, including settlement costs, are accounted for using the case-by-case method and for this purpose the amounts 
payable under a policy are recognised as follows:

•	 maturity and other policy benefit payments due on specified dates are treated as claims payable on the due dates;
•	 death, surrender and other benefits without due dates are treated as claims payable, on the date of receipt of intimation of death 

of the assured or occurrence of contingency covered; and
•	 bonus on DPF policy upon its declaration.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.29	 Insurance contracts - Life insurance business (continued)

	 Benefits, claims and expenses (continued)

	 Reinsurance claims are recognised when the related gross insurance claim is recognised according to the terms of the relevant 
contracts.

	 Commission and agency expenses

	 Gross commission and agency expenses, which are costs directly incurred in securing premiums on insurance policies, and income 
derived from reinsurers in the course of ceding of premiums to reinsurers, are charged to the income statement in the financial year in 
which they are incurred.

2.30	 Insurance contracts - General insurance business

	 The general insurance underwriting results are determined for each class of business after taking into account reinsurance premiums, 
commissions, premium liabilities and claims incurred.

	 Gross premiums

	 Gross premiums are recognised in a financial year in respect of risks assumed during that particular financial year. Premiums from direct 
business are recognised during the financial year upon the issuance of insurance policies. Premiums in respect of risks incepted for 
which insurance policies have not been raised as of the reporting date are accrued at that date.

	 Reinsurance premiums
		
	 Inwards facultative reinsurance premiums are recognised in the financial period in respect of the facultative risks assumed during that 

particular financial period, as in the case of direct policies, following the individual risks’ inception dates.

	 Inwards treaty reinsurance premiums comprise both proportional and non-proportional treaties. In respect of reinsurance premiums 
relating to proportional treaties, it is recognised on the basis of periodic advices received from the cedants given that the periodic 
advices reflect the individual underlying risks being incepted and reinsured at various inceptions dates of these risks and contractually 
accounted for, as such to reinsurers under the terms of the proportional treaties. In respect of reinsurance premiums relating to 
non-proportional treaties which cover losses occurring during a specified treaty period, the inwards treaty reinsurance premiums are 
recognised based on the contractual premiums already established at the start of the treaty period under the non-proportional treaty 
contract.

	 Premium liabilities

	 Premium liabilities refers to the higher of:

(i)	 the aggregate of the unearned premium reserves (“UPR”), or

(ii) 	 the best estimate value of the insurer’s unexpired risk reserves (“URR”) at the valuation date and the provision of risk margin 
for adverse deviation (“PRAD”) calculated at the overall company level. The best estimate value is a prospective estimate of the 
expected future payments arising from future events insured under policies in force as at the valuation date and also includes 
allowance for the insurer’s expenses including overheads and cost of reinsurance, expected to be incurred during the unexpired 
period in administering these policies and settling the relevant claims, and allows for expected future premium refunds.

	 UPR represent the portion of the net premiums of general insurance policies written that relate to the unexpired periods of the policies 
at the end of the financial year. 

	 In determining the UPR at the reporting date, the method that most accurately reflects the actual unearned premium is used, as follows:

(i)	 25% method for marine and aviation cargo, and transit business;

(ii)	 1/24th method for all other classes of general business except for non-annual policies in respect of Malaysian policies, reduced 
by the percentage of accounted gross direct business commission to the corresponding premium; and

(iii)	 time apportionment method for non-annual policies (including long-term inwards treaty business) reduced by the percentage of 
accounted gross direct business commission to the corresponding premium.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.30	 Insurance contracts - General insurance business (continued)

	 Claims and expenses

	 A liability for outstanding claim is recognised in respect of both direct insurance and inward reinsurance. 

	 The amounts of outstanding claims are the best estimate of the expenditure required together with related expenses less recoveries to 
settle the present obligations at the reporting date.

	 Provision is also made for the cost of claims, together with related expenses, incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the reporting date 
based on an actuarial valuation with a PRAD at a 75% confidence level Group-wide.

	 Acquisition costs

	 The gross costs of acquiring and renewing insurance policies, net of income derived from ceding reinsurance premiums, are recognised 
as incurred and properly allocated to the periods in which it is probable they give rise to income.

2.31	 Takaful contracts - General takaful business
		
	 The General takaful business is maintained in accordance with the requirements of the Takaful Act, 1984 and consists of unearned 

contribution reserves and accumulated surpluses attributable to participants which represents the participants’ share in the net surplus 
of the General takaful business, distributable in accordance with the terms and conditions prescribed by the Shariah Committee of the 
subsidiary company engaged in the takaful business. The General takaful underwriting results are determined for each class of general 
takaful business after taking into account retakaful contributions, wakalah fee, unearned contributions reserves and claims incurred. 

		
	 Any deficit in the General takaful fund will be made good via a benevolent loan or Qardhul Hassan.

	 Gross contributions 

	 Gross contributions are recognised in a financial year in respect of risks assumed during that particular financial year. Contributions 
from direct business are recognised during the financial year upon the issuance of takaful certificates. Contributions in respect of risks 
incepted for which takaful certificates have not been raised as of the reporting date are accrued at that date.

	 Retakaful contributions

	 Outward retakaful contributions are recognised in the same accounting period as the original certificate to which the retakaful relates.

	 Unearned contribution reserves

	 Unearned contribution reserves (“UCR”) represent the portion of the net contributions of takaful certificate written that relate to the 
unexpired periods of the certificates at the end of the financial year.

	 In determining the UCR at the reporting date, the method that most accurately reflects the actual unearned contribution is used, as 
follows:

-	 1/365th method for all classes of General takaful business within Malaysia; and

-	 time apportionment method for non-annual certificates and first year annual certificates with a cover period of more than one 
year.

	 with a further reduction for wakalah fee expenses to reflect the wakalah business principle.

	 Provision for outstanding claims

	 A liability for outstanding claim is recognised in respect of both direct takaful and inward retakaful. The amounts of outstanding claims 
are the best estimate of the expenditure required together with related expenses less recoveries to settle the present obligations at the 
reporting date.

	 Provision is also made for the cost of claims, together with related expenses and incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the reporting 
date based on an actuarial valuation by an independent qualified actuary.

	 Commission and agency expenses

	 Commission and agency expenses which are costs directly incurred in securing contributions on takaful certificates, net of commission 
income derived from retakaful in the course of ceding of contributions, are charged to the income statement of the General takaful 
business as part of Wakalah fees payable to the Shareholders’ fund in the financial year in which they are incurred.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.32	 Takaful contracts - Family takaful business
	
	 The Family takaful business is maintained in accordance with the requirements of the Takaful Act, 1984 and includes the amount 

attributable to participants. The amount attributable to participants represents the accumulated surpluses attributable to the participants 
as determined by an annual actuarial valuation of the Family takaful fund and is attributable in accordance with the terms and conditions 
prescribed by the Shariah Committee of the subsidiary company engaged in the takaful business.

	 Any actuarial deficit in the Family takaful fund will be made good via a benevolent loan or Qardhul Hassan.

	 Gross contributions

	 Contribution income represents contribution recognised in the Family takaful and investment-linked fund.

	 Gross contributions from the Family takaful business are recognised as soon as the amount can be reliably measured. First contribution 
is recognised from inception date and subsequent contribution is recognised when it is due. 

	 At the end of the financial year, all the contributions are accounted for to the extent that they can be reliably measured.

	 Gross contributions of the investment-linked business include net creation of units and represent contributions paid by participants as 
payment for a new contract or subsequent payments to increase the amount of those contracts. Net creation of units is recognised on 
a receipt basis.

	 Retakaful contributions

	 Outward retakaful contributions are recognised in the same accounting periods as the original certificates to which the retakaful relates.

	 Provision for outstanding claims

	 Claims and settlement costs that are incurred during the financial year are recognised when a claimable event occurs and/or the insurer 
is notified.

	 Recoveries on retakaful claims are accounted for in the same financial year as the original claims are recognised.

	 Claims and provisions for claims arising on Family takaful certificates including settlement costs, less retakaful recoveries, are accounted 
for using the case basis method and for this purpose the benefits payable under a family takaful policy are recognised as follows:

(i)	 maturity or other certificate benefit payments due on specified dates are treated as claims payable on the due dates;

(ii)	 death, surrender and other benefits without due dates are treated as claims payable, on the date of receipt of intimation of death 
of the assured or occurrence of contingency covered.

2.33	 Insurance/takaful contract liabilities 
	

(i)	 Life actuarial liabilities

	 Life insurance liabilities are recognised when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged.

	 These liabilities are measured by using a prospective actuarial valuation method. The liability is determined as the sum of the 
present value of future guarantee and, in the case of a participating life policy, appropriate level of non-guaranteed benefits, and 
the expected future management and distribution expenses, less the present value of future gross considerations arising from 
the policy discounted at the appropriate risk discount rate. The liability is based on best estimate assumptions and with due 
regard to significant recent experience. An appropriate allowance for provision of risk margin for adverse deviation from expected 
experience is made in the valuation of non-participating life policies, the guaranteed benefit liabilities of participating life policies, 
and non-unit liabilities of investment-linked policies.

	 The liability in respect of policies of participating insurance contracts is taken as the higher of the guaranteed benefit liabilities or 
the total benefit liabilities at the contract level derived as stated above.

	 In the case of a life policy where a part of, or the whole of the premiums are accumulated in a fund, the accumulated amount, as 
declared to the policy owners, is set as the liabilities if the accumulated amount is higher than the figure as calculated using the 
prospective actuarial valuation method.

	
	 Where policies or extensions of a policy are collectively treated as an asset at the fund level under the valuation method adopted, 

the value of such asset is eliminated through zerorisation.

	 In the case of a 1-year life policy or a 1-year extension to a life policy covering contingencies other than death or survival, the 
liability for such life insurance contracts comprises the provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks, as well as for claims 
outstanding, which includes an estimate of the incurred claims that have not yet been reported to the Group.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.33	 Insurance/takaful contract liabilities (continued)
	

(i)	 Life actuarial liabilities (continued)

	 Adjustments to the liabilities at each reporting date are recorded in the income statement. Profits that originate from margins of 
adverse deviations on run-off contracts, are recognised in the income statement over the life of the contract, whereas losses are 
fully recognised in the income statement during the first year of run-off. The liability is derecognised when the contract expires, is 
discharged or is cancelled.

	 The Group also performs a liability adequacy test assessment in accordance with MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.
	
(ii)	 Surpluses in insurance contracts

	 Surpluses in DPF insurance contracts are distributable to policyholders and shareholders in accordance with the relevant 
terms and upon advice and the recommendation of the respective insurance subsidiary company’s appointed actuary. The 
insurance subsidiary companies, however, have the discretion over the amount and timing of these surpluses to policyholders 
and shareholders. Surpluses on non-DPF insurance contracts are attributable wholly to the shareholders, and the amount and 
timing of the distribution to the shareholders is subject to the advice of the  appointed actuaries.

(iii)	 Family takaful contract liabilities

	 Family takaful contract liabilities are recognised when contracts are entered into and contributions are charged.

	 Liability adequacy test is performed at 75th percentile sufficiency level, in line with BNM’s new valuation guidelines on Family 
takaful business and the requirements of MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. Hence, claim rates, surrender assumptions and other 
valuation parameters are determined at a 75th percentile confidence level.

	 For investment-linked products, the non-unit liabilities are valued on a cash flow basis by projecting tabarru’ (risk charges) 
stream on a certificate basis, taking into account expected death and surrenders as decrements. The tabarru’ streams are then 
compared against the corresponding projected mortality and other risk benefits. Future deficits are reserved on a present value 
basis, using the risk free spot rates of return. The higher of the UCR and total present value of deficits is taken as the actuarial 
liability.  The value of Participant Investment Account (“PIA”) is taken as the unit reserves.

	 In the case of yearly renewable term products with no savings elements, the liability for such Family takaful certificate comprises 
the provision for unearned contributions and unexpired risks, as well as for claims outstanding, which includes an estimate of 
the incurred claims that have not yet been reported to the operator. Where the portfolio demonstrates deteriorating experience, 
a deficiency reserve is set up as an additional reserve.

	 For long-term term products with implicit guarantees, the liabilities are measured by using a prospective actuarial valuation 
method. The liability is determined as the sum of present value of future benefits less the present value of future contributions, 
discounted at the appropriate risk discount rate. The liability is then compared against reserves derived from statutory method, 
and the larger of the two reserves is held as the liability. In the event that the surrender value is higher than the reserve in 
aggregate, the excess is held as an additional reserve.

	 Expense reserve in the shareholder’s fund is determined by taking the present value of future deficits, discounted at appropriate 
spot rates. Future deficits are defined as the excess of future expense stream over future income cash flows, in aggregate basis.

	 The liability is derecognised when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.
	

(iv)	 General (non-life) insurance and general takaful contract liabilities

	 General insurance and general takaful contract liabilities are recognised when contracts are entered into and premiums/
contributions are charged.

	 These liabilities comprise outstanding claims provision and premium liabilities/unearned contribution reserves.

	 Outstanding claims provision which includes a margin for adverse deviation is based on the estimated ultimate cost of all 
claims incurred but not settled at the date of the statement of financial position, whether reported or not, together with related 
claim handling costs and reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Delays can be experienced in the 
notification and settlement of certain types of claims, therefore, the ultimate cost of these claims cannot be known with certainty 
at the statement of financial position date. The liability is calculated at the reporting date using a range of standard actuarial claim 
projection techniques on empirical data. The liability is not discounted for the time value of money. No provision for equalisation or 
catastrophe reserves are recognised. The liabilities are derecognised when the contract expires, are discharged or are cancelled.

	 Premium liabilities/unearned contribution reserves represent premiums/contributions received for risks that have not yet expired. 
Generally, the reserve is released over the term of the contract and is recognised as premium/contribution income.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012

(continued)

MAA GROUP BERHAD 
annual report 2012 103

2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.33	 Insurance/takaful contract liabilities (continued)

(iv)	 General (non-life) insurance and general takaful contract liabilities (continued)

	 At each reporting date, the Group reviews its unexpired risks and a liability adequacy test is performed to determine whether 
there is any overall excess of expected claims over unearned premiums. The Group engages independent external actuaries to 
perform the claim liabilities estimation. A number of methods are employed initially in the estimation of ultimate claim reserves 
using the Group’s own historical experience and other relevant market quantitative and qualitative information. The valuation 
methods used include the Incurred Claim Development method, the Paid Claim Development method, the Bornhuetter-Ferguson 
Method, the Mack’s Method and Stanard-Buhlmann’s Method. The final estimates are selected after due consideration was given 
to the strengths and weaknesses of the various methods used and the information available at hand. To mitigate the potential 
effect of uncertainty, a risk margin is also incorporated into the ultimate claim estimates. The provision for adverse deviation is set 
at 75 per cent confidence level Group-wide.

2.34	 Investment contracts	

	 The Group issues investment contracts without fixed terms, i.e. investment-linked plans.

	 Investment contracts without fixed terms are financial liabilities whose fair value is dependent on the fair value of the underlying financial 
and/or non-financial assets and are designated at inception at fair value through profit or loss because it eliminates or significantly 
reduces the measurement or recognition inconsistency (i.e. an accounting mismatch) that would otherwise arise from measuring 
assets and liabilities or recognising the gains or losses or others on different bases. (see accounting policy in Note 2.11 for the financial 
assets backing these liabilities).

	 The Group’s main valuation technique incorporates all factors that market participants would consider. The fair value of financial 
liabilities for investment contracts without fixed terms is determined using the current unit values in which the contractual benefits are 
denominated. These unit values reflect the fair value of the financial assets contained within the Group’s unitised investment-fund linked 
to the financial liability. The fair value of the financial liabilities are obtained by multiplying the number of units attributed to each contract 
holder at the end of the reporting period by the unit value for the same date.

	 The Group re-estimates at each reporting date the expected future cash flows and recalculates the carrying amount of the financial 
liability by calculating the present value of estimated future cashflow using the financial liability’s original effective interest rate. Any 
adjustment is immediately recognised as income or expense in the income statement.

2.35	 Management expenses, commission expenses and wakalah fees

	 Acquisition costs, commissions and management expenses (collectively known as “wakalah fees”) are borne by the Family takaful and 
General takaful funds respectively in the income statement at an agreed percentage of the gross contribution, in accordance with the 
principles of wakalah as approved by the Shariah Committee of the subsidiary company engaged in the takaful business and agreed 
between the participants and the subsidiary company, and are allocated to the shareholders’ fund and recognised as income upon 
issuance of certificates.

2.36	 Qardhul Hassan

	 Qardhul Hassan is stated at cost in the Shareholders’ fund of the takaful subsidiary company. At each date of the statement of 
financial position, the Shareholders’ fund assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists, an analysis is 
performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds 
the recoverable amount, as set out in Note 2.9 to the financial statements.

	 Takaful payable balances reported by the takaful funds are stated at cost.

2.37	 Other revenue recognition 

	 Interest and profit income

	 Interest income for financial assets that are not classified as fair value through profit or loss is recognised using the effective interest 
method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated 
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the investment and continues unwinding the discount as interest 
income.

	 Other interest income including the amount of amortisation of premiums and accretion of discounts is recognised on a time proportion 
basis that takes into account the effective yield of the asset.

		
	 Profit income of the subsidiary company engaged in the takaful business is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into 

account the effective yield of the asset.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

2.37	 Other revenue recognition (continued)

	 Rental income

	 Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis except where default in payment of rent has already occurred and rent due remains 
outstanding for over six months, in which case recognition of rental income is suspended. Subsequent to suspension, income is 
recognised on the receipt basis until all arrears have been paid.

	 Rental income on self-occupied and investment property is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. The aggregate 
cost of incentives provided to lessees is recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight line basis.

		
	 Lease rental income net of payment of lease rental expenses made under operating lease of the same properties is recognised on the 

straight line basis over the lease term. 
	
	 Dividend income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

	 Other fee income

	 Management, investment advisory, security and consultancy service fees are recognised when the services are provided.

	 Realised gains and losses on investments

	 Realised gains and losses recorded in the income statement on investments include gains and losses on financial assets and investment 
properties. Gains and losses on the sale of investments are calculated as the difference between net sale proceeds and the carrying 
value at date of disposal and are recorded on occurrence of the sale transaction.

	 Fees and commission income

	 Insurance contract policyholders are charged for policy administration services, investment management services, surrenders and 
other contract fees. These fees are recognised as revenue over the period in which the related services are performed. If the fees are 
for services to be provided in future periods, then they are deferred and recognised over those future periods.	

2.38	 Current and deferred income tax

	 The tax expense for the financial year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statements, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

	 Current tax

	 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the financial year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted 
at the reporting date in the countries where the Group’s subsidiary and associated companies operate and generate taxable income, 
and any adjustments to tax payable in respects of prior financial years.

	 Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretations and makes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities 
using an expected value (weighted average probability) approach. 

	
	 Deferred tax
	
	 Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts attributed to 

assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is 
realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

	
	 Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, unused tax loses or unused tax credit can be utilised.

	 Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures except where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

	 Deferred and income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on 
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.38	 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

	 Deferred tax (continued)

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be utilised.	

	 Deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in the income statement for the period, except when it arises from a 
transaction which is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

2.39	 Zakat
	
	 Zakat represents tithes payable by the takaful subsidiary company to comply with Shariah principles and as approved by the Shariah 

Committee. Zakat provision is calculated at 2.5% of the profit before zakat and taxation of the takaful subsidiary company for the 
financial year.

2.40 	Earnings per share

	 The Group presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the consolidated 
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
period. No diluted EPS is disclosed in these financial statements as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated by the Directors and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

	 The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below.

(i)	 Valuation of general insurance and general takaful contract liabilities

	 The estimation of claims liabilities or equivalently, the ultimate claims liabilities arising from claims made under an insurance/takaful 
contract, is the Group’s most critical accounting estimate.

	 Provision is made for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the statement of financial position date, whether 
reported or not, together with a risk margin for adverse deviation (“PRAD”). PRAD is an additional component to the liability value 
aimed at ensuring that the value of the insurance liabilities is established at a level such that there is a higher level of confidence 
(or probability) that the provisions will ultimately be sufficient. This provision consists of estimates of both the expected ultimate 
cost of claims reported to the Group at statement of financial position date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred 
but not yet reported to the Group at statement of financial position date. The estimated cost of claims includes both direct and 
indirect expenses that are expected to be incurred in settling those claims.

	 It can take a significant period of time before the ultimate claims costs can be established with certainty and for some type of 
policies, incurred but not reported claims form the majority of the liability at the statement of financial position.  

	 The Group engages independent external actuaries to perform the claims liabilities estimation. A number of methods are 
employed initially in the estimation of ultimate claims reserves using the Group’s own historical experience and other relevant 
market quantitative and qualitative information. The final estimates are selected after due consideration was given to the strengths 
and weaknesses of the various methods used and the information available at hand. To mitigate the potential effect of uncertainty, 
a risk margin is also incorporated into the ultimate claims estimates.

	 Due to the fact that the ultimate claims liabilities are dependent upon the outcome of future events such as the size of court 
awards, the attitudes of claimants towards settlement of their claims, and social and economic inflation, there is an inherent 
uncertainty in any estimate of ultimate claims liabilities. As such, there is a limitation to the accuracy of those estimates. In fact, it 
is certain that actual future losses and loss adjustment expenses will not develop exactly as projected and may vary significantly 
from the projections. 
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

(ii)	 Actuarial liabilities for Family takaful fund
	
	 For Family takaful plans, the actuarial liabilities are determined by the Appointed Actuary and are set up based on the type of 

products as follows:

a)	 Investment-Linked Personal Risk Investment Account (“PRIA Investment-Linked”)

	 This is the risk fund that involves investment-linked certificates including unit deducting riders. The Tabarru’ rates are 
dripped from Participant Investment Account (“PIA”) to this risk fund on a monthly basis. The UCR is calculated by taking 
half of the total monthly drip at the valuation date. The liabilities in this fund are calculated as the larger of UCR and total 
present value of future deficits. Future deficits are reserved on a present value basis using the risk free spot rates of return 
and claims assumptions are determined at a 75% sufficiency level.

	 In addition to this liability, IBNR reserve is also included for Critical Illness and Medical unit deducting riders. From the 
experience study, 2 months average claims were assumed in calculating IBNR.

	 A provision for certificates, currently under waiver of contributions, estimated at the present value of future gross 
contributions has also been made.

b)	 Ordinary Personal Risk Investment Account (“PRIA Ordinary Life”)

	 This fund consists of four products, Cancer Care, SmartMedic, Term 80 and Takafulife Series.

	 Cancer Care is a guaranteed renewable medical takaful product with an additional death benefit. The contribution reserve 
is calculated at 100% of unearned gross cancer tabarru’ using 1/24th method. For the death benefit, the valuation reserve 
is calculated using M9903 mortality table discounted at spot rates. In addition, 2 months of average claims are set aside 
for IBNR.

	 SmartMedic is an individual Hospital and Surgical product with guaranteed renewability up to age 80. It also provides an 
additional benefit for funeral expense, which is payable upon death due to all causes. The contribution reserve is calculated 
at 100% of unearned gross medical tabarru’. Reserve for funeral expense benefit is calculated at 100% of unearned gross 
funeral expense tabarru’ using 1/24th method. An additional provision for 2 months of average claims are set aside as IBNR.  
An additional of 60% of contribution reserve is set aside as deficiency reserve, to reflect the portfolio experience. Reserves 
for SmartMedic are adjusted to reflect 65% retained portion after retakaful arrangement.

	 Term 80 and Takafulife Series are ordinary whole life and term plan respectively. The Tabarru’ rates are dripped from the 
Participant Investment Account (“PIA”) to the risk fund on a monthly basis. The UCR is calculated by taking half of the 
monthly drip at the valuation date. The liabilities in this fund are calculated as the larger of UCR and total present value of 
future deficits.  Future deficits were reserved on a present value basis using the risk free spot rates of return and claims 
assumptions were determined at a 75% sufficiency level. In addition, 4 months of average claims are set aside for IBNR.

c)	 Group Fund Risk Investment Account (“GFRIA”)

	 Currently there are 3 products in this fund, which are Group Term Takaful, Comprehensive Group Takaful Scheme and 
Group Mortgage Protection Plan.

	
	 The net liability for Group Term Takaful is calculated on Unexpired Risk Reserve (“URR”) basis using 1/24th method, with the 

risk rates assumed to be 130% of LIAM risk rates.

	 For Comprehensive Group Takaful Scheme, the reserve is calculated at 100% of unearned contribution using 1/24th 
method.

	 The reserving method used for Group Mortgage Protection Plan is based on GPV. The present value of future benefits is 
discounted at spot rates using M9903 mortality table on the retained portion of the risk.

	 At subsequent reporting dates, these estimates will be reassessed for adequacy and reasonableness and changes will be made 
accordingly.
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3	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

(iii)	 Estimation of gain on disposal of subsidiary companies
	
	 In the previous financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Group and Company recognised a gain on disposal of RM83.2 million 

and RM236.6 million respectively as disclosed in Note 41(a) to the financial statements from sale of the Disposed Subsidiaries as 
disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial statements. The gain on disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries was estimated after taking 
into consideration the following:

•	 Total cash consideration of RM344.0 million;
•	 The exclusion of an amount of RM69.7 million held back to address certain issues relating to the  satisfaction and fulfillment 

of certain condition precedents in the SPA with Zurich; and
•	 An upward adjustment of RM86.0 million for the Group and RM85.1 million for the Company to the sale consideration 

of RM344.0 million, being the difference between the aggregate net asset value of the Disposed Subsidiaries as at 30 
September 2010 and the final aggregate net asset value as at 30 September 2011, prepared by Zurich as provided under 
the terms of the SPA.

	 During the current financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Group and Company recognised an additional gain of 
RM56.0 million from the sale of the Disposed Subsidiaries, arising from receipt of a held back sum upon satisfaction of certain 
conditions precedent in the SPA in respect of Prima Avenue Klang property and Mithril’s RCSLS totalling RM50.7 million, and an 
overstatement of RM5.3 million in the Life fund liabilities of MAA in the draft completion accounts as confirmed by Zurich.

	 As disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial statements, the Company has submitted notifications of disputes to Zurich to disagree 
certain downward adjustments made to the draft completion accounts and the statement of aggregate net assets value of the 
Disposed Subsidiaries. Should there be positive adjustments to the draft completion accounts and statement of aggregate net 
assets of the Disposed Subsidiaries arising from the submitted dispute notifications, the final gain on disposal of the Disposal 
Subsidiaries may be higher than the amounts presently recognised.

(b)	 Critical judgment in applying the entity’s accounting policies

	 In determining and applying accounting policies, judgment is often required in respect of items where the choice of specific policy could 
materially affect the reported results and financial position of the Group and Company. 

	 The Directors are of their view that currently there are no accounting policies which require significant judgment to be exercised.
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4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	

	 GROUP
	 Freehold	 Freehold		  Furniture,			   Assets	
	 and	 and	 Plant	 fittings,			   under
	 leasehold	 leasehold	 and	 and	 Motor	 Reno-	 con-
	  land	 buildings	 machinery	 equipment	 vehicles	 vation	 struction	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Cost

	 At January 2010	 69,661	 274,433	 183	 73,806	 16,324	 54,463	 7,456	 496,326

	 Additions	 14,543	 49,111	 6	 3,657	 1,842	 2,915	 967	 73,041
	 Transferred from assets classified as
	    held for sale	 -	 -	 -	 7,722	 2,533	 3,604	 -	 13,859 

Transferred to assets classified as
	    held for sale (Note 16(A), (B))	 (62,812)	 (251,589)	 -	 (72,688)	 (4,671)	 (56,541)	 (5,625)	 (453,926) 

Transferred to investment
	    properties (Note 5)	 (6,000)	 (10,500)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (16,500) 

Disposals	 (15,392)	 (61,455)	 -	 (224)	 (3,598)	 (728)	 -	 (81,397) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 -	 (661)	 -	 -	 (2,798)	 (3,459) 
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (66)	 -	 -	 (66) 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011	 -	 -	 189	 11,612	 12,364	 3,713	 -	 27,878 

	 Additions	 -	 -	 4	 4,786	 1,330	 790	 -	 6,910 
Arising from the disposed subsidiary

	    companies	 -	 -	 -	 (2,211)	 (1,432)	 (354)	 -	 (3,997) 
Disposals	 -	 -	 (170)	 (457)	 (2,083)	 (586)	 -	 (3,296) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 (23)	 (53)	 (299)	 (10)	 -	 (385) 
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 -	 18	 -	 -	 18 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012	 -	 -	 -	 13,677	 9,898	 3,553	 -	 27,128 

	 Additions	 -	 -	 -	 11,683	 1,282	 4,444	 -	 17,409 
Arising from the acquired subsidiary

	    companies	 2,187	 -	 -	 10,494	 135	 217	 -	 13,033 
Arising from the disposed subsidiary

	    companies	 -	 -	 -	 (3,544)	 (5,593)	 (1,371)	 -	 (10,508) 
Revaluation surplus	 213	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 213 
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 (68)	 (402)	 -	 -	 (470) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 -	 (1,688)	 -	 (1,272)	 -	 (2,960) 
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (13)	 -	 -	 (13) 

	 At 31 December 2012	 2,400	 -	 -	 30,554	 5,307	 5,571	 -	 43,832 
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4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)	

	 GROUP
	 Freehold	 Freehold		  Furniture,			   Assets	
	 and	 and	 Plant	 fittings,			   under
	 leasehold	 leasehold	 and	 and	 Motor	 Reno-	 con-
	  land	 buildings	 machinery	 equipment	 vehicles	 vation	 struction	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Accumulated depreciation

	 At 1 January 2010	 660	 26,675	 57	 64,779	 11,381	 42,291	 -	 145,843

	 Charge for the financial year	 35	 4,432	 88	 3,953	 1,214	 3,483	 -	 13,205 
Transferred from assets classified as

	    held for sale 	 -	 -	 -	 5,699	 1,398	 2,803	 -	 9,900 
Transferred to assets classified as

	    held for sale (Note 16(A), (B))	 (695)	 (24,548)	 -	 (64,743)	 (3,356)	 (45,923)	 -	 (139,265) 
Disposals	 -	 (6,559)	 -	 (153)	 (2,578)	 (340)	 -	 (9,630) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 -	 (653)	 -	 -	 -	 (653) 
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (29)	 -	 -	 (29) 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011	 -	 -	 145	 8,882	 8,030	 2,314	 -	 19,371 

	 Charge for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 965	 878	 371	 -	 2,214 
Arising from the disposed subsidiary

	    companies	 -	 -	 -	 (1,766)	 (993)	 (177)	 -	 (2,936) 
Disposals	 -	 -	 (130)	 (267)	 (1,721)	 (359)	 -	 (2,477) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 (15)	 (44)	 (67)	 (6)	 -	 (132) 
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 (16)	 (1)	 (7)	 -	 (24) 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012	 -	 -	 -	 7,754	 6,126	 2,136	 -	 16,016 

	 Charge for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 2,289	 750	 615	 -	 3,654 
Arising from the acquired subsidiary

	    companies	 -	 -	 -	 10,299	 135	 209	 -	 10,643 
Arising from the disposed subsidiary

	    companies	 -	 -	 -	 (3,116)	 (3,570)	 (1,190)	 -	 (7,876) 
Disposals	 -	 -	 -	 (10)	 (277)	 -	 -	 (287) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 -	 (1,487)	 -	 (847)	 -	 (2,334) 
Currency translation differences	 -	 -	 -	 47	 18	 -	 -	 65 

	 At 31 December 2012	 -	 -	 -	 15,776	 3,182	 923	 -	 19,881 
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4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)	

	 GROUP
	 Freehold	 Freehold		  Furniture,			   Assets	
	 and	 and	 Plant	 fittings,			   under
	 leasehold	 leasehold	 and	 and	 Motor	 Reno-	 con-
	  land	 buildings	 machinery	 equipment	 vehicles	 vation	 struction	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Accumulated impairment loss

	 At 1 January 2010	 138	 34,836	 -	 65	 55	 -	 2,798	 37,892 

	 Allowance for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,690	 1,690 
Transferred to assets classified as

	    held for sale (Note 16(A), (B))	 (138)	 (30,105)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (1,690)	 (31,933) 
Disposals	 -	 (4,731)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (4,731) 
Write-off	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (2,798)	 (2,798) 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011	 -	 -	 -	 65	 55	 -	 -	 120 

	 Allowance for the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 227	 -	 447	 -	 674	
Disposals	 -	 -	 -			   (55)	 -	 (55) 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012	 -	 -	 -	 292	 -	 447	 -	 739 

	 Write-back during the financial year	 -	 -	 -	 (227)	 -	 (447)	 -	 (674) 

	 At 31 December 2012	 -	 -	 -	 65	 -	 -	 -	 65 

	 Net book value

	 At 1 January 2011	 -	 -	 44	 2,665	 4,279	 1,399	 -	 8,387 
At 31 December 2011	 -	 -	 -	 5,631	 3,772	 970	 -	 10,373 
At 31 December 2012	 2,400	 -	 -	 14,713	 2,125	 4,648	 -	 23,886 

	 As at 31 December 2012, the net book value of assets acquired under hire purchase agreements was Nil (31.12.2011: RM747,000, 
1.1.2011: RM1,345,000). 
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4	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
	
	 COMPANY

		  Furniture,
		  fittings and	 Motor
		  equipment	 vehicles	 Renovation	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Cost

	 At 1 January 2010		  916	 2,627	 189	 3,732 

	 Additions		  20	 4	 -	 24 
Disposals		  (6)	 (150)	 -	 (156) 
Write-off		  (20)	 -	 -	 (20) 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011		  910	 2,481	 189	 3,580 

	 Additions		  21	 23	 -	 44 
Disposals		  (21)	 (298)	 (12)	 (331) 
Write-off		  (39)	 -	 -	 (39) 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012		  871	 2,206	 177	 3,254 

	 Additions		  868	 54	 770	 1,692 
Disposals		  -	 (197)	 -	 (197) 
Write-off		  (543)	 -	 (177)	 (720) 

	 At 31 December 2012		  1,196	 2,063	 770	 4,029 

	 Accumulated depreciation

	 At 1 January 2010		  595	 835	 69	 1,499 

	 Charge for the financial year		  83	 246	 19	 348 
Disposals		  (5)	 (30)	 -	 (35) 
Write-off		  (16)	 -	 -	 (16) 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011		  657	 1,051	 88	 1,796 

	 Charge for the financial year		  75	 224	 18	 317 
Disposals		  (18)	 (146)	 (11)	 (175) 
Write-off		  (36)	 -	 -	 (36) 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012		  678	 1,129	 95	 1,902 

	 Charge for the financial year		  127	 206	 77	 410 
Disposals		  -	 (58)	 -	 (58) 
Write-off		  (446)	 -	 (95)	 (541) 

	 At 31 December 2012		  359	 1,277	 77	 1,713 

	 Accumulated impairment loss

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011		  -	 -	 -	 - 

	 Allowance for the financial year		  94	 -	 82	 176 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012		  94	 -	 82	 176 

	 Write-back during the financial year 		  (94)	 -	 (82)	 (176) 

	 At 31 December 2012		  -	 -	 -	 - 

	 Net book value
 
At 1 January 2011		  253	 1,430	 101	 1,784 
At 31 December 2011		  99	 1,077	 -	 1,176 
At 31 December 2012		  837	 786	 693	 2,316 

	 As at 31 December 2012, the net book value of assets acquired under hire purchase agreements was Nil (31.12.2011: Nil, 1.1.2011: 
RM634,000).
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5	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

					     GROUP

	 		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 
 
At 1 January		  11,175	 11,601	 570,165 

	 Additions from acquisition		  -	 -	 2,935 
Additions from subsequent expenditure		  -	 -	 2,158 
Transferred from property, plant and equipment (Note 4)		  -	 -	 16,500 
Disposals		  -	 (425)	 (45,289) 
Fair value gain/(loss) – net (Note 30)		  1,261	 -	 (22,043) 
Currency translation differences		  (804)	 (1)	 (538) 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale (Note 16(A))		  -	 -	 (512,287) 

	 At 31 December		  11,632	 11,175	 11,601 

	 Comprising: 
   Leasehold land and buildings		  11,632	 11,175	 11,601 

	
	 Investment properties are stated at fair value, which have been determined based on valuations performed by external independent valuers 

at the statement of financial position date. Valuations are performed annually based on the properties’ fair market values using the direct sale 
comparison and income approach. The fair value changes (gains/losses) are recorded in the income statement.

	
	
6	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

	 GROUP
		  Management	 Computer
		  rights	 software	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
	
Cost			 

	 At 1 January 2010		  7,000	 17,908	 24,908 

	 Additions		  -	 3,397	 3,397 
Transferred from assets classified as held for sale		  -	 5,017	 5,017 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale (Note 16(A))		  -	 (18,645)	 (18,645) 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011		  7,000	 7,677	 14,677 
 
Additions		  -	 2,361	 2,361 
Arising from the disposed subsidiary company		  -	 (320)	 (320) 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012		  7,000	 9,718	 16,718 

	 Additions		  -	 1,395	 1,395 
Disposals		  -	 (6)	 (6) 
 
At 31 December 2012		  7,000	 11,107	 18,107 
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6	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

	 GROUP
		  Management	 Computer
		  rights	 software	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Accumulated amortisation
 
At 1 January 2010		  2,199	 10,190	 12,389 

	 Charge for the financial year		  347	 4,225	 4,572 
Transferred from assets classified as held for sale		  -	 3,495	 3,495 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale (Note 16(A))		  -	 (14,050)	 (14,050) 
 
At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011		  2,546	 3,860	 6,406 
 
Charge for the financial year		  347	 1,568	 1,915 
Arising from the disposed subsidiary company		  -	 (64)	 (64) 
 
At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012		  2,893	 5,364	 8,257 
 
Charge for the financial year		  347	 1,649	 1,996 
Disposals		  -	 (5)	 (5) 

	 At 31 December 2012		  3,240	 7,008	 10,248 
 
Net carrying amount
 
At 1 January 2011		  4,454	 3,817	 8,271 
At 31 December 2011		  4,107	 4,354	 8,461 
At 31 December 2012		  3,760	 4,099	 7,859 

		
	 COMPANY
 

			   Computer Software 

			   31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	 Cost

	 At 1 January 		  438	 231	 231 

	 Additions		  70	 207	 - 
Disposals		  (6)	 -	 - 

	 At 31 December		  502	 438	 231 

	 Accumulated amortisation

	 At 1 January		  262	 174	 128 

	 Charge for the financial year		  64	 88	 46 
Disposals		  (5)	 -	 - 

	 At 31 December		  321	 262	 174 

	 Net carrying amount		  181	 176	 57

	
	 The intangible assets of the Group consist of computer software and management rights.
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6	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

	 Computer software

	 Computer software consists mainly of development costs and costs that are directly associated with identifiable software systems controlled 
by the Group, that do not form the integral part of the hardware, and that will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year.

	 Management rights

	 Management rights represent the acquired rights to manage unit trust funds (“the Rights”). Pursuant to the Sale of Business Agreement 
dated 5 August 2003 between MAAKL Mutual Bhd (“MAAKL”), a then 70% owned subsidiary company of MAA Corporation Sdn Bhd which 
is in turn a wholly owned subsidiary company of the Company, and MBf Unit Trust Management Berhad (“MUTMB”), MAAKL acquired the 
Rights from MUTMB to manage four unit trust funds (“the Funds”) managed by MUTMB. The Funds are MAAKL Equity Index Fund, MAAKL 
Value Fund, MAAKL Mutual Balanced Fund and MAAKL Syariah Index Fund. The effective date of the transfer of the management of the 
Funds was on 1 December 2003.

	 The Rights are amortised over a straight line basis, over a period of 20 years (31.12.2011: 20 years, 1.1.2011: 20 years), the period over 
which the Group expects to recognise the related revenue. The remaining expected unamortised period at the date of the statement of 
financial position is 11 (31.12.2011: 12, 1.1.2011: 13) years.

7	 INVESTMENTS

				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	 Malaysian Government Guaranteed
	    Financing	 54,243	 20,872	 10,631	 -	 -	 -

Corporate debt securities	 4,432	 14,007	 46,495	 -	 -	 - 
Islamic debt securities	 177,017	 173,724	 164,633	 -	 -	 - 
Equity securities	 173,395	 141,915	 128,692	 1,664	 -	 4,658 
Unit trusts	 9,048	 13,660	 20,520	 -	 -	 - 
Investment-linked units	 -	 8,246	 7,717	 -	 -	 - 
Loans	 9,199	 10,407	 30,464	 96	 139	 192 
Fixed and call deposits with licensed banks	 46,287	 44,164	 8,009	 -	 1,029	 5,016 

		  473,621	 426,995	 417,161	 1,760	 1,168	 9,866 

	 The Group’s and Company’s investments are summarised by categories as follows: 

				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	 Financial assets at fair value through
	    profit or loss	 201,800	 171,333	 154,353	 -	 -	 - 

Available-for-sale financial assets	 216,335	 201,091	 224,335	 1,664	 -	 4,658 
Loans and receivables (Note 8)	 55,486	 54,571	 38,473	 96	 1,168	 5,208

	
		  473,621	 426,995	 417,161	 1,760	 1,168	 9,866 

	 The following investments mature after 12 months:

				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	 Financial assets at fair value through
	    profit or loss	 3,928	 3,798	 3,738	 -	 -	 - 

Available-for-sale financial assets	 188,533	 173,560	 188,279	 -	 -	 - 
Loans and receivables (Note 8)	 43,259	 43,928	 18,020	 59	 88	 139 

		  235,720	 221,286	 210,037	 59	 88	 139
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7	 INVESTMENTS  (CONTINUED)

 
			   GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

(a)	 Financial assets at fair 
	    value through profit or loss

 
Held-for-trading: 

	 Quoted: 
   Equity securities	 -	 8,917	 27,588	 -	 -	 - 
   Unit trusts	 1,965	 2,283	 4,737	 -	 -	 - 
   Investment-linked units	 -	 8,246	 5,240	 -	 -	 - 
   Corporate debt securities	 -	 757	 1,055	 -	 -	 - 

	 Unquoted: 
   Investment-linked units	 -	 -	 2,477	 -	 -	 - 

		  1,965	 20,203	 41,097	 -	 -	 - 

	 Designated at fair value through
	    profit or loss: 

	 Quoted: 
   Equity securities	 147,672	 106,821	 71,719	 -	 -	 - 
   Corporate debt securities	 3,928	 3,798	 3,759	 -	 -	 - 

	 Unquoted: 
   Unit trusts	 7,083	 11,377	 15,783	 -	 -	 - 

	 Unquoted: 
   Islamic debt securities	 41,152	 29,134	 21,995	 -	 -	 - 

		  199,835	 151,130	 113,256	 -	 -	 - 

	
		  201,800	 171,333	 154,353	 -	 -	 - 

(b)	 Available-for-sale  financial assets

	 Quoted: 
   Equity securities	 1,684	 3,266	 7,337	 1,664	 -	 4,658 
   Corporate debt securities	 -	 6,831	 40,321	 -	 -	 - 

	 Unquoted: 
   Equity securities	 24,039	 22,911	 22,048	 -	 -	 - 
   Corporate debt securities	 504	 2,621	 1,360	 -	 -	 - 

	 Unquoted: 
   Islamic debt securities	 135,865	 144,590	 142,638	 -	 -	 - 

	 Malaysian Government
	    Guaranteed Financing	 54,243	 20,872	 10,631	 -	 -	 - 

		  216,335	 201,091	 224,335	 1,664	 -	 4,658 
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7	 INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
	
	 Carrying value of financial assets 

	 The movements in the Group and Company’s financial assets (excluding loans and receivables) are summarised in the table below by 
measurement category:

	 GROUP

			   Fair value 			 
			   through	 Available-	
			   profit or loss	     for-sale	         Total	
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 At 1 January 2010			   992,225	 3,529,988	 4,522,213

	 Purchases			   678,287	 999,251	 1,677,538 
Disposals			   (643,846)	 (1,009,608)	 (1,653,454) 
Shares reclassified from associated company			   -	 3,660	 3,660 
Transferred from non-current assets held for sale			   28,692	 315,077	 343,769 
Dividend income capitalised			   49	 -	 49 
Fair value gain/(loss) recorded in: 
   Income statement 			   200,362	 -	 200,362 
   Other comprehensive income			   -	 14,957	 14,957 
   Insurance/takaful contract liabilities (Note 17)				    128,166	 128,166 
Movement in impairment allowance 			   -	 (3,803)	 (3,803) 
Amortisation/interest adjustments			   277	 40,614	 40,891 
Currency translation differences			   (987)	 (3,054)	 (4,041) 
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale (Note 16(A))			   (1,100,706)	 (3,790,913)	 (4,891,619) 
 
At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011			   154,353	 224,335	 378,688

	 Purchases			   212,523	 101,343	 313,866 
Disposals			   (191,786)	 (128,887)	 (320,673) 
Dividend income capitalised			   52	 -	 52 
Fair value gain/(loss) recorded in: 
   Income statement (Note 30)			   (2,342)	 -	 (2,342) 
   Other comprehensive income			   -	 416	 416 
   Insurance/takaful contract liabilities (Note 17)			   -	 4,446	 4,446 
Movement in impairment allowance (Note 30)			   -	 (3,660)	 (3,660) 
Amortisation/interest adjustments			   -	 869	 869 
Currency translation differences			   (1,467)	 2,229	 762 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012			   171,333	 201,091	 372,424 

	 Purchases			   102,466	 83,189	 185,655 
Disposals			   (76,406)	 (67,327)	 (143,733) 
Fair value gain/(loss) recorded in: 
   Income statement (Note 30)			   4,408	 -	 4,408 
   Other comprehensive income			   -	 350	 350 
   Insurance/takaful contract liabilities (Note 17)			   -	 (1,501)	 (1,501) 
Movement in impairment allowance (Note 30)			   -	 857	 857 
Amortisation/interest adjustments			   -	 105	 105 
Arising from disposed subsidiary company			   (2)	 -	 (2) 
Currency translation differences			   1	 (429)	 (428) 

	 At 31 December 2012			   201,800	 216,335	 418,135 
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7	 INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
	
	 Carrying value of financial assets (continued)

	 The movements in the Group and Company’s financial assets (excluding loans and receivables) are summarised in the table below by 
measurement category: 

	 COMPANY

				    Available-
				        for-sale	            Total	
				    RM’000	 RM’000

	 At 1 January 2010				    -	 - 

	 Shares reclassified from associated company				    3,660	 3,660 
Fair value loss recorded in other comprehensive income				    998	 998 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011				    4,658	 4,658 

	 Fair value loss recorded in other comprehensive income 				    (998)	 (998) 
Movement in impairment allowance (Note 30)				    (3,660)	 (3,660) 

	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012				    -	 - 

	 Fair value gain recorded in other comprehensive income				    1,664	 1,664 

	 At 31 December 2012				    1,664	 1,664 

	 Fair values of investments

	 The following tables show investments recorded at fair values analysed by the different basis of fair values:

	 GROUP
 

 
			   Fair value 			 
			   through	 Available-	
			   profit or loss	     for-sale	         Total	
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	
	 31 December 2012

	 Quoted market price (Level 1)			   165,330	 1,684	 167,014 
Valuation techniques – market observable inputs (Level 2)			   36,470	 191,313	 227,783 
Valuation techniques – non-market observable inputs (Level 3)			   -	 23,338	 23,338

				    201,800	 216,335	 418,135 

	 31 December 2011

	 Quoted market price (Level 1)			   130,569	 12,214	 142,783 
Valuation techniques – market observable inputs (Level 2)			   40,764	 165,967	 206,731 
Valuation techniques – non-market observable inputs (Level 3)			   -	 22,910	 22,910 

				    171,333	 201,091	 372,424 

	 1 January 2011

	 Quoted market price (Level 1)			   113,834	 48,529	 162,363 
Valuation techniques – market observable inputs (Level 2)			   40,519	 153,759	 194,278 
Valuation techniques – non-market observable inputs (Level 3)			   -	 22,047	 22,047 

				    154,353	 224,335	 378,688 
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7	 INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Fair values of investments (continued)

	 The following tables show investments recorded at fair values analysed by the different basis of fair values: (continued)

	 COMPANY

				    Available-
				        for-sale	            Total	
				    RM’000	 RM’000

 
Quoted market price (Level 1)

	 31 December 2012				    1,664	 1,664

	 31 December 2011				    -	 -
	
	 1 January 2011				    4,658	 4,658 

	 Included in the quoted market price category are financial instruments that are measured in whole or in part by reference to published quotes 
in an active market.  A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from 
an exchange, secondary market via dealer and broker, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regular 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. These are considered as Level 1 investments.

	 Financial instruments measured using a valuation technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable current 
market transactions are instruments for which pricing is obtained via pricing services but where prices have not been determined in an 
active market, fair values are based on broker quotes and discounted cash flow and the fair values of investments in structured products are 
obtained via investment bankers and/or fund managers are considered as Level 2 investments.

	 Non-market observable inputs means that fair values are determined in whole or in part using a valuation technique based on assumptions 
that are neither supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are they based on available 
market data. The main asset class in this category is unquoted equity securities. Valuation techniques are used to the extent that observable 
inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the instrument at the measurement 
date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same, that is, there is an exit price from the perspective of the Group. 
Therefore, unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing 
the instrument (including assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed based on the best information available, which might include 
the Group’s own data. These are considered as Level 3 investments.
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8	 LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
	
				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	 Loans arising from:
   Policy loans	 -	 709	 710	 -	 -	 - 
   Mortgage loans	 96	 139	 187	 96	 139	 187 
   Secured loans	 4,406	 4,101	 1,878	 -	 -	 - 
   Unsecured loans	 3,371	 365	 640	 -	 -	 5 

		  7,873	 5,314	 3,415	 96	 139	 192 
 
Loans from leasing, hire purchase

	    and others	 56,791	 59,819	 92,249	 -	 -	 - 
Less: Allowance for impairment   	 (55,465)	 (54,726)	 (65,200)	 -	 -	 - 

		  1,326	 5,093	 27,049	 -	 -	 - 
 
Fixed and call deposits with licensed banks	 46,287	 44,164	 8,009	 -	 1,029	 5,016 

		  55,486	 54,571	 38,473	 96	 1,168	 5,208 
 

	 The fair values of the loans and receivables have been established by comparing current market interest rates for similar financial instruments 
to the rates offered when the loans and receivables were first recognised together with appropriate market credit adjustments.

	 The maturity structure of the loans and receivables is as follows:

 
			   GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 
 
Receivables within 12 months:
  Net loans	 8,846	 9,008	 12,444	 37	 51	 53 
  Fixed and call deposits with

	     licensed banks	 3,381	 1,635	 8,009	 -	 1,029	 5,016 

		  12,227	 10,643	 20,453	 37	 1,080	 5,069 

	 Receivables after 12 months:
   Net loans	 353	 1,399	 18,020	 59	 88	 139 
   Fixed and call deposits with

	       licensed banks	 42,906	 42,529	 -	 -	 -	 - 
 
	 43,259	 43,928	 18,020	 59	 88	 139 

		  55,486	 54,571	 38,473	 96	 1,168	 5,208 

	 The total loans portfolio net of allowance for impairment from leasing, hire purchase and others as at 31 December 2012 included non-
performing loans (“NPL”) amounting to approximately RM1,110,000 (31.12.2011: RM4,783,000, 1.1.2011: RM25,589,000). The borrowers 
of these NPL have committed repayments on agreed fixed repayment schedules and certain NPL are collateralised by properties and/or 
shares. The Group has assessed the value of the collaterals and/or committed cashflow stream based on the methods prescribed in Note 
2.14 to the financial statements and made additional allowance for impairment where appropriate. 

		
	 The fair values of the collaterals held as at the statement of financial position date was RM4,367,000 (31.12.2011: RM24,843,000, 1.1.2011: 

RM28,201,000).
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9	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
					   

			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Investment in subsidiary companies, at cost	 255,428	 255,428	 255,428
Less: Accumulated impairment loss	 (128,456)	 (126,106)	 - 

		  126,972	 129,322	 255,428 

	 Amounts due from subsidiary companies	 18,696	 24,456	 28,425 
Less: Accumulated impairment loss	 (18,696)	 (19,051)	 - 

		  -	 5,405	 28,425 

		  126,972	 134,727	 283,853 

	 Amounts due from subsidiary companies of RM18,696,000 (31.12.2011: RM24,456,000, 1.1.2011: RM28,425,000) are akin to investments 
in subsidiary companies.

	 During the financial year, the Company recognised an additional impairment loss of RM1,995,000 (net of write-back of impairment loss of 
RM355,000) (31.12.2011: RM145,157,000, 1.1.2011: Nil). This impairment loss is included in Note 35 “Other Operating Income/(Expenses) 
- Net” to the financial statements, determined based on the Company’s assessment of the fair value less cost to sell of those subsidiary 
companies under the Group’s business rationalisation plans and the unexpected adverse cashflows from the subsidiary company engaged in 
investment holding, business of charge cards and other related cards and services. The fair value less cost to sell of those effected subsidiary 
companies was based on the proposed offer price and/or comparable market values of similar entities and operations.

	 Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows:

			 
			   Group’s effective interest

	 	 Country of	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	
	 Name of company	 incorporation	 %	 %	 Principal activities

	 MAA Corporation Sdn Bhd (“MAA Corp”)	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Investment holding and property 	
				       management

	 MAA Takaful Berhad	 Malaysia	 75	 75	 General takaful and Family takaful 	
				       businesses

 
Subsidiary companies of MAA Corp

	
	 MAA-Medicare Sdn Bhd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Operation of charitable dialysis 	

				       centres
 

MAA Credit Berhad	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Hire purchase, leasing and other 	
				       credit activities

 
MAA International Assurance Ltd	 Labuan, Malaysia	 100	 100	 Offshore insurance and reinsurance

					        business
 

* MAAKL Mutual Bhd (“MAAKL”)	 Malaysia	 55	 55	 Unit trust funds management
 

MAA Holdings (BVI) Ltd	 British Virgin Islands	 100	 100	 Providing insurance technical and 	
				       financial consultancy services
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9	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

	 Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows: (continued)

			   Group’s effective interest

	 	 Country of	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	
	 Name of company	 incorporation	 %	 %	 Principal activities

	 Subsidiary companies of MAA Corp
	 (continued)

	 MAA Corporate Advisory Sdn Bhd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Providing corporate advisory and 	
				       consultancy services

 
Wira Security Services Sdn Bhd (1)	 Malaysia	 -	 100	 Providing security services and 	
				       trading in security equipment 

	 # Meridian Asset Management Holdings
	   Sdn Bhd (2)	 Malaysia	 -	 51	 Investment holding

 
MAA International Corporation Ltd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Investment holding

 
Chelsea Parking Services Sdn Bhd (3)	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Operating, maintaining and managing 	
				       car parks

	 MAA International Investments Ltd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Investment holding
 

Menang Bernas Sdn Bhd (4)	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Restaurant operator
 

MAA Cards Sdn Bhd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Business of charge cards and other 	
				       related cards and services

 
Subsidiary companies of MAA

	    Corporate Advisory Sdn Bhd
 

** MAACA Labuan Ltd (“MAACAL”)	 Labuan, Malaysia	 51	 51	 Providing offshore corporate advisory 	
				       and consultancy services

 
 
MAACA Corporate Services Sdn Bhd	 Malaysia	 100	 100	 Providing offshore corporate advisory 	
				       and consultancy services

 
 
Subsidiary companies of Meridian

	    Asset Management Holdings Sdn Bhd

	 # Meridian Asset Management Sdn Bhd (2)	 Malaysia	 -	 51	 Fund management and investment 	
				       and advisory services

 
# Meridian Asset Management (Asia) Ltd (2)	 Malaysia	 -	 51	 Fund management and investment 	
				       and advisory services 
 
Subsidiary companies of MAA

	    International Assurance Ltd

	 # P.T. MAA Life Assurance (1)	 Indonesia	 -	 99.5	 Life insurance business

	 # P.T. MAA General Assurance	 Indonesia	 83	 83	 General insurance business
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9	 SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

	 Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows: (continued)

			   Group’s effective interest

	 	 Country of	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	
	 Name of company	 incorporation	 %	 %	 Principal activities

	 Subsidiary companies of
	    MAA International Investments Ltd

	 # MAA Mutualife Philippines, Inc	 Philippines	 100	 100	 Unit trust funds management
 

# Columbus Capital Singapore Pte Ltd	 Singapore	 100	 100	 Investment holding

	 Subsidiary companies of
	    MAA International Corporation Ltd

	 # MAA Corporate & Compliance Phils. Inc.	 Philippines	 100	 100	 Investment holding and providing 	
				       management services 
 
Subsidiary companies of MAA Credit Berhad

	 # Pusat Tuisyen Kasturi Sdn Bhd (5)	 Malaysia	 70	 -	 Provision of education services and 	
				       operations education tuition centres

 
# Keris Murni Sdn Bhd (5)	 Malaysia	 70	 -	 Provision of education services and 	
				       operations education tuition centres

 
# Nilam Timur Sdn Bhd (5)	 Malaysia	 100	 -	 Dormant

*	 MAAKL is 55% owned by the Company, 20% owned by a company controlled by a Director of the Company and the balance 25% owned 
by certain Directors of MAAKL.

** 	 MAACAL is 51% owned by the Company, 49% owned by a company controlled by a Director of the Company and a director of MAACAL 
and the immediate holding company, MAA Corporate Advisory Sdn Bhd.

#	 Subsidiary companies not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

(1)	 Subsidiary companies that were disposed during the financial year.

(2)	 Subsidiary companies that ceased to be subsidiaries and became associated companies during the financial year.

(3)	 Subsidiary company that ceased operations during the financial year.

(4)	 Subsidiary company that ceased operations in the previous financial year.

(5)	 Subsidiary companies that were acquired during the financial year.
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10	 ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

				    GROUP 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Unquoted shares, at cost	 72,027	 64,589	 63,121 
Less: Accumulated impairment loss	 (13,834)	 (12,874)	 (12,874) 

		  58,193	 51,715	 50,247 

	 Dividend received	 (186)	 (165)	 (165) 
Share of post acquisition loss	 (1,693)	 (1,028)	 (678) 

		  56,314	 50,522	 49,404 

	 The Group’s share of revenue, profit, assets and liabilities of associated companies are as follows:

				    GROUP 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Revenue	 194,760	 50,955	 59,017 
Loss after taxation	 (665)	 (355)	 (380) 

	 Non-current assets	 3,102,669	 201,091	 208,711 
Current assets	 293,797	 156,412	 229,253 
Non-current liabilities	 (3,145,392)	 (201,518)	 (211,401) 
Current liabilities	 (194,760)	 (105,463)	 (177,159) 

	 Net assets	 56,314	 50,522	 49,404 

				    COMPANY

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Unquoted shares, at cost	 100	 100	 100 

	 The details of the associated companies are as follows:

			   Group’s effective interest

	 	 Country of	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	
	 Name of company	 incorporation	 %	 %	 Principal activities

	 * Nishio Rent All (M) Sdn Bhd	 Malaysia	 30	 30	 Renting of construction and industrial 	
				       equipment 

	 MAA Bancwell Trustee Berhad	 Malaysia	 49	 49	 Trust fund management and trust 	
				       services 

	 * Maybach Logistics Sdn Bhd (1)	 Malaysia	 -	 45	 Provision of transportation and 	
				       logistics 

	 Meridian Asset Management
	    Holdings Sdn Bhd (2)	 Malaysia	 40	 -	 Investment holding

	 Associated company of
	    MAA International Assurance Ltd

	 MAA General Assurance Philippines, Inc	 Philippines	 40	 40	 General insurance business
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10	 ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (CONTINUED)	

	 The details of the associated companies are as follows: (continued)

			   Group’s effective interest

	 	 Country of	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	
	 Name of company	 incorporation	 %	 %	 Principal activities

	 Associated company of
	    Columbus Capital Singapore Pte Ltd

	 Columbus Capital Pty Limited	 Australia	 48	 46	 Retail mortgage lending and loan 	
				       securitisation

	 Subsidiary companies of Meridian Asset
	    Management Holdings Sdn Bhd

	 Meridian Asset Management Sdn Bhd (2)	 Malaysia	 40	 -	 Fund management and investment 	
				       and advisory services

 
Meridian Asset Management (Asia) Ltd (2)	 Malaysia	 40	 -	 Fund management and investment  	
				       and advisory services 

*	 The financial year-ends of these associated companies are not co-terminus with the Group. However, for purposes of consolidation, these 
associated companies had prepared financial statements as at the same statement of financial position date as the financial statements of 
the Group.

(1)	 Associated company that was disposed during the financial year.

(2)	 Held as subsidiary companies in the previous financial year.

11	 REINSURANCE/RETAKAFUL ASSETS

				    GROUP 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Reinsurance/retakaful of insurance/takaful contracts (Note 17)	 212,743	 147,928	 123,897 

	
	 The carrying amounts disclosed above in respect of the reinsurance of insurance/takaful contracts approximate the fair values at the 

statement of financial position date.

12	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RECEIVABLES

				    GROUP 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Due premiums/contributions including agents, brokers and
	    co-insurers/co-takaful balances	 27,411	 52,170	 41,918 

Due from reinsurers/retakaful and cedants	 44,333	 30,780	 29,613 

		  71,744	 82,950	 71,531 

	 Allowance for impairment	 (2,940)	 (1,394)	 (2,956) 

		  68,804	 81,556	 68,575 
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13	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	 Trade receivables of non-insurance
	    subsidiary companies	 2,346	 7,649	 5,980	 -	 -	 - 

 
Other receivables: 

	 Amounts due from subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 -	 23,323	 18,695	 59,945 
Amounts due from associated companies	 2,508	 2,753	 6,730	 -	 196	 612 
Investment income due and accrued	 3,203	 1,467	 2,055	 -	 231	 53 
Manager’s stocks	 3,250	 2,554	 2,178	 -	 -	 - 
Outstanding proceeds from disposal of

	    subsidiary companies	 94,395	 86,034	 -	 90,489	 85,140	 - 
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary

	    companies deposited in escrow account	 129,754	 94,094	 -	 129,754	 94,094	 - 
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments	 22,134	 15,282	 22,723	 7,463	 1,359	 3,958 

		  255,244	 202,184	 33,686	 251,029	 199,715	 64,568 

		  257,590	 209,833	 39,666	 251,029	 199,715	 64,568 

		 Included in amounts due from subsidiary companies are interest-bearing advances to subsidiary companies amounting to RM23,323,000 
(net of impairment of RM25,451,000) (31.12.2011: RM23,893,000, net of impairment of  RM27,490,000. 1.1.2011: RM56,121,000, net 
of impairment of RM Nil). The interest-bearing advances bear interest rates ranging from 4.35% to 8.0% (31.12.2011: 4.35% to 8.0%, 
1.1.2011: 4.35% to 8.0%) per annum and are repayable on demand. In the previous financial year ended 31 December 2011, the amounts 
were net of an amount due to a subsidiary company of RM5,538,000 (1.1.2011: RM Nil).

	 The outstanding proceeds from disposal of subsidiary companies of the Group and Company comprise of :

(i)	 an upward adjustment of RM91,383,000 (31.12.2011: RM86,034,000) and RM90,489,000 (31.12.2011: RM85,140,000) respectively 
to the sale consideration of RM344,000,000 as disclosed in Note 3(a)(iii) to the financial statements;

(ii)	 outstanding proceeds of RM3,012,000 from disposal of a subsidiary company as disclosed in Note 54(d) to the financial statements.

	 Under the terms and conditions of the SPA with Zurich, the proceeds from disposal of subsidiary companies deposited into an escrow 
account of the Group and the Company will remain in the escrow account for two (2) years from the date of completion of the disposal on 
30 September 2011;

	 Included in other receivables, deposits and prepayments of the Group and Company was interest receivable of RM3,775,000 (31.12.2011: 
RM661,000) on the proceeds from disposal of subsidiary companies deposited in the escrow account. The deposit in the escrow account 
bears an interest rate at 2.75% (31.12.2011: 2.75%) per annum.

	 The fair value of the above approximates the carrying value as at the date of the statement of financial position.
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14	 DEFERRED TAX

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority.

	 The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial position:

	 GROUP

						      31.12.2012

		  Share-			   General	 Family
		  holders’	 General	 Life	 takaful	 takaful
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Deferred tax assets	 -	 558	 -	 -	 -	 558 
Deferred tax liabilities	 (3,978)	 -	 -	 (627)	 (1,505)	 (6,110) 

		  (3,978)	 558	 -	 (627)	 (1,505)	 (5,552) 

	 At 1 January 2012 

	    - as previously stated	 (3,511)	 419	 195	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (4,478) 
   - prior year adjustments (Note 43)	 107	 -	 -	 -	 -	 107 
   - as restated	 (3,404)	 419	 195	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (4,371) 

	 (Charged)/credited to income statement 
	   (Note 37): 

   - property, plant and equipment	 (832)	 5	 -	 -	 -	 (827) 
   - investments and loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (475)	 (475) 
   - receivables, deposits and prepayments	 -	 109	 -	 -	 -	 109 
   - Qardhul Hassan	 (107)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (107) 
   - others	 -	 67	 -	 -	 -	 67 
	 (939)	 181	 -	 -	 (475)	 (1,233) 

	 Credited to other comprehensive income: 
   - available-for-sale reserves	 417	 -	 -	 -	 -	 417 

	 Charged to insurance contract liabilities: 
   - available-for-sale reserves	 -	 -	 -	 (59)	 (17)	 (76) 

	 Arising for acquired subsidiary companies	 (39)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (39) 

	 Arising from disposed subsidiary companies	 (14)	 -	 (195)	 -	 -	 (209) 

	 Currency translation differences	 1	 (42)	 -	 -	 -	 (41) 

	 At 31 December 2012	 (3,978)	 558	 -	 (627)	 (1,505)	 (5,552) 

	 Subject to income tax: 

	 Deferred tax assets (before offsetting)
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 18	 -	 -	 -	 18 
Investments and loans	 -	 20	 -	 -	 -	 20 
Receivable, deposits and prepayments	 -	 217	 -	 -	 -	 217 
Others	 -	 303	 -	 -	 -	 303 
	 -	 558	 -	 -	 -	 558 
Offsetting	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 - 

	 Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)	 -	 558	 -	 -	 -	 558 

	 Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting)
Available-for-sale reserves	 (1,385)	 -	 -	 (627)	 (241)	 (2,253) 
Property, plant and equipment	 (2,593)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (2,593) 
Investments and loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (1,264)	 (1,264) 
 
	 (3,978)	 -	 -	 (627)	 (1,505)	 (6,110) 
Offsetting	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 - 

	 Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)	 (3,978)	 -	 -	 (627)	 (1,505)	 (6,110) 
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14	 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

	 GROUP

						      31.12.2011

		  Share-			   General	 Family
		  holders’	 General	 Life	 takaful	 takaful
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Deferred tax assets	 170	 419	 195	 -	 -	 784 
Deferred tax liabilities	 (3,574)	 -	 -	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (5,155) 

		  (3,404)	 419	 195	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (4,371) 

	 At 1 January 2011 
   - as previously stated	 (1,459)	 827	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (1,720) 
   - prior year adjustments (Note 43)	 531	 -	 -	 -	 -	 531 
   - as restated	 (928)	 827	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (1,189) 

	 (Charged)/credited to income statement
	    (Note 37): 

   - property, plant and equipment	 (1,264)	 9	 -	 -	 -	 (1,255) 
   - investments and loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (124)	 (124) 
   - unabsorbed tax losses	 (676)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (676) 
   - unabsorbed capital allowances	 (21)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (21) 
   - receivables, deposits and prepayments	 22	 (447)	 -	 -	 -	 (425) 
   - others	 (18)	 10	 -	 -	 -	 (8) 

		  (1,957)	 (428)	 -	 -	 (124)	 (2,509) 
   - prior year adjustments (Note 43)	 (424)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (424) 
   - as restated	 (2,381)	 (428)	 -	 -	 (124)	 (2,933) 
 
Charged to other comprehensive income: 
   - available-for-sale reserves	 (268)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (268) 
 
Charged to insurance contract liabilities: 
   - available-for-sale reserves	 -	 -	 -	 (256)	 (113)	 (369) 
 
Arising from disposed subsidiary companies	 173	 -	 196	 -	 -	 369 

	 Currency translation differences	 -	 20	 (1)	 -	 -	 19 

	 At 31 December 2011	 (3,404)	 419	 195	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (4,371) 
 
Subject to income tax: 

	 Deferred tax assets (before offsetting)
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 15	 5	 -	 -	 20 
Investments and loans	 -	 23	 -	 -	 -	 23 
Unabsorbed tax losses	 33	 -	 -	 -	 -	 33 
Receivable, deposits and prepayments	 -	 121	 -	 -	 -	 121 
Qardhul Hassan	 107	 -	 -	 -	 -	 107 
Others	 72	 260	 190	 -	 -	 522 
	 212	 419	 195	 -	 -	 826 
Offsetting	 (42)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (42) 

	 Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)	 170	 419	 195	 -	 -	 784 
 
Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting)
Available-for-sale reserves	 (1,802)	 -	 -	 (568)	 (224)	 (2,594) 
Property, plant and equipment	 (1,803)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (1,803) 
Receivable, deposits and prepayments	 (11)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (11) 
Investments and loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (789)	 (789) 
	 (3,616)	 -	 -	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (5,197) 
Offsetting	 42	 -	 -	 -	 -	 42 

	 Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)	 (3,574)	 -	 -	 (568)	 (1,013)	 (5,155) 
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14	 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
	
	 GROUP

						      1.1.2011

		  Share-			   General	 Family
		  holders’	 General	 Life	 takaful	 takaful
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Deferred tax assets	 1,306	 827	 -	 -	 -	 2,133 
Deferred tax liabilities	 (2,234)	 -	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (3,322) 

		  (928)	 827	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (1,189) 

	 At 1 January 2010	 3,959	 661	 11,210	 7	 34	 15,871 

	 (Charged)/credited to income statement: 
   - property, plant and equipment	 (358)	 -	 379	 -	 -	 21 
   - investments and loans	 7,243	 (423)	 (13,353)	 -	 (665)	 (7,198) 
   - unabsorbed tax losses	 -	 -	 1,029	 -	 -	 1,029 
   - unabsorbed capital allowances	 (12)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (12) 
   - receivables, deposits and prepayments	 14	 576	 -	 -	 -	 590 
   - others	 (355)	 68	 (58)	 -	 -	 (345) 

		  6,532	 221	 (12,003)	 -	 (665)	 (5,915) 
   - prior year adjustments (Note 43)	 531	 -	 -	 -	 -	 531 
   - as restated	 7,063	 221	 (12,003)	 -	 (665)	 (5,384) 
 
Charged to other comprehensive income: 
   - available-for-sale reserves	 (3,324)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (3,324) 

	 (Charged)/credited to insurance contract
	    liabilities: 

   - available-for-sale reserves	 -	 -	 (7,732)	 (319)	 (145)	 (8,196) 
   - asset revaluation reserves	 -	 -	 5	 -	 -	 5 
	 -	 -	 (7,727)	 (319)	 (145)	 (8,191) 

	 Transferred (to)/from assets classified
	    as held for sale	 (8,771)	 -	 8,364	 -	 -	 (407) 

	 Currency translation differences	 145	 (55)	 156	 -	 -	 246 

	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011	 (928)	 827	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (1,189) 
 
Subject to income tax: 

	 Deferred tax assets (before offsetting)
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 6	 -	 -	 -	 6 
Investments and loans	 11	 23	 -	 -	 -	 34 
Unabsorbed tax losses	 708	 -	 -	 -	 -	 708 
Unabsorbed capital allowances	 19	 -	 -	 -	 -	 19 
Receivable, deposits and prepayments	 -	 554	 -	 -	 -	 554 
Qardhul Hassan	 531	 -	 -	 -	 -	 531 
Others	 73	 244	 -	 -	 -	 317 
	 1,342	 827	 -	 -	 -	 2,169 
Offsetting	 (36)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (36) 

	 Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)	 1,306	 827	 -	 -	 -	 2,133 
 
Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting)
Available-for-sale reserves	 (1,534)	 -	 -	 (312)	 (111)	 (1,957) 
Property, plant and equipment	 (736)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (736) 
Investments and loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (665)	 (665) 
	 (2,270)	 -	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (3,358) 
Offsetting	 36	 -	 -	 -	 -	 36 
 
Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)	 (2,234)	 -	 -	 (312)	 (776)	 (3,322) 
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14	 DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

				    COMPANY

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Deferred tax liabilities	 (131)	 (11)	 (19) 

	 At 1 January 	 (11)	 (19)	 (104) 
 
(Charged)/credited to income statement (Note 37): 
   - property, plant and equipment	 (120)	 8	 85 

	 At 31 December	 (131)	 (11)	 (19) 

	 Subject to income tax: 

	 Deferred tax liabilities (before and after offsetting)

	 Property, plant and equipment	 (131)	 (11)	 (19) 

	 The amounts of deductible temporary differences, unabsorbed tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances (all of which have no expiry 
date) for which no deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement of financial position as it is not probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised, are as follows:

				    GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Deductible temporary differences	 12,716	 11,934	 13,124 
Unabsorbed tax losses	 17,566	 23,984	 19,942 
Unabsorbed capital allowances	 8,357	 19,133	 8,285 

		  38,639 	 55,051	 41,351 

15	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

	
	 Fixed and call deposits with
	    licences banks	 129,828	 166,527	 192,329	 1,807	 6,420	 11,615
	 Cash and bank balances	 11,889	 10,725	 60,250	 4,334	 526	 36,319

		  141,717	 177,252	 252,579	 6,141	 6,946	 47,934
							     
	 Bank overdrafts (Note 21)	 (4,335)	 (9,232)	 (9,905)	 -	 -	 -
		
		  137,382	 168,020	 242,674	 6,141	 6,946	 47,934
							     
	 Assets classified as held for sale (Note 16(A))	 -	 -	 619,275	 -	 -	 -

		  137,382	 168,020	 861,949	 6,141	 6,946	 47,934
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16	 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 

(A)	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 

	 On 16 December 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to negotiate a potential transaction involving the disposal of MAA to 
Zurich as disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial statements.

	
	 Accordingly the related assets and liabilities of MAA identified for disposal were classified under assets and liabilities held for sale as at 

31 December 2010/1 January 2011. The components of assets and liabilities held for sale and the related net cash flows attributable 
to the discontinued operations were as follows:

		  Note	 1.1.2011
	 GROUP		  RM’000
		
	 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE	 	
		
	 Property, plant and equipment	 4	 278,795
	 Investment properties	 5	 512,287
	 Intangible assets	 6	 4,595
	 Investments		  5,791,497

	    Available-for-sale financial assets	 7	 3,790,913
	    Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 7	 1,100,706
	    Loans and receivables		  899,878
	
	 Reinsurance assets		  222,343
	 Insurance receivables		  77,151
	 Other receivables		  49,938
	 Tax recoverable		  26,936
	 Deferred tax assets		  10,647
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 15	 619,275

		  7,593,464
		
	 LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE	 	
		
	 Insurance contract liabilities		  6,228,001
	 Insurance payables		  845,548
	 Trade and other payables		  230,248
	 Provision for life agents’ retirement benefits		  2,703
	 Current tax liabilities		  34,140
	 Deferred tax liabilities		  10,240
	 Available-for-sale reserves		  12,334

		  7,363,214
		
	 COMPANY	 	
		
	 Assets classified as held for sale		  110,981
		

	 The above represents the Company’s cost of investment in MAA which was classified as assets held for sale as at 31 December 
2010/1 January 2011.

	 On 30 September 2011, the Company completed the disposal of MAA to Zurich. The details and the effects of the disposal are 
disclosed in Note 41(a) to the financial statements.

(B)	 OTHER ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
	

				    GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011 
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Property, plant and equipment (Note 4) :			 
	

	    Cost	 5,625	 5,625	 5,625
	    Accumulated impairment loss	 (4,525)	 (4,036)	 (1,690)
	    Currency translation differences	 (85)	 -	 -

	 Net carrying amount	 1,015	 1,589	 3,935
				  
	 The above consists of a yacht owned by an insurance subsidiary company of the Group. The carrying amount of the yacht represents 

the fair value as at the statement of financial position date. 
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES

											           GROUP

		  Note			  31.12.2012			  31.12.2011			  1.1.2011
				  
				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	
				   insurance/			  insurance/			  insurance/	
			   Gross	 retakaful	 Net	 Gross	 retakaful	 Net	 Gross	 retakaful	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Life insurance	 (a)	 -	 -	 -	 31,212	 -	 31,212	 108,560	 -	 108,560
	 General insurance	 (b)	 116,990	 (66,812)	 50,178	 81,834	 (30,187)	 51,647	 115,311	 (44,517)	 70,794
	 Family takaful	 (c)	 310,882	 (13,792)	 297,090	 246,979	 (10,049)	 236,930	 193,610	 (17,198)	176,412
	 General takaful	 (d)	 173,057	 (132,139)	 40,918	 148,465	 (107,692)	 40,773	 104,929	 (62,182)	 42,747
											         
			   600,929	 (212,743)	 388,186	 508,490	 (147,928)	 360,562	 522,410	 (123,897)	398,513

(a)	 Life insurance

	 The Life insurance contract liabilities and movements are further analysed as follows:

											           GROUP

					    31.12.2012			  31.12.2011		  1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	
			   Gross	 insurance	 Net	 Gross	 insurance	 Net	 Gross	 insurance	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
									       
	 Actuarial liabilities:									       
	   Liability for future
	      policyholders’
	       benefits		  -	 -	 -	 29,251	 -	 29,251	 90,644	 -	 90,644
	   Net asset value
	     attributable to
	       unitholders		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,892	 -	 7,892
			   -	 -	 -	 29,251	 -	 29,251	 98,536	 -	 98,536

	 Claim liabilities		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 757	 -	 757
			   -	 -	 -	 29,251	 -	 29,251	 99,293	 -	 99,293
									       
	 Unallocated surplus		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,312	 -	 7,312
	 Available-for-sale reserves		  -	 -	 -	 1,961	 -	 1,961	 1,955	 -	 1,955
									       
			   -	 -	 -	 31,212	 -	 31,212	 108,560	 -	 108,560
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Life insurance (continued)

								        GROUP

				    Gross		  Reinsurance

		  With	 Without		  With	 Without
		  DPF	  DPF	 Total	   DPF	 DPF	 Total	 Net
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

  	 Actuarial liabilities	 						    
							     
	 At 1 January 2010	 3,791,053	 1,725,017	 5,516,070	 (3,956)	 (15,640)	 (19,596)	 5,496,474
							     
  	 Transferred to assets/liabilities classified
	    as held for sale 	 (3,758,572)	 (1,669,257)	(5,427,829)	 3,956	 15,640	 19,596	 (5,408,233)
							     
	 Benefits and claims  experience variation	 2,646	 6,958	 9,604	 -	 -	 -	 9,604
							     
  	 Currency translation differences	 -	 691	 691	 -	 -	 -	 691
							     
 	  At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011	 35,127	 63,409	 98,536	 -	 -	 -	 98,536
							     
	 Benefits and claims  experience variation	 2,282	 1,724	 4,006	 -	 -	 -	 4,006
							     
  	 Benefits and claims commuted during
	    the financial year	 (37,409)	 (35,807)	 (73,216)	 -	 -	 -	 (73,216)
							     
	  Currency translation differences	 -	 (75)	 (75)	 -	 -	 -	 (75)
							     
 	 At 31 December 2011 / 1 January 2012	 -	 29,251	 29,251	 -	 -	 -	 29,251
							     
	 Benefits and claims  experience variation	 -	 (8,682)	 (8,682)	 -	 -	 -	 (8,682)
							     
 	 Arising from disposed subsidiary company	 -	 (20,569)	 (20,569)	 -	 -	 -	 (20,569)
							     
 	 At 31 December 2012	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 Claim liabilities							     
							     
	 At 1 January 2010	 16,406	 25,901	 42,307	 (2,687)	 (2,603)	 (5,290)	 37,017
							     
	 Transferred to assets/liabilities classified
	    as held for sale 	 (16,332)	 (25,130)	 (41,462)	 2,687	 2,603	 5,290	 (36,172)
							     
	 Movement in claim provisions	 (4)	 (84)	 (88)	 -	 -	 -	 (88)
							     
	 At 31 December 2010 / 1 January 2011	 70	 687	 757	 -	 -	 -	 757
							     
	 Movement in claim liabilities	 (15)	 (90)	 (105)	 -	 -	 -	 (105)
							     
	 Claims commuted during the financial year	 (55)	 (597)	 (652)	 -	 -	 -	 (652)

							     
	 At 31 December 2011 / 31 December 2012	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Life insurance (continued)

											           GROUP	
							     

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

			   With 	 Without		  With	 Without		  With	 Without	
			   DPF	  DPF	 Total	 DPF 	 DPF	 Total	 DPF 	 DPF	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
									       
	 Unallocated surplus								      

	 At 1 January		  -	 -	 -	 (2,492)	 9,804	 7,312	 (335,821)	 309,137	 (26,684)
									       
	 Transferred to 
	    assets/liabilities
	       classified as held 
	         for sale		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 334,778	 (301,033)	 33,745
									       
	 Premiums received		  -	 3,195	 3,195	 -	 14,695	 14,695	 -	 19,866	 19,866

	 Payments due to death, 
	    surrenders, benefits 
	       and claims		  -	 (3,749)	 (3,749)	 106	 (17,735)	 (17,629)	 -	 (15,355)	 (15,355)

	 Net investment income		  (2,568)	 (434)	 (3,002)	 (2,768)	 5,033	 2,265	 2,522	 7,537	 10,059

	 Management expenses 
	    and commissions		  (843)	 (3,769)	 (4,612)	 (744)	 (9,646)	 (10,390)	 (231)	 (11,698)	 (11,929)

	 Change in life fund 
	    actuarial liabilities		  128	 3,170	 3,298	 3,921	 11,775	 15,696	 (3,744)	 6,716	 2,972

	 Change in claims liabilities		  3,283	 1,587	 4,870	 15	 90	 105	 4	 (5,308)	 (5,304)

	 Tax expenses		  -	 -	 -	 -	 196	 196	 -	 (58)	 (58)
									       
	 Net surplus/(deficit) for 
	    the financial year		  -	 -	 -	 530	 4,408	 4,938	 (1,449)	 1,700	 251
									       
	 Surplus commuted during
	    the financial year		  -	 -	 -	 1,962	 (14,212)	 (12,250)	 -	 -	 -
									       
	 At 31 December		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (2,492)	 9,804	 7,312
	

	 Available-for-sale reserves	 								      
									       

	 At 1 January		  -	 1,961	 1,961	 957	 998	 1,955	 74,340	 20,871	 95,211
									       
	 Transferred to assets/liabilities 
	    classified as held for sale 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (74,071)	 (20,612)	 (94,683)
									       
	 Net movement in available-for- 
	    sale reserves		  -	 (1,688)	 (1,688)	 (957)	 963	 6	 688	 739	 1,427
									       
	 Arising from disposed
	    subsidiary company		  -	 (273)	 (273)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
									       
	 At 31 December		  -	 -	 -	 -	 1,961	 1,961	 957	 998	 1,955
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)	 General insurance 

	 The General insurance contract liabilities and movements are further analysed as follows:

											           GROUP	
							     

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	
			   Gross	insurance	 Net	 Gross	insurance	 Net	 Gross	 insurance	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Provision for claims		  67,077	 (44,007)	 23,070	 23,885	 (5,812)	 18,073	 38,272	 (13,348)	 24,924
	 Provision for incurred but
	   not reported claims 
	     (“IBNR”)		  28,997	 (11,075)	 17,922	 29,456	 (11,367)	 18,089	 52,762	 (22,674)	 30,088
									       
	 Claim liabilities (i)		  96,074	 (55,082)	 40,992	 53,341	 (17,179)	 36,162	 91,034	 (36,022)	 55,012
									       
	 Premium liabilities (ii)		  20,916	 (11,730)	 9,186	 28,493	 (13,008)	 15,485	 24,277	 (8,495)	 15,782
									       
			   116,990	 (66,812)	 50,178	 81,834	 (30,187)	 51,647	 115,311	 (44,517)	 70,794

(i)	 Claim liabilities							       		
									       
	 At 1 January									       
	   - as previously stated	 40,773	 (17,179)	 23,594	 85,974	 (36,022)	 49,952	 95,730	 (41,861)	 53,869
	   - prior year 
	       adjustments 
	         (Note 43)		  12,568	 -	 12,568	 5,060	 -	 5,060	 1,566	 -	 1,566
	   - restated		  53,341	 (17,179)	 36,162	 91,034	 (36,022)	 55,012	 97,296	 (41,861)	 55,435

									       
	 Claims incurred in
	   the current
	     accident year		  100,812	 (72,246)	 28,566	 50,793	 (28,931)	 21,862	 47,606	 (52,242)	 (4,636)

	 Other movements
	   in claims incurred 
	     in prior accident
	       years		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 26,224	 (6,541)	 19,683

	 Claims paid during the
	   financial year 
	     (Note 33)		  (51,055)	 28,451	 (22,604)	 (46,032)	 32,606	 (13,426)	 (83,591)	 74,827	 (8,764)

	 Claims commuted 
	   during the financial
	     year 		  -	 -	 -	 (35,061)	 5,682	 (29,379)	 -	 -	 -

	 Movement in IBNR		  (459)	 292	 (167)	 (7,610)	 9,606	 1,996	 4,514	 (10,971)	 (6,457)
									       
			   49,298	 (43,503)	 5,795	 (37,910)	 18,963	 (18,947)	 (5,247)	 5,073	 (174)
	 Currency translation 
	   differences		  (6,565)	 5,600	 (965)	 217	 (120)	 97	 (1,015)	 766	 (249)
									       
	 At 31 December		  96,074	 (55,082)	 40,992	 53,341	 (17,179)	 36,162	 91,034	 (36,022)	 55,012
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)	 General insurance (continued)

											           GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	
			   Gross	insurance	 Net	 Gross	insurance	 Net	 Gross	 insurance	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

									       
(ii)	 Premium liabilities							       		

									       
At 1 January		  28,493	 (13,008)	 15,485	 24,277	 (8,495)	 15,782	 42,043	 (15,870)	 26,173

									       
Premiums written
  during the financial
    year (Note 27)		  64,141	 (48,572)	 15,569	 79,075	 (51,290)	 27,785	 69,756	 (46,286)	 23,470

Premiums earned 
  during the financial 
      year		  (69,412)	 48,466	 (20,946)	 (73,975)	 45,653	 (28,322)	 (86,591)	 53,251	 (33,340)
									       
			   (5,271)	 (106)	 (5,377)	 5,100	 (5,637)	 (537)	 (16,835)	 6,965	 (9,870)
									       
Currency translation
  differences		  (2,306)	 1,384	 (922)	 (884)	 1,124	 240	 (931)	 410	 (521)
									       
At 31 December		  20,916	 (11,730)	 9,186	 28,493	 (13,008)	 15,485	 24,277	 (8,495)	 15,782

(c)	 Family takaful

	 The Family takaful contract liabilities and movements are further analysed as follows:

											           GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-		
		  Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net

			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Actuarial liabilities:									       
	   Liability for future
	     policyholders’ benefits		  58,636	 (13,202)	 45,434	 47,108	 (8,716)	 38,392	 43,721	 (11,361)	 32,360
	   Net asset value attributable 
	     to unitholders		  246,482	 -	 246,482	 191,558	 -	 191,558	 139,997	 -	 139,997
			   305,118	 (13,202)	 291,916	 238,666	 (8,716)	 229,950	 183,718	 (11,361)	172,357
									       
	 Claim liabilities		  2,526	 (590)	 1,936	 5,281	 (1,333)	 3,948	 8,164	 (5,837)	 2,327
	 Available-for-sale reserves		  3,238	 -	 3,238	 3,032	 -	 3,032	 1,728	 -	 1,728
									       
			   310,882	 (13,792)	 297,090	 246,979	 (10,049)	 236,930	 193,610	 (17,198)	176,412
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Family takaful (continued)

											           GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	
			   Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
									       
	 At 1 January		  246,979	 (10,049)	 236,930	 193,610	 (17,198)	 176,412	 111,173	 (1,389)	109,784
									       
	 Contributions received		  209,099	 (18,709)	 190,390	 163,751	 (12,927)	 150,824	 157,434	 (5,332)	152,102

	 Liabilities paid death, 
	   maturities, surrenders, 
	       benefits and claims		  (84,879)	 20,634	 (64,245)	 (51,362)	 13,418	 (37,944)	 (49,484)	 5,057	 (44,427)

	 Movement in claim liabilities	 2,755	 (743)	 2,012	 2,883	 (4,504)	 (1,621)	 (4,140)	 4,965	 825

	 Benefits and claims 
 	    experience variation		  24,237	 (4,925)	 19,312	 7,740	 9,225	 16,965	 37,682	 (21,272)	 16,410

	 Fees deducted		  (77,685)	 -	 (77,685)	 (62,852)	 1,937	 (60,915)	 (55,245)	 773	 (54,472)

	 Surplus distributed to 
	   shareholders’ fund		  (9,400)	 -	 (9,400)	 (6,400)	 -	 (6,400)	 (3,400)	 -	 (3,400)

	 Repayment of Qardhul Hassan	 (430)	 -	 (430)	 (1,695)	 -	 (1,695)	 (2,125)	 -	 (2,125)

	 Fair value movement arising 
	   from available-for-sale 
	     investments		  206	 -	 206	 1,304	 -	 1,304	 1,715	 -	 1,715
									       
	 At 31 December		  310,882	 (13,792)	 297,090	 246,979	 (10,049)	 236,930	 193,610	 (17,198)	176,412

									       

(d)	 General takaful 

	 The General takaful contract liabilities and movements are further analysed as follows:
	

											           GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	
			   Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

	 Provision for claims		  72,521	 (55,958)	 16,563	 62,268	 (44,802)	 17,466	 41,040	 (25,228)	 15,812
	 Provision for incurred but 
	   not reported claims (“IBNR”)	 24,359	 (18,672)	 5,687	 18,240	 (11,698)	 6,542	 14,708	 (8,076)	 6,632
	 Provision for risk of adverse 
	   deviation (“PRAD”)		  11,721	 (9,508)	 2,213	 12,745	 (9,037)	 3,708	 6,463	 (3,938)	 2,525
									       
	 Claim liabilities (i)		  108,601	 (84,138)	 24,463	 93,253	 (65,537)	 27,716	 62,211	 (37,242)	 24,969
									       
	 Unearned contribution 
	   reserves (ii)		  62,574	 (48,001)	 14,573	 53,508	 (42,155)	 11,353	 41,782	 (24,940)	 16,842
	 Available-for-sale reserves (iii)	 1,882	 -	 1,882	 1,704	 -	 1,704	 936	 -	 936
									       
			   173,057	 (132,139)	 40,918	 148,465	 (107,692)	 40,773	 104,929	 (62,182)	 42,747
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17	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(d)	 General takaful (continued)

	 The General takaful contract liabilities and movements are further analysed as follows: (continued)

											           GROUP

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

				    Re-			   Re-			   Re-	 Net
			   Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net	 Gross	 takaful	 Net
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

(i)   Claim liabilities	 						    
		

									       
At 1 January		  93,253	 (65,537)	 27,716	 62,211	 (37,242)	 24,969	 25,830	 (20,324)	 5,506
									       
Claims incurred in
  the current accident 
    year		  75,800	 (58,139)	 17,661	 57,359	 (39,870)	 17,489	 54,138	 (28,948)	 25,190
Other movements in 
  claims incurred in 
    prior accident years	 (10,618)	 7,201	 (3,417)	 (91)	 (1,264)	 (1,355)	 (4,835)	 5,068	 233
Claims paid during the
  financial year
    (Note 33)		  (48,810)	 32,808	 (16,002)	 (32,508)	 17,938	 (14,570)	 (15,498)	 7,794	 (7,704)
Movement in PRAD		  (1,024)	 (471)	 (1,495)	 6,282	 (5,099)	 1,183	 2,576	 (832)	 1,744
									       
			   15,348	 (18,601)	 (3,253)	 31,042	 (28,295)	 2,747	 36,381	 (16,918)	 19,463
									       
At 31 December		  108,601	 (84,138)	 24,463	 93,253	 (65,537)	 27,716	 62,211	 (37,242)	 24,969

									         	

(ii)	 Unearned contribution reserves						    
			   	

										        
At 1 January		  53,508	 (42,155)	 11,353	 41,782	 (24,940)	 16,842	 30,190	 (16,349)	 13,841
										        
Contributions written 
  during the financial 
    year (Note 27)		  161,973	 (127,368)	 34,605	 136,197	 (109,720)	 26,477	 111,113	 (74,289)	 36,824
Contributions earned 
  during the financial
    year		  (152,907)	 121,522	 (31,385)	 (124,471)	 92,505	 (31,966)	 (99,521)	 65,698	 (33,823)
										        
			   9,066	 (5,846)	 3,220	 11,726	 (17,215)	 (5,489)	 11,592	 (8,591)	 3,001
										        
At 31 December		  62,574	 (48,001)	 14,573	 53,508	 (42,155)	 11,353	 41,782	 (24,940)	 16,842
										        

											           GROUP	
	

	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

	 Gross/Net	 Gross/Net	 Gross/Net
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

(iii)	 Available-for-sale reserves	 		
			 
	 At 1 January	 1,704	 936	 (20)
			 
	 Net gains arising from available-for-sale financial assets	 237	 1,024	 1,275
	 Deferred tax effect	 (59)	 (256)	 (319)
			 
		  178	 768	 956

		  1,882	 1,704	 936
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18	 INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES 

											           GROUP	
	

	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011

	 Gross/Net	 Gross/Net	 Gross/Net
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			 

Without DPF	 11,289	 17,756	 40,538
			 
At 1 January	 17,756	 40,538	 53,584
			 
Deposits (creation of units)	 -	 38	 9,282
Withdrawals	 (2,449)	 (13,238)	 (17,848)
Fees deducted	 (713)	 (1,372)	 (968)
Net investment income	 177	 740	 545
Other operating income/(expenses)-net	 83	 (233)	 243
Fair value adjustment – Investments	 (2,828)	 (5,599)	 (884)
Changes in insurance liabilities and actuarial assumptions	 1	 (2,698)	 (88)
Arising from disposal of subsidiary company	 (620)	 -	 -
Currency translation differences	 (118)	 (420)	 (3,328)
			 
		  11,289	 17,756	 40,538
			 
Investment contract liabilities without DPF are stated at fair value.			 
			 
Investment contract liabilities without DPF are further analysed as follows:			 
			 
Unit-linked liabilities valued using valuation techniques with market 
  observable inputs	 11,289	 17,756	 40,538

The fair value of unit-linked liabilities is based upon the fair value of the underlying assets of the funds.
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19	 MEDIUM TERM NOTES (SECURED)

			  GROUP/COMPANY	
	
					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			 

RM200 million Medium Term Notes				    -	 -	 170,000
			 
Analysis of the MTNs:			 
  Payable between 1 year to 2 years				    -	 -	 170,000

			 

	 In the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Company issued RM200 million nominal amount of Medium Term Notes (“MTNs”) up to 
a tenure of 5 years in a total of 3 tranches, comprising 2 tranches with a nominal value of RM30 million each and 1 tranche with a nominal 
value of RM140 million, to the primary subscribers. The tenure of the MTNs ranged from 3 to 5 years from the date of issue and bore interest 
rates ranging from 4.45% to 4.51% per annum, payable semi-annually in advance, beginning from the date of issue and every 6 months 
thereafter.

	 The MTNs were secured by a bank guarantee facility from DBS Bank Ltd, Labuan Branch (“DBS”) up to the maximum aggregate principal 
amount of United States Dollars equivalent of RM200 million. The bank guarantee bore a commission of 1.0% per annum, payable annually 
in advance, beginning from the date of issue and thereafter annually on each anniversary of the issue date. The Company had further 
provided undertakings to DBS under the bank guarantee facility, which amongst others included undertakings not to dispose of any part of 
the business and assets of its wholly-owned insurance subsidiary company, MAA, and not to dilute the Company’s interest in MAA without 
the prior consent of DBS.

	 The MTNs were constituted by a trust deed dated 13 October 2006 between the Company and the trustee, to act for the benefit of the 
noteholders. Under the trust deed, the Company provided covenants to the trustee for the benefit of the noteholders. The covenants 
included amongst others an undertaking not to dispose of the business or assets of MAA except where such disposal was to an investor 
of good standing and acknowledged reputation in the insurance industry who had the expertise, skills and strategic direction necessary to 
significantly enhance the value of MAA’s business with the Company maintaining control of both the management and Board of Directors of 
MAA, and also the Company shall at all times remain the legal and beneficial owner of at least 51% interest in MAA, unless the prior consent 
of the noteholders by way of ordinary resolution or the trustee had been obtained in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

	 In the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Company provided 100% of MAA shares as security to the bank guarantee and a standby 
letter of credit facility of RM36.3 million was obtained from DBS as disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements. The bank guarantee had 
a first fixed charge over MAA shares.

	 In the previous financial year ended 31 December 2011, interest rates of MTNs charged were in the range of 4.48% to 4.51% (1.1.2011: 
4.48% to 4.51%) per annum.

	 On 30 September 2011, the Company made an early redemption of the remaining outstanding MTNs of RM140 million before the scheduled 
due date on 6 January 2012 (“Early and Full Redemption”). The Early and Full Redemption was funded by partial sale proceeds received 
from the disposal of the entire interest held in the capital of the Disposal Subsidiaries to Zurich as disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial 
statements. 
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20	 REVOLVING CREDIT (SECURED)
	
			  GROUP/COMPANY	
	
					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revolving credit:			 
- Secured				    -	 -	 36,300
			 
Payable within 1 year				    -	 -	 36,300

						    

	 On 30 December 2010, the Company secured a revolving credit (“RC”) facility of RM36.3 million from a licensed bank. The RC facility was 
secured by a standby letter of credit (“SBLC”) from DBS up to the maximum aggregate principal amount of United States Dollars equivalent 
of RM36.3 million and a pledge of fixed deposit of RM125,000 with the licensed bank.

	 The tenure of the RC facility was 6 months from the date of first drawdown, subject to availability of the SBLC. The RC bore an interest rate 
of 0.25% per annum above the licensed bank’s cost of fund. The RC interest was payable monthly at the end of the interest period and was 
to be settled by a bullet repayment on 30 June 2011. During the previous financial year, the interest rates charged for the RC ranged from 
3.40% to 4.02% (1.1.2011: 3.40%) per annum.

	 The SBLC bore an upfront commission of 3.5% flat on the facility amount and was secured by the following:

(a)	 a deposit of RM1.0 million into a bank account to be maintained and operated by DBS; and

(b)	 a second fixed charge over 100% of MAA shares. 

	 Both the RC and SBLC facilities were secured to facilitate settlement of second tranche of the MTNs with nominal value of RM30 million and 
to pre-fund coupon interest of the MTNs due in July 2011 and January 2012 totalling RM6.3 million.

	 The tenure of the SBLC was 6 months from the date of issue and expired on 30 June 2011. The RC facility was further extended for 2 months 
and expired on 2 September 2011.

	 On 30 September 2011, the Company fully settled the RC facility of RM36.3 million which was funded by partial sale proceeds received 
from the disposal of the entire interest held in the capital of the Disposed Subsidiaries to Zurich as disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial 
statements. 

21	 BANK OVERDRAFTS (UNSECURED)

	 The unsecured bank overdraft facility of a subsidiary company has a limit of RM8.5 million (31.12.2011 and 1.1.2011: RM10 million) and 
bears an interest rate of 2.5% (31.12.2011 and 1.1.2011: 2.5%) per annum above the prevailing base lending rate. During the financial year, 
the interest rates charged ranged from 9.10% (31.12.2011: 8.05% to 9.30%, 1.1.2011: 8.05% to 8.8%) per annum.

	 The subsidiary company shall make progressive repayment of the bank overdraft facility over a period of five (5) years by a scheduled 
reduction of RM500,000 every half-yearly commencing end January 2012 until it is reduced to RM5 million as at end January 2016.

22	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL PAYABLES
		
							       GROUP	

	
					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Due to agents, brokers and co-insurers/co-takaful				    6,699	 9,437	 5,836
Due to reinsurers/retakaful companies and cedants				    88,340	 81,049	 53,929
Reinsurers’/retakaful deposits withheld				    456	 3	 1,968
Premium/contribution deposits				    6,048	 5,603	 3,655

					     101,543	 96,092	 65,388
			 

	 The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate the fair value at the date of the statement of financial position.

	 All amounts are payable within one year.
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23	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES	
	
				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

						    
	 Trade payables from non-insurance 
	   subsidiary companies	 6,902	 13,725	 14,987	 -	 -	 -
						    
	 Other payables:						    

	  	Amounts due to associated company	 500	 -	 -	 500	 -	 -
		  Amounts due to a Director	 1,909	 1,950	 1,893	 -	 -	 -
		  Amounts due to related companies	 140	 134	 129	 -	 -	 -
		  Amounts due to a former related company	 -	 14,791	 -	 -	 -	 -
		  Defined contribution retirement plan payable	 1,381	 1,966	 2,102	 64	 66	 276
		  Accrual for unutilised staff leave	 509	 421	 969	 298	 157	 185
		  Accrual for MTN interest	 -	 -	 3,722	 -	 -	 3,722
		  Hire purchase creditors	 -	 718	 636	 -	 -	 92
		  Commissions payable	 9,225	 6,741	 5,438	 -	 -	 -
		  Accrual for sale incentive	 781	 692	 464	 -	 -	 -
		  Accrual for EPF services fee	 1,295	 1,092	 898	 -	 -	 -
		  Accrual for agency golden service awards	 4,899	 3,813	 2,811	 -	 -	 -
		  Service tax payable	 13	 581	 229	 -	 -	 -
		  Provision for staff costs	 2,288	 4,124	 5,671	 293	 330	 2,148
		  Accrual for office renovation	 2,054	 -	 -	 430	 -	 -
		  Accrual for fair value loss on
  		    interest rate swap transaction	 -	 2,818	 3,682	 -	 2,818	 3,682
		  Other payables and accruals	 42,763	 28,355	 36,198	 2,942	 1,712	 1,256

		  67,757	 68,196	 64,842	 4,527	 5,083	 11,361
						    

		  74,659	 81,921	 79,829	 4,527	 5,083	 11,361

	
	 Amounts due to a Director from a subsidiary company are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

	 The hire purchase creditors can be analysed as follows:

				    GROUP			   COMPANY	
	

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
						    

Payable within 1 year	 -	 168	 287	 -	 -	 92
Payable between 2 years to 5 years	 -	 550	 349	 -	 -	 -
	
		  -	 718	 636	 -	 -	 92

						    

	 The hire purchase creditors of the Group bear interest rates ranging from 2.6% to 3.1% (31.12.2011: 2.6% to 3.1%, 1.1.2011: 2.3% to 3.9%) 
per annum. During the previous financial year, the Company had fully paid its hire purchase creditors and the interest rates charged ranged 
from 2.4% to 2.8% (1.1.2011: 2.4% to 2.8%) per annum.

24	 SHARE CAPITAL
	
			  GROUP/COMPANY	
	
					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			 

Authorised ordinary shares of RM1 each:			 
			 
  At beginning and end of financial year				    500,000	 500,000	 500,000
			 
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of RM1 each:			 
			 
  At beginning and end of financial year				    304,354	 304,354	 304,354
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25	 RESERVES
	
							       GROUP	

	
					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)			   118,734	 76,257	 (38,460)
			 
Reserves			 
- Foreign exchange reserves			   (2,464)	 (6,414)	 (6,630)
- Available-for-sale reserves			   6,565	 5,798	 5,649
- Revaluation reserves			   215	 -	 -
					     4,316	 (616)	 (981)
			 
					     123,050	 75,641	 (39,441)
			 
Movement in retained earnings/(accumulated losses)			 
			 
At 1 January			 
- as previously stated			   109,041	 (16,728)	 (44,193)
- prior year adjustments (Note 43)			   (32,784)	 (21,732)	 (5,784)
					     76,257	 (38,460)	 (49,977)
			 
Profit for the financial year			 
- as previously stated			   42,477	 125,769	 27,465
- prior year adjustments (Note 43)			   -	 (11,052)	 (15,948)
					     42,477	 114,717	 11,517
			 
At 31 December			   118,734	 76,257	 (38,460)
			 
Movement in foreign exchange reserves			 
			 
At 1 January			   (6,414)	 (6,630)	 (5,927)
			 
Currency translation differences arising during the financial year			   3,950	 216	 (703)
			 
At 31 December			   (2,464)	 (6,414)	 (6,630)
			 
Movement in available-for-sale reserves			 
			 
At 1 January			   5,798	 5,649	 6,992
			 
Movement in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax			   767	 149	 10,991
Transferred to assets/liabilities classified as held for sale 			   -	 -	 (12,334)
					     767	 149	 (1,343)
			 
At 31 December			   6,565	 5,798	 5,649
			 
Movement in revaluation reserves			 
			 
At 1 January			   -	 -	 -
			 
Movement in fair value of leasehold lands			   215	 -	 -
			 
At 31 December			   215	 -	 -
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25	 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

							       GROUP	
	

					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)			   79,756	 36,492	 (1,048)
			 
Reserves			   1,664	 -	 998
- Available-for-sale reserves			 
					     81,420	 36,492	 (50)
			 
Movement in retained earnings/(accumulated losses)			 
			 
At 1 January			   36,492	 (1,048)	 21,997
			 
Profit for the financial year			   43,264	 37,540	 (23,045)
			 
At 31 December			   79,756	 36,492	 (1,048)
			 
Movement in available-for-sale reserves			 
			 
At 1 January			   -	 998	 -
			 
Movement in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax			   1,664	 (998)	 998
			 
At 31 December			   1,664	 -	 998

			 
	
	 The available-for-sale reserves represent the fair value gains or losses from available-for-sale financial assets of the Group.

	 The revaluation reserves represent the surplus arising from the revaluation of leasehold lands of a subsidiary company.

	 The retained earnings represent the amount available for dividend distribution to the equity shareholders of the Company. 

	 Under the single-tier tax system which came into effect from the year of assessment 2008, companies are not required to have tax credits 
under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 for dividend payment purposes. Dividends paid under this system are tax exempt in the 
hands of shareholders. 

	 Companies with Section 108 tax credits as at 31 December 2007 may continue to pay franked dividends until the Section 108 tax credits are 
exhausted or 31 December 2013, whichever is earlier, unless they opt to disregard the Section 108 tax credits to pay single-tier dividends 
under the special transitional provisions of the Finance Act 2007.

	 As at 31 December 2012, subject to agreement with the tax authorities, the Company has:

(a)	 tax exempt income of approximately RM18,223,000 (31.12.2011: RM18,223,000), arising from tax exempt dividends received and 
a chargeable income related to the financial year ended 31 December 1999 which was waived in accordance with Section 8 of the 
Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999.

(b)	 tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and a balance in the exempt account to declare dividends amounting to 
RM89,090,000 (31.12.2011: RM89,090,000) and RM88,000 (31.12.2011: RM88,000) respectively.
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26	 OPERATING REVENUE

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS
	
					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Gross earned premiums/contributions (Note 27)	 431,418	 362,203	 -	 -
				  
Investment income (Note 28)	 22,416	 19,471	 5,249	 3,360
				  
Interest income from hire purchase, leasing and other credit facilities	 3,116	 485	 -	 -
				  
Income from unit trust fund management, consultancy services and 
  education services	 40,422	 41,227	 -	 -
				  
Management fee income	 370	 1,785	 1,866	 4,325
				  
		  497,742	 425,171	 7,115	 7,685
						    

		
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
				  
						    

				    GROUP
						    

			   31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000
		
Gross earned premiums (Note 27)			   3,453	 1,044,057
		
Investment income (Note 28)			   563	 237,112
		
Other operating revenue from non-insurance businesses (Note 32)			   11,286	 20,094
		
				    15,302	 1,301,263
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27	 NET EARNED PREMIUMS/CONTRIBUTIONS

					     GROUP 

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000
CONTINUING OPERATIONS		
			 
(a)	 Gross earned premiums/contributions			 
			 
	 Insurance/takaful contracts:			 
	   General fund (Note 17(b)(ii))		  64,141	 79,075
	   Life fund		  -	 6
	   General takaful fund (Note 17(d)(ii))		  161,973	 136,197
	   Family takaful fund		  209,099	 163,751
			   435,213	 379,029
	 Change in unearned premium/contribution reserves		  (3,795)	 (16,826)

			   431,418	 362,203
			 
(b)	 Premiums/contributions ceded to reinsurers/retakaful			 
			 
	 Insurance/takaful contracts:			 
	   General fund (Note 17(b)(ii))		  (48,572)	 (51,290)
	   Life fund		  -	 -
	   General takaful fund (Note 17(d)(ii))		  (127,368)	 (109,720)
	   Family takaful fund		  (18,709)	 (12,927)
			   (194,649)	 (173,937)
	 Change in unearned premium/contribution reserves		  5,952	 22,852

			   (188,697)	 (151,085)
			 
	 Net earned premiums/contributions		  242,721	 211,118

			 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
			 
(a)	 Gross earned premiums (Note 38)			 
			 
 	 Insurance contracts:			 
	    General fund		  -	 382,616
	    Life fund		  3,453	 697,184
			   3,453	 1,079,800
	 Change in premium liabilities		  -	 (35,743)

			   3,453	 1,044,057
			 
(b)	 Premiums ceded to reinsurers (Note 38)			 
			 
	 Insurance contracts:			 
	   General fund		  -	 (61,969)
	   Life fund		  (258)	 (15,071)
			   (258)	 (77,040)
	 Change in premium liabilities		  -	 23,618

			   (258)	 (53,422)
				  
			   3,195	 990,635	
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28	 INVESTMENT INCOME

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Rental income from investment properties	 77	 264	 -	 -
				  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss				  
  Interest/profit income				  
  - Islamic debt securities 	 1,854	 1,471	 -	 -
				  
  Dividend income				  
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia	 4,398	 3,045	 -	 -

		  6,252	 4,516	 -	 -
				  
Financial assets at available-for-sale				  
  Interest/profit income				  
  - Malaysian Government Guaranteed Financing	 4,990	 3,659	 -	 -
  - Corporate debt securities	 147	 1,174	 -	 -
  - Islamic debt securities unquoted in Malaysia	 3,595	 3,605	 -	 -
				  
  Dividend income				  
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia	 149	 61	 -	 -
				  
Accretion of discounts/(amortisation of premiums)				  
  - Corporate debt securities	 -	 (4)	 -	 -
  - Islamic debt securities unquoted in Malaysia	 105	 873	 -	 -

		  8,986	 9,368	 -	 -
				  
Loans and receivables				  
  Interest/profit income				  
  - mortgage loans	 7	 10	 7	 10
  - other secured and unsecured loans	 232	 66	 -	 -
  - other receivables	 -	 -	 2,047	 2,293

		  239	 76	 2,054	 2,303
				  
Fixed and call deposits interest/profit income	 6,862	 5,247	 3,195	 1,057
				  
		  22,416	 19,471	 5,249	 3,360
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28	 INVESTMENT INCOME (CONTINUED)

	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
					     GROUP
						    

			   31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Gross rental income from investment properties		  -	 22,686
Less: rates and maintenance for investment properties		  -	 (13,270)
	
			   -	 9,416
			 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss			 
  Interest income			 
  - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues		  -	 355
  - Corporate debt securities		  144	 5,787
			 
  Dividend income			 
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia		  -	 26,690
  - Equity securities quoted outside Malaysia		  11	 7

			   155	 32,839
			 
Financial assets at available-for-sale			 
  Interest income			 
  - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues		  -	 8,012
  - Corporate debt securities		  -	 116,957
			 
  Dividend income			 
  - Equity securities 		  -	 315
			 
(Amortisation of premiums)/accretion of discounts			 
  - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues		  -	 (1,059)
  - Corporate debt securities		  -	 29,596

			   -	 153,821
			 
Loans and receivables			 
  Interest income			 
  - policy loans		  19	 18,028
  - mortgage loans		  -	 3,259
  - other secured and unsecured loans		  -	 3,237

			   19	 24,524
			 
Fixed and call deposits interest income		  389	 16,512
			 
			   563	 237,112
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29	 REALISED GAINS AND LOSSES

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Property, plant and equipment				  
  Realised gains	 14	 79	 5	 3
  Realised losses	 (25)	 (372)	 (18)	 (3)

		  (11)	 (293)	 (13)	 -
				  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss				  
  Realised gains:				  
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia	 137	 576	 -	 -
  - Corporate debt securities	 -	 1,716	 -	 -
  - Investment-linked units	 -	 7	 -	 -
				  
  Realised losses:				  
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia	 -	 (29)	 -	 -

		  137	 2,270	 -	 -
				  
Available-for-sale financial assets				  
  Realised gains:				  
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia	 6,993	 5,633	 -	 -
  - Islamic debt securities unquoted in Malaysia	 6,973	 2,944	 -	 -

		  13,966	 8,577	 -	 -
				  
Investment properties				  
  Realised gains	 -	 25	 -	 -
				  
Realised gain from disposal of associated company	 14	 -	 14	 -
				  
Realised gain from partial disposal of shares in a former subsidiary 
  company (Note 41(d))	 1,060	 -	 -	 -
				  
		  15,166	 10,579	 1	 -
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29	 REALISED GAINS AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Property, plant and equipment
  Realised gains			   65	 147
  Realised losses			   -	 (213)

				    65	 (66)
					   
Investment properties
  Realised gains			   -	 1,661
  Realised losses			   -	 (9)

				    -	 1,652
					   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
  Realised gains:		
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia			   -	 37
  - Equity securities quoted outside Malaysia			   -	 608
  - Unit trust			   1	 366
  - Corporate debt securities			   5	 140
					   
  Realised losses:
  - Equity securities quoted outside Malaysia			   (224)	 -

				    (218)	 1,151
					   
Available-for-sale financial assets
  Realised gains:
  - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues			   -	 8
  - Corporate debt securities			   -	 22,089
					   
  Realised losses:
   - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues			   -	 (1)

				    -	 22,096
					   
Fixed and call deposits
  Realised gains			   -	 173
					   
Realised gains from disposal of subsidiary companies (Note 41(a) ,(b), (c))			   67,273	 83,162
					   
				    67,120	 108,168
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30	 FAIR VALUE GAINS AND LOSSES - NET

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Fair value gain on investment properties	 1,261	 -	 -	 -
				  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss				  
  Net fair value gains/(losses):				  
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia	 1,094	 (2)	 -	 -
  - Corporate debt securities	 510	 8	 -	 -
  - Islamic debt securities unquoted in Malaysia	 (46)	 217	 -	 -
  - Unit trusts	 80	 30	 -	 -
  - Investment-linked units	 -	 (3,726)	 -	 -
  - Structured deposits	 2,770	 1,026	 -	 -

		  4,408	 (2,447)	 -	 -
				  
Write-back of/(allowance for) impairment loss on :				  
  - available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7)	 857	 (3,660)	 -	 (3,660)
  - property, plant and equipment 	 674	 (674)	 176	 (176)
  - assets classified as held for sale (Note 16(B))	 (489)	 (2,346)	 -	 -
  
		  1,042	 (6,680)	 176	 (3,836)
				  
Write-back of/(allowance for) impairment loss on :				  
  - loans from leasing, hire purchase and others – net	 5,509	 (8,723)	 -	 -
				  
		  12,220	 (17,850)	 176	 (3,836)

				  
	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)

							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss				  
  Net fair value gains/(losses):				  
  - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues			   -	 159
  - Corporate debt securities			   -	 2,625
  - Equity securities quoted in Malaysia			   -	 (73,397)
  - Equity securities quoted outside Malaysia			   (85)	 (37)
  - Unit trusts			   (857)	 6,211
				  
(Amortisation of premiums)/accretion of discounts				  
  - Malaysian Government Securities/ Government Investment Issues			   -	 (15)
  - Corporate debt securities			   -	 518
 
				    (942)	 (63,936)
				  
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets			   -	 (265)
				  
Loans and receivables				  
  - write-back of impairment loss			   -	 12,450
  - net fair value loss on deposits with financial institutions			   -	 (306)

				    -	 12,144
				  

				    (942)	 (52,057)
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31	 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
			 
Reinsurance/retakaful commission income		  37,365	 32,318
			 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
			 
Administration and investment charges on policyholders		  135	 7,993
Surrender charges and other contract fees		  -	 757
Reinsurance commission income		  -	 15,264

			   135	 24,014
					   

32	 OTHER OPERATING REVENUE FROM NON-INSURANCE BUSINESSES

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue from non-insurance businesses:				  
				  
-  management fee income		  370	 1,785	 1,866	 4,325
-  unit trust fund management fee income		  26,074	 23,666	 -	 -
-  unit trust fund initial service fee		  11,957	 15,456	 -	 -
-  interest income from hire purchase, leasing and other credit activities	 3,116	 485	 -	 -
-  others		  2,391	 2,105	 -	 -

			   43,908	 43,497	 1,866	 4,325
					   
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)

							       GROUP
	
						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Revenue from non-insurance businesses:				  
				  
-  security service charges				    11,286	 18,760
-  others				    -	 1,334

					     11,286	 20,094
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33	 NET INSURANCE/TAKAFUL BENEFITS AND CLAIMS

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS   
			    		  GROUP

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000

			 
(a)	 Gross benefits and claims paid			 
			 
	 Insurance/takaful contracts:			 
	   General fund (Note 17(b)(i))		  (51,055)	 (46,032)
	   Life fund		  -	 (3,409)
	   General takaful fund (Note 17(d)(i))		  (48,810)	 (32,508)
	   Family takaful fund		  (84,879)	 (51,362)

			   (184,744)	 (133,311)
			 
(b)	 Claims ceded to reinsurers/retakaful			 
			 
	 Insurance/takaful contracts:			 
	   General fund (Note 17(b)(i))		  28,451	 32,606
	   Life fund		  -	 3,515
	   General takaful fund (Note 17(d)(i))		  32,808	 17,938
	   Family takaful fund		  20,634	 13,418

			   81,893	 67,477
			 
 (c)	 Gross change to contract liabilities			 
			 
	 Insurance/takaful contracts:			 
	   General fund		  (49,298)	 (3,519)
	   Life fund		  3,283	 52,046
	   General takaful fund		  (15,348)	 (31,042)
	   Family takaful fund		  (52,293)	 (44,915)

			   (113,656)	 (27,430)
			 
(d)	 Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers/retakaful			 
			 
	 Insurance/takaful contracts:			 
	   General fund		  43,503	 (8,210)
	   Life fund		  -	 -
	   General takaful fund		  18,601	 28,295
	   Family takaful fund		  4,486	 (2,645)

			   66,590	 17,440
			 

			   (149,917)	 (75,824)
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33	 NET INSURANCE/TAKAFUL BENEFITS AND CLAIMS (CONTINUED)

	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
					     GROUP

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000

		
(a)	 Gross benefits and claims paid		
		
	 Insurance contracts:		
	   General fund		  -	 (215,776)
	   Life fund		  (3,749)	 (942,769)

			   (3,749)	 (1,158,545)
		
(b)  	 Claims ceded to reinsurers		
		
	 Insurance contracts:		
	   General fund		  -	 82,277
	   Life fund		  -	 8,351

			   -	 90,628
		
(c)	 Gross change to contract liabilities		
		
	 Insurance contracts:		
	   General fund		  -	 (42,388)
	   Life fund		  1,587	 153,662

			   1,587	 111,274
		
(d)	 Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers		
		
	 Insurance contracts:		
	   General fund		  -	 (6,563)
	   Life fund		  -	 688

			   -	 (5,875)

		
			   (2,162)	 (962,518)
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34	 MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS
					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Staff costs (including Executive Directors):				  
- salaries and bonus	 46,420	 40,413	 10,441	 8,541
- defined contribution retirement benefits	 5,106	 3,526	 616	 916

		  51,526	 43,939	 11,057	 9,457
				  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	 3,257	 1,622	 410	 317
Amortisation of intangible assets	 1,996	 1,915	 64	 88
Amortisation of leases	 2	 -	 -	 -
Auditors’ remuneration				  
- statutory audit	 551	 482	 99	 90
- under provision in prior financial year	 20	 29	 -	 20
Auditors’ remuneration payable/paid to other audit firms	 40	 22	 -	 -
Fees paid to a company in which certain Directors have an interest	 296	 337	 171	 206
Write-back of doubtful debts on trade and other receivables	 41	 176	 -	 -
Allowance for/(write-back of) impairment loss on insurance receivables	 1,546	 (1,562)	 -	 -
Bad debts written off	 166	 6	 -	 -
Office rental	 3,954	 1,436	 555	 688
Rental of office equipment	 139	 133	 52	 91
Agency and staff training expenses	 2,967	 1,878	 31	 64
Repairs and maintenance	 1,357	 771	 90	 -
EDP expenses	 2,997	 2,174	 75	 34
Advertising, promotional and entertainment expenses	 6,611	 4,100	 622	 783
Motor vehicle, accommodation and travelling  expenses	 3,348	 2,579	 1,142	 861
Printing and stationery	 2,553	 2,143	 57	 53
Postage, telephone and fax	 1,943	 1,724	 39	 249
Professional fees	 8,605	 2,354	 1,112	 369
Amortisation of capitalised MTNs issue expenses	 -	 1,949	 -	 1,949
Realised foreign exchange loss/(gain)	 494	 434	 (5)	 -
Unrealised foreign exchange loss	 968	 664	 -	 -
Staff amenities	 752	 795	 257	 353
Office expenses	 222	 163	 114	 43
Electricity and water	 245	 350	 50	 62
Visa fees, outsourcing fees and other direct costs payable for debit 
  cards operations	 1,084	 -	 -	 -
Credit card charges	 1,133	 736	 -	 -
Manage care organisation fees	 1,703	 952	 -	 -
Retirement benefit fund contributed to MAAKER	 856	 749	 828	 730
Others	 20,520	 16,787	 2,774	 1,075

		  121,892	 89,837	 19,594	 17,582
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34	 MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Staff costs (including Executive Directors):				  
- salaries and bonus			   9,845	 75,085
- defined contribution retirement benefits			   571	 10,192

				    10,416	 85,277
				  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			   397	 9,051
Amortisation of intangible assets			   -	 1,378
Auditors’ remuneration				  
- statutory audit			   30	 357
Fees paid to a company in which certain Directors have an interest			   1	 153
Write-back of impairment loss on insurance receivables			   -	 (2,504)
Bad debts written off			   1	 -
Office rental			   430	 11,207
Rental of office equipment			   -	 991
Training expenses			   80	 1,580
Repairs and maintenance			   50	 5,851
EDP expenses			   26	 4,924
Advertising, promotional and entertainment expenses			   53	 7,514
Motor club expenses			   -	 2,078
Motor vehicle and travelling expenses			   707	 3,418
Printing and stationery			   69	 5,105
Postage, telephone and fax			   124	 3,193
Management fees			   -	 1,200
Others			   1,934	 18,576

				    14,318	 159,349
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34	 MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

	 Emoluments received by Directors of the Group during the financial year were:

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS
					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Executive Directors:
- salaries	 4,985	 4,588	 3,480	 3,252
- bonus	 2,468	 2,220	 1,970	 1,796
- defined contribution retirement benefits	 1,111	 1,171	 817	 910
					   
Non-executive Directors:
- fees		 914	 868	 241	 311
- other emoluments	 221	 248	 98	 120

		  9,699	 9,095	 6,606	 6,389
						    

	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000

Executive Directors:				  
- salaries			   44	 475
- bonus			   14	 193
- defined contribution retirement benefits			   6	 89
- other emoluments			   1	 1
				  
Non-executive Directors:				  
- fees				   65	 277
- other emoluments			   -	 54

				    130	 1,089
				  
	 The estimated monetary value of benefits provided to Directors during the financial year by way of usage of the Group’s and Company’s 

assets amounted to RM178,100 (2011: RM197,000) and RM93,100 (2011: RM102,300) respectively.

	 The Directors of the Company in office during the financial year were as follows:

Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah
Muhamad Umar Swift
Yeo Took Keat
Datuk Seri Razman Md Hashim bin Che Din Md Hashim 
Tan Sri Ahmad bin Mohd Don
Tunku Yahaya @ Yahya bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah
Dato’ Jaffar Indot (Appointed on 5 September 2012)
Dato’ Narendrakumar Jasani A/L Chunilal Rugnath (Appointed on 5 September 2012)
Onn Kien Hoe (Appointed on 5 September 2012)
Major General Datuk Lai Chung Wah (Rtd) (Resigned on 5 September 2012)
General Dato’ Sri Hj Suleiman bin Mahmud RMAF (Rtd) (Resigned on 5 September 2012)
Dato’ Sri Iskandar Michael bin Abdullah (Resigned on 16 July 2012)
Dr Zaha Rina Zahari (Resigned on 1 July 2012)
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35	 OTHER OPERATING INCOME/(EXPENSES) – NET

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS
					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Property, plant and equipment written off	 (626)	 (253)	 (179)	 (3)
Commission paid and payable to unit trust agents	 (16,027)	 (18,564)	 -	 -
Bad debts recovered	 160	 305	 -	 -
Waiver of debts	 -	 598	 -	 -
Impairment loss on investments in subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 (2,350)	 (126,106)
Write-back of/(allowance for) impairment loss on amounts due 
  from subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 2,245	 (46,541)
Allowance for impairment loss on goodwill from acquisition of subsidiary 
  company (Note 42(b))	 (6,838)	 -	 -	 -
Negative goodwill from acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 42(a))	 80	 -	 -	 -
Waiver of debt from commutation of general insurance reinsurance treaties	 14,791	 -	 -	 -
Provision for contingent liabilities of an associated company	 (14,435)	 -	 -	 -
Others	 7,506	 2,597	 196	 914

		  (15,389)	 (15,317)	 (88)	 (171,736)

								      
	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000

				  
Bad debts recovered			   -	 277
Gain from commutation of life insurance reinsurance treaties			   -	 37,708
Others			   (94)	 1,405

				    (94)	 39,390
				  

	
36	 FINANCE COSTS
	
	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS
					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Interest on bank overdrafts	 418	 856	 -	 -
Hire purchase interest	 -	 6	 -	 1
Interest on Medium Term Notes	 -	 5,567	 -	 5,567
Bank guarantee commission	 -	 3,110	 -	 3,110
Interest on revolving credit	 -	 974	 -	 974
Restructuring fee	 -	 3,800	 -	 3,800
Others	 2	 115	 2	 115

		  420	 14,428	 2	 13,567
					   
	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
							       GROUP

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Interest on bank overdrafts			   2	 8
Hire purchase interest			   18	 34

				    20	 42

	 The interest rates charged for Medium Term Notes, revolving credit and bank overdrafts are disclosed in Notes 19, 20 and 21 to the financial 
statements respectively.
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37	 TAXATION 

	 CONTINUING OPERATIONS
						      GROUP 

	 Share-			   General	 Family
	 holders’	 General	 Life	 takaful	 takaful
	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

31.12.2012						    
						    
Current tax	 2,906	 -	 -	 3,327	 2,002	 8,235
Deferred tax (Note 14)	 939	  (181)	 -	 -	 475	 1,233

Tax expenses/(income)	 3,845	 (181)	 -	 3,327	 2,477	 9,468
						    
Current tax						    
						    
Current financial year	 2,918	 -	 -	 2,388	 2,002	 7,308
Under/(over) provision in prior financial years	 (12)	 -	 -	 939	 -	 927
		  2,906	 -	 -	 3,327	 2,002	 8,235
						    
Deferred tax						    
						    
Origination and reversal of temporary 
  differences	 949	 (181)	 -	 -	 475	 1,243
Over provision in prior financial years	 (10)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (10)
		  939	 (181)	 -	 -	 475	 1,233
						    
		  3,845	 (181)	 -	 3,327	 2,477	 9,468
						    
31.12.2011						    
						    
Current tax	 2,205	 (87)	 -	 699	 1,257	 4,074
Deferred tax (Note 14)	 2,381	 428	 -	 -	 124	 2,933

Tax expenses	 4,586	 341	 -	 699	 1,381	 7,007
						    
Current tax						    
						    
Current financial year	 2,181	 -	 -	 699	 1,257	 4,137
Under/(over) provision in prior financial years	 24	 (87)	 -	 -	 -	 (63)
		  2,205	 (87)	 -	 699	 1,257	 4,074
						    
Deferred tax						    
						    
Origination and reversal of temporary
  differences	 2,381	 428	 -	 -	 124	 2,933
						    
		  4,586	 341	 -	 699	 1,381	 7,007
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37	 TAXATION (CONTINUED)
	
	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 38)
						      GROUP

			   Share-
			   holders’ 	 General	 Life
			   fund	 fund	  fund	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31.12.2012				  
				  
Current tax			   168	 -	 -	 168
Deferred tax (Note 14)			   (15)	 -	 -	 (15)

Tax expenses			   153	 -	 -	 153
				  
Current tax				  
					   
Current financial year			   168	 -	 -	 168
				  
Deferred tax				  
				  
Origination and reversal of temporary differences			   (15)	 -	 -	 (15)
				  
				    153	 -	 -	 153
				  
31.12.2011				  
					   
Current tax			   4,123	 21,550	 (13,853)	 11,820
Deferred tax (Note 14)			   (270)	 (1,979)	 (554)	 (2,803)

Tax expenses/(income)			   3,853	 19,571	 (14,407)	 9,017
				  
Current tax				  
				  
Current financial year			   3,041	 17,286	 18,398	 38,725
Under/(over) provision in prior financial years			   1,082	 4,264	 (32,251)	 (26,905)
				    4,123	 21,550	 (13,853)	 11,820
				  
Deferred tax				  
				  
Origination and reversal of temporary differences			   (258)	 (1,979)	 (554)	 (2,791)
Over provision in prior financial years			   (12)	 -	 -	 (12)
				    (270)	 (1,979)	 (554)	 (2,803)
				  
				    3,853	 19,571	 (14,407)	 9,017
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37	 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

								      
						      COMPANY

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000
		

Deferred tax (Note 14)			   120	 (8)
		
Deferred tax		
		
Origination and reversal of temporary differences			   120	 (8)
			 

		
	 Numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate:

					     GROUP		  COMPANY

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    %	 %	 %	 %

Malaysian tax rate	 25	 25	 25	 25
				  
Tax effects of:				  
- expenses not deductible for tax purposes	 10	 4	 (25)	 (25)
- income not taxable for tax purposes	 (49)	 (15)	 -	 -
- tax losses not recognised	 1	 1	 -	 -
- benefits from previously unrecognised deductible temporary differences	 2	 -	 -	 -
- benefits from current financial year deductible temporary differences	 1	 -	 -	 -
- effects of different tax rates in foreign jurisdictions	 20	 1	 -	 -
- over provision in prior financial year	 -	 4	 -	 -

Average effective tax rate	 10	 20	 -	 -	
	

	
	 The taxation charge in the income statement of the Group relates to income attributable to the Company and the Group’s General and 

Shareholders’ funds.

	 The taxation charge on the Group’s Life fund, General takaful fund and Family takaful fund was based on the method prescribed under the 
Income Tax Act, 1967 .
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38	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

GROUP				  
					     Restated
			   Note	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Gross earned premiums	 27(a)	 3,453	 1,044,057
Premiums ceded to reinsurers	 27(b)	 (258)	 (53,422)

Net earned premiums	 	 3,195	 990,635
			 
Investment income	 28	 563	 237,112
Realised gains and losses	 29	 67,120	 108,168
Fair value gains and losses	 30	 (942)	 (52,057)
Fee and commission income	 31	 135	 24,014
Other operating revenue from non-insurance businesses	 32	 11,286	 20,094

Other revenue	 	 78,162	 337,331
			 
Gross benefits and claims paid	 33(a)	 (3,749)	 (1,158,545)
Claims ceded to reinsurers	 33(b)	 -	 90,628
Gross change to contract liabilities	 33(c)	 1,587	 111,274
Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers	 33(d)	 -	 (5,875)

Net insurance benefits and claims	 	 (2,162)	 (962,518)
			 
Fee and commission expense		  (450)	 (124,721)
Management expenses	 34	 (14,318)	 (159,349)
Other operating (expenses)/income – net	 35	 (94)	 39,390
Finance costs	 36	 (20)	 (42)

Other expenses	 	 (14,882)	 (244,722)
			 
Surplus/profit before taxation	 	 64,313	 120,726
			 
Taxation of life insurance fund	 37	 -	 14,407
			 
Profit before taxation	 	 64,313	 135,133
			 
Taxation	 37	 (153)	 (23,424)
			 
Profit for the financial year     	 	 64,160	 111,709
			 
			 
COMPANY	 		
			 
Realised gain from disposal of subsidiary company	 41(a)	 55,776	 236,568
			 

			 
	 The financial results of Discontinued Operations relate to subsidiary companies that been disposed during the financial year as disclosed 

in Note 41 to the financial statements. The comparatives have been restated to include the financial results of those disposed subsidiary 
companies.
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39	 DIVIDENDS
	
	 The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

	
40	 BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE - GROUP

	 The basic earnings per ordinary share have been calculated by dividing the Group’s total net profit from continuing and discontinued 
operations after non-controlling interests as stated below over the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue 
during the financial year of 304,354,000 shares (31.12.2011: 304,354,000 shares). 

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000
		

(Loss)/profit for the financial year from continuing operations after non-controlling interests			  (21,683)	 3,008
Profit for the financial year from discontinued operations			   64,160	 111,709

				    42,477	 114,717

41	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

(a)	 On 30 September 2011, the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, MAA Corporation Sdn Bhd (“MAA Corp”), completed the 
disposal of MAA, Multioto Services Sdn Bhd, Malaysian Alliance Property Services Sdn Bhd, Maagnet Systems Sdn Bhd and Maagnet-
SSMS Sdn Bhd (hereinafter collectively known as the “Disposed Subsidiaries”) to Zurich, for a total cash consideration of RM344.0 
million (“the Disposal”) as further disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial statements.

 
	 Following the completion of the Disposal, these companies ceased to be subsidiary companies of the Group.
 
	 Details of the disposal are as follows:

GROUP	 At date of disposal
		  RM’000
	
Property, plant and equipment	 270,853
Investment properties	 507,553
Intangible assets	 4,669
Investments	 5,622,437
Insurance receivables	 85,158
Trade and other receivables	 166,789
Tax recoverable	 415
Cash and cash equivalents	 736,146
Insurance contract liabilities – net of reinsurance assets	 (5,923,325)
Insurance payables	 (996,280)
Current tax liabilities	 (146,872)
Deferred tax liabilities	 (32,407)
		  (19,875)
Net assets	 275,261
Net disposal proceeds(1)	 (360,344)
Related selling expenses	 1,921

Gain on disposal to the Group (Note 29)	 (83,162)
	
The net cash flow on disposal was determined as follows:	
	
Net cash received less related selling expenses	 178,295
Cash and cash equivalents of disposed subsidiary companies	 (736,146)

Cash outflow to the Group on disposal	 (557,851)

(1)	The net disposal proceeds of the Group are derived from a total consideration of RM430,034,000 comprised of the sale consideration 
of RM344,000,000, and an upward adjustment of RM86,034,000 million being the difference between the aggregate value of the 
Disposed Subsidiaries as at 30 September 2010 and the final aggregate value as at 30 September 2011 based on the draft completion 
accounts and statement of aggregate net assets value of the Disposed Subsidiaries received from Zurich on 30 December 2011, 
less an amount of RM69,690,000 held back to address certain issues relating to the satisfaction and fulfillment of certain condition 
precedents in the SPA with Zurich.
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41	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Details of the disposal are as follows: (continued)
		

COMPANY	 At date of disposal
		  RM’000
	
Cost of investment	 110,981
Net disposal proceeds	 (356,231)
Related selling expenses	 8,682

Gain on disposal to the Company (Note 38)	 (236,568)
	
The net cash flow on disposal was determined as follows:	
	
Net cash received less related selling expenses	 168,315

	 During the current financial year ended 31 December 2012, the Group and Company recognised an additional gain of RM50.7 million 
from the receipt of held back sums from the sale consideration of MAA after satisfaction of certain condition precedents as stipulated 
in the SPA and a further gain of RM5.3 million arising from a subsequent upward adjustment to the sale consideration of MAA due to 
an overstatement of Life fund liabilities in the draft completion accounts prepared by Zurich, as disclosed in Note 54(a) to the financial 
statements.

(b)	 On 28 June 2012, MAA Corp completed the disposal of its 100% equity interest in Wira Security Services Sdn Bhd (“Wira”) for a total 
cash consideration of RM7.0 million, as disclosed in Note 54(c) to the financial statements.

	 Following the completion of the disposal, Wira ceased to be subsidiary company of the Group.
	
	 Details of the disposal are as follows:

GROUP	 At date of disposal
		  RM’000
	
Property, plant and equipment	 936
Investments	 2
Trade and other receivables	 4,762
Tax recoverable	 1
Cash and cash equivalents	 3,227
Trade and other payables	 (2,605)
Deferred tax liabilities	 (103)
	
Net assets	 6,220
Net disposal proceeds	 (7,000)
Related selling expenses	 87

Gain on disposal to the Group (Note 29)	 (693)
	
The net cash flow on disposal was determined as follows:	
	
Net cash received less related selling expenses	 6,913
Cash and cash equivalents of disposed subsidiary company	 (3,227)

Cash inflow to the Group on disposal	 3,686
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41	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

(c)	 On 16 August 2012, MAA International Assurance Ltd (“MAAIA”), a wholly owned subsidiary company of MAA Corp, completed the 
disposal of its 99.5% equity interest in PT MAA Life Assurance (“PT MAAL”) for a final sale consideration of IDR23.56 billion (equivalent 
to approximately RM7.79 million) to Tokio Marine Holdings, Inc, as disclosed in Note 54(d) to the financial statements.

	 Following the completion of the disposal, PT MAAL ceased to be subsidiary company of the Group.
	  
	 Details of the disposal are as follows:

GROUP	 At date of disposal
		  RM’000
	
Property, plant and equipment	 1,706
Investments	 15,381
Insurance receivables	 190
Trade and other receivables	 2,780
Deferred tax assets	 186
Cash and cash equivalents	 489
Insurance contract liabilities	 (20,630)
Insurance payables	 (407)
Trade and other payables	 (2,713)
	
Net liabilities	 (3,018)
Net disposal proceeds	 (7,786)
Related selling expenses	 -

Gain on disposal to the Group (Note 29)	 (10,804)
	
The net cash flow on disposal was determined as follows:	
	
Net cash received less related selling expenses	 7,787
Cash and cash equivalents of disposed subsidiary company	 (489)

Cash inflow to the Group on disposal	 7,298
	

(d)	 On 5 December 2012, MAA Corp disposed 385,000 ordinary shares representing 11% of the issued and fully paid up ordinary 
shares and the 153 redeemable preference shares representing 100% of the issued and fully paid up redeemable preference shares 
in Meridian Asset Management Holdings Sdn Bhd (“MAM”) respectively to NTY Enterprise Sdn Bhd, for a total cash consideration of 
Ringgit Malaysia Ten (RM10) only, as disclosed in Note 54(i) to the financial statements.

 
	 Upon completion of the disposal, MAM has ceased to be a subsidiary company is treated as an associated company of the Group.

	 The loss of control is deemed a partial disposal of subsidiary and the investment retained in MAM is recognised at fair value in 
accordance with MFRS 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’, resulting in a gain of RM1.1 million in the income 
statement of the Group as disclosed in Note 29 to the financial statements.
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42	 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

(a)	 On 2 October 2012, MAA Credit Berhad (“MAA Credit”), a wholly owned subsidiary of MAA Corp, had exercised of its power of attorney 
pursuant to memorandum of deposit shares in Keris Murni Sdn Bhd (“KMSB”) and Pusat Tuisyen Kasturi Sdn Bhd (“PTKSB”) (“the 
Security Shares”) dated 1 October 2009 signed with Famous Vertex Sdn Bhd (“FVSB”), and transferred all the Security Shares to itself, 
as disclosed in Note 54(g) to the financial statements.  

	 The acquisition formed part of debt recovery action taken to enforce the Security Shares after FVSB had defaulted the loan (both 
principal and interest) due to MAA Credit. 

	 Consequently, KMSB and PTKSB become 70% owned subsidiary companies of MAA Credit on 2 October 2012.

	 The following table summarises the consideration paid for KMSB and PTKSB, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities consumed, 
cash flows and the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date.

		  RM’000
	

Consideration transferred	
	
Fair value of Security Shares 	 662
	
Details of the share of net assets/(liabilities) acquired are as follows:	
	
Property, plant and equipment	 203
Trade and other receivables	 1,824
Tax recoverable	 261
Cash and cash equivalents	 1,229
Trade and other payables	 (2,108)
Current tax liabilities	 (310)
Deferred tax liabilities	 (39)
Total net assets	 1,060
Non-controlling interests	 (318)

Total net assets acquired	 742
	
Negative goodwill from acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 35)	 (80)
	
Purchase consideration	 662
Cash and cash equivalents acquired	 (1,229)

Net cash inflow on acquisition	 (567)
	

	 KMSB contributed an operating revenue of RM605,000 with a loss after taxation of RM628,000 to the Group for the financial year from 
the date of acquisition, while PTKSB contributed an operating revenue of RM568,000 with a loss after taxation of RM519,000 to the 
Group for the financial year from the date of acquisition. 

	 Had the business combination taken place at the beginning of the financial year, the Group’s operating revenue would have shown a 
pro-forma operating revenue of RM523,009,000 and profit after taxation of RM36,675,000 for the financial year.
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42	 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

(b)	 On 26 November 2012, MAA Credit acquired 290,002 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each representing 100% equity interest in Nilam 
Timur Sdn Bhd (“Nilam Timur”) from Ahmad Nor Shaffuddin bin Ahmad Baharuddin and Rozeeta Binti Ahmad Baharuddin for a total 
cash consideration of RM10.00, as disclosed in Note 54(h) to the financial statements.  

	 The acquisition formed part of debt recovery action taken by MAA Credit for a loan due by Nilam Timur. MAA Credit intends to sell Nilam 
Timur which has the sub-lease on lands to any interested party to recover the loan.

	 The following table summarises the consideration paid for Nilam Timur, the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities consumed and cash 
flows at the acquisition date.

		  RM’000
	

Consideration transferred 	
	
Cash  	 -(*)

	
Details of the share of net assets/(liabilities) acquired are as follows:	
	
Property, plant and equipment	 2,187
Investments	 700
Trade and other payables	 (9,725)

Total net liabilities assumed	 (6,838)
	
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiary company that has been impaired (Note 35)	 6,838
	
Purchase consideration	 -(*)

Cash and cash equivalent acquired	 -

Net cash inflow on acquisition	 -
	

	

	 (*) Denotes RM10.

	 There was no operating revenue contributed by Nilam Timur and the Group incurred a loss after taxation of RM69,000 for the financial 
year from the date of acquisition.

	
	 There are no effects to the Group’s revenue and profit after taxation had the business combination taken place at the beginning of 

financial year as Nilam Timur is a dormant company.
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43	 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS 

	 During the financial year, the Group made prior year adjustments for errors in the previous years’ financial results of PT MAA General 
Assurance (“PT MAAG”), an insurance subsidiary of the Group in Indonesia, and for changes in relation to the transition from FRS to MFRS. 
Details of the prior year adjustments are as follows:

	 PT MAAG

	 During the financial year, further to an exercise conducted by management of the Company and the Group’s Internal Audit team on PTMAAG, 
in relation to the differences noted between the receivables and payables sub-ledger and the general ledger,  various errors were detected 
in the financial statements of PT MAAG, a number of which were in relation to prior years.  

	 As a consequence of the above, prior year adjustments (“referred to as PYA (i)”) have now been made in the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group for the following items, in accordance with MRFS 108 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’: 

						      2011	 Prior years
						      RM’000	 RM’000
			 

1.	 Under accrual of reinstatement premiums 			   (10,140)	 (6,489)
2.	 Agents’ commission paid but not charged out as commission expense 			   (1,248)	 (831)
3.	 Claims paid but not charged out as claim expenses			   (934)	 599
4.	 Overprovision for claim reserves			   1,893	 398
5.	 Claim expenses recognised in incorrect financial periods			   (9,401)	 (5,458)
6.	 Over provision of tax payable			   -	 158
7.	 Under accrual of unearned premium reserves			   (160)	 -

				    (19,990)	 (11,623)
			 

Transition from FRS to MFRS

The effects of the Group’s and Company’s transition to MFRSs, described in Note 2.1 to the financial statements, is summarised as follows:

(a)	 MFRS 1 mandatory exceptions

	 MFRS estimates – MFRS estimates as at transition date are consistent with the estimates as at the same date made in conformity with 
FRS.

(b)	 MFRS 1 exemption options

	 Exemption for business combination

	 MFRS 1 provides the option to apply MFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ prospectively for business combinations that occurred from the 
transition date or from a designated date prior to the transition date. This provides relief from full retrospective application that would 
require restatement of all business combinations prior to the transition date or from a designated date prior to the transition date. The 
Group has elected to apply MFRS prospectively to business combinations that occurred after 1 January 2011. Business combinations 
that occurred prior to 1 January 2011 have not been restated. The Group has also applied MFRS 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements’ from the same date.

(c)	 Explanation of transition from FRSs to MFRSs

	 Following the transition to MFRS Framework, Qardhal Hassan, being a benevolent loan extended by the Shareholder’s fund of MAA 
Takaful Berhad, ceased to be recognised as an asset in the financial statements of the Group and the Company. This is a change to 
the accounting policy and consequently, the Group accounted for this change as a prior year adjustment (“referred to as PYA (ii)”) as 
follows:

						      2011	 Prior years
						      RM’000	 RM’000
		

	 Qardhal Hassan adjustments, net of tax			   7,387	 (16,113)
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43	 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Transition from FRS to MFRS (continued)

	 The effects of the Group’s and Company’s transition to MFRSs, described in Note 2.1 to the financial statements, is summarised as follows: 
(continued)

	 MFRS 1 requires an entity to reconcile equity, total comprehensive income and cash flows for prior periods. The following tables represent 
the reconciliations from FRSs to MFRS for the respective periods noted for equity and total comprehensive income.

	 The transition from FRS to MFRS has no effect on the reconciliation of equity and reconciliation of total comprehensive income of the 
Company and on the reported cash flows generated by the Group and Company.

	 The above adjustments do not have any impact to the cashflows of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

(i)	 Reconciliation of equity attributable to the Owner of the Company

						      GROUP

					     As at 	 As at
					     1 January 2011	 31 December 2011
					     (date of transition) 	  	

				    RM’000	 RM’000
		
Equity as reported under FRS				    286,645	 412,779
Less: Transitioning adjustments				    (12,084)	 (6,544)

Equity on transition to MFRS				    274,561	 406,235
		

(ii)	 Reconciliation of total comprehensive income attributable to the Owner of the Company

						      GROUP

					     Financial 
					     year ended	 Financial year	

				   31 December 2010/	 ended 	
				    1 January 2011	 31 December 2011

					     (date of transition) 		
				    RM’000	 RM’000	
	

Total comprehensive income as reported under FRS				   25,419	 126,134
Add/(less): Transitioning adjustments				    (12,084)	 5,540

Total comprehensive income upon transition to MFRS			   13,335	 131,674
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43	 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 The following tables disclose the effects of PYA (i) and PYA (ii) to each of the line items in the Group’s statement of financial position as at 1 
January 2011 and 31 December 2011:

	 Statement of financial position
							       1.1.2011

				    As
				    previously	 Effects of	 Effect of	 Restated
				    reported	 PYA (i)	 PYA (ii)	 balance
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Assets	 			 
	

					   
Insurance/takaful receivables	 68,807	 (232)	 -	 68,575
Trade and other receivables	 56,310	 -	 (16,644)	 39,666
Tax recoverable	 4,554	 158	 -	 4,712
Deferred tax assets	 1,602	 -	 531	 2,133
					   
Liabilities	 			 

	
					   
Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 517,350	 5,060	 -	 522,410
Insurance/takaful payables	 58,899	 6,489	 -	 65,388
					   
Equity	 			 

	
					   
Accumulated losses	 (16,728)	 (9,648)	 (12,084)	 (38,460)
Non-controlling interests	 33,339	 (1,975)	 (4,029)	 27,335
					   
					   
					   

31.12.2011

				    As
				    previously	 Effects of	 Effect of	 Restated
				    reported	 PYA (i)	 PYA (ii)	 balance
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Assets	 			 

	
					   
Insurance/takaful receivables	 84,130	 (2,574)	 -	 81,556
Trade and other receivables	 218,666	 -	 (8,833)	 209,833
Tax recoverable	 3,405	 158	 -	 3,563
Deferred tax assets	 677	 -	 107	 784
					   
Liabilities	 			 

	
					   
Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 495,922	 12,568	 -	 508,490
Insurance/takaful payables	 79,463	 16,629	 -	 96,092
					   
Equity	 			 

	
					   
Retained earnings	 109,041	 (26,240)	 (6,544)	 76,257
Non-controlling interests	 35,527	 (5,373)	 (2,182)	 27,972
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43	 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 The following tables disclose the effects of PYA (i) and PYA (ii) to each of the line items in the Group’s income statement for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011:

	 Income Statement
					     31.12.2011

			   As 
			   previously	 Reclassi-	 Effects of	 Effect of	 Restated
			   reported	 fication*	 PYA (i)	 PYA (ii)	 balance
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS				  
					   
Gross earned premiums/contributions	 378,230	 (15,867)	 (160)	 -	 362,203
					   
Premiums/contributions ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 (142,123)	 1,178	 (10,140)	 -	 (151,085)
					   
Investment income	 20,074	 (603)	 -	 -	 19,471
					   
Realised gains and losses	 12,273	 (1,694)	 -	 -	 10,579
					   
Fair value gains and losses	 (17,745)	 (105)	 -	 -	 (17,850)
					   
Fee and commission income	 32,671	 (353)	 -	 -	 32,318
					   
Other operating revenue from non-insurance businesses	 62,257	 (18,760)	 -	 -	 43,497
					   
Gross benefits and claims paid	 (149,462)	 17,735	 (1,584)	 -	 (133,311)
					   
Claims ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 66,827	 -	 650	 -	 67,477
					   
Gross change to contract liabilities	 28,190	 (3,197)	 (7,508)	 (44,915)	 (27,430)
					   
Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 20,085	 -	 -	 (2,645)	 17,440
					   
Fee and commission expenses	 (86,855)	 2,027	 (1,248)	 -	 (86,076)
					   
Management expenses	 (117,012)	 27,175	 -	 -	 (89,837)
					   
Other operating income/(expenses)-net	 (14,680)	 (637)	 -	 -	 (15,317)
					   
Finance costs	 (14,468)	 40	 -	 -	 (14,428)
					   
Taxation of life insurance, general takaful and family 
  takaful businesses	 (1,884)	 (196)	 -	 -	 (2,080)
					   
Surplus/(deficit) before taxation/ profit/(loss) before taxation	 76,028	 6,743	 (19,990)	 (47,560)	 15,221
					   
Surplus attributable to participants	 -	 -	 -	 (6,222)	 (6,222)
					   
Surplus retained in life insurance	 (63,046)	 -	 -	 61,593	 (1,453)
					   
Profit before taxation	 12,982	 6,743	 (19,990)	 7,811	 7,546
					   
Taxation	 (4,992)	 489	 -	 (424)	 (4,927)
					   
Profit from continuing operations	 7,802	 7,232	 (19,990)	 7,387	 2,431
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43	 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 The following tables disclose the effects of PYA (i) and PYA (ii) to each of the line items in the Group’s income statement for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011(continued):

	 Income Statements (continued)
							       31.12.2011

			   As 
			   previously	 Reclassi-	 Effects of	 Effect of	 Restated
			   reported	 fication*	 PYA (i)	 PYA (ii)	 balance
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS					   
	

Profit before taxation	 141,876	 (6,743)	 -	 -	 135,133
						    
Taxation	 (22,935)	 (489)	 -	 -	 (23,424)
						    
Profit from discontinued operations	 118,941	 (7,232)	 -	 -	 111,709
						    
Profit for the financial year	 126,743	 -	 (19,990)	 7,387	 114,140
						    
Profit from the financial year attributable to:					   

	
    Owners of the company	 125,769	 -	 (16,592)	 5,540	 114,717
    Non-controlling interests	 974	 -	 (3,398)	 1,847	 (577)

		  126,743	 -	 (19,990)	 7,387	 114,140
						    
						       
	 *Certain comparatives were reclassified to conform to the current financial year’s presentation of financial statements in respect of discontinued 

operations as disclosed in Note 38 to the financial statements.

44	 CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

	 Capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Authorised and contracted for:					   
  - property, plant and equipment		  1,948	 4,197	 -	 -
				  
Approved and not contracted for:				  
  - property, plant and equipment		  -	 3,251	 -	 1,311
				  
			   1,948	 7,448	 -	 1,311
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 45	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
	
	 Related parties and relationships

	 The subsidiary and associated companies of the Company are disclosed in Notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements respectively. The other 
related parties of, and their relationships with the Group and Company are as follows:

Related party

Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd

Melewar Khyra Sdn Bhd

Trace Management Services Sdn Bhd

Melewar Group Berhad

Melewar Industrial Group Berhad (“MIG”)

Melewar Apex Sdn Bhd

Melewar Integrated Engineering Sdn Bhd  

Melewar Steel Tube Sdn Bhd

MAA Bancwell Trustee Berhad (“MAA Bancwell”)

MAA Key Executive Retirement Scheme (“MAAKER”)

Relationship

Substantial shareholder of the Company

Substantial shareholder of the Company

Company controlled by certain Directors of the Company

Company controlled by certain Directors of the Company

Company controlled by certain Directors of the Company

A subsidiary company of MIG

A subsidiary company of MIG

A subsidiary company of MIG

An associated company of the Group

Retirement fund for the benefits of employees of the Group

	 Significant related party transactions

	 During the financial year, the Group and the Company undertook various transactions based on agreed terms and conditions with its 
subsidiary companies, associated companies and other companies deemed related parties as disclosed above.

	 The significant related party transactions during the financial year are as follows:

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Transactions with subsidiary companies:					   
				  

Interest income from advances to subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 2,047	 2,293
					  
Management fee income from subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 1,530	 3,136
					  
Rental expense payable to a subsidiary company–MAA (1)	 -	 -	 -	 (520)
					  
Transactions with related parties:				  

	
Rental income receivable by MAA (1) from:
  Trace Management Services Sdn Bhd	 -	 105	 -	 -
  Melewar Group Berhad	 -	 45	 -	 -
  Melewar Integrated Engineering Sdn Bhd	 -	 98	 -	 -
  Melewar Industrial Group Berhad	 -	 207	 -	 -
  Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd	 -	 75	 -	 -
					  
Rental income receivable from:
  Melewar Industrial Group Berhad	 73	 -	 -	 -
  Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd	 47	 -	 -	 -
					  
Office service charge income receivable from:				  
  Melewar Industrial Group Berhad	 11	 -		  -
  Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd	 7	 -		  -
					  
Retirement benefit fund contributed to MAAKER (3)	 (856)	 (749)	 (828)	 (730)
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45	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
	
	 Significant related party transactions (continued)
					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Transactions with related parties: (continued)				  
	

Security services fee receivable from:
  Mycron Steel Berhad	 87	 175	 -	 -
  Melewar Steel Tube Sdn Bhd	 70	 141	 -	 -
					  
Purchase of air tickets and travel packages from Mitra Malaysia Sdn Bhd (2)	 -	 (1,736)	 -	 (33)
					  
Company secretarial and related fees payable to Trace Management
  Services Sdn Bhd	 (297)	 (490)	 (171)	 (206)
					  
Transactions with associated companies:				  

	
Trustee fee payable by MAAKER to MAA Bancwell	 (30)	 (150)	 -	 -
					  
Management fee income receivable from MAA Bancwell 	 336	 1,189	 336	 1,189
					  
Rental income receivable by MAA from MAA Bancwell	 -	 39	 -	 -

(1) MAA ceased to be a subsidiary company subsequent to its disposal to Zurich on 30 September 2011.

(2) Ceased to be a related party on 8 June 2011.

		  (3) Ceased to be a related party when it was dissolved on 16 July 2012.

	 Related party receivables/payables

	 The balances with related parties at the financial year end are disclosed in Notes 13 and 23 to the financial statements. Other significant 
balances with other related parties at the financial year end are as disclosed below.

	 In addition, Executive Directors and key management personnel received remuneration for services rendered during the financial year. The 
total compensation paid to the Group and the Company’s Executive Directors and key management personnel as well as fees paid to 
Directors were as follows:

					     GROUP		  COMPANY
	
				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits	 10,084	 13,671	 5,882	 5,581
Defined contribution retirement benefits	 1,246	 4,201	 817	 910
		
			  11,330	 17,872	 6,699	 6,491

						    
	 The financial year end balances with key management personnel were as follows:

				    GROUP			   COMPANY 

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 

			 

Amounts receivable from mortgage loans	 96	 139	 187	 96	 139	 187

Amounts payable to a Director	 1,909	 1,950	 1,893	 -	 -	 -
							     

	 The amounts receivable from mortgage loans are secured against the properties pledged, with fixed repayment terms and bearing interest 
at the rates ranging from 5% to 8.5% per annum (31.12.2011: 5% to 8.5% per annum).

	 The amounts payable to a Director are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed terms of repayment.
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46	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

	 The following segment information has been prepared in accordance with MFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’, which defines the requirements 
for the disclosure of financial information of an entity’s operating segments. It is prepared on the basis of the “management approach”, which 
requires presentation of the segments on the basis of internal reports about the components of the entity which are regularly reviewed by the 
chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to a segment and to assess its performance.

	 The Group has six (6) operating segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic business units 
offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they employ different technology and marketing strategies. The 
operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Executive Committee of the Company 
(the chief operating decision maker). The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s operating segments:

•	 Life insurance – underwriting life insurance business, including investment-linked business

•	 General insurance – underwriting all classes of general insurance business

•	 Family takaful business – underwriting family takaful business

•	 General takaful business – underwriting general takaful business

•	 Unit trust fund management – management of unit trust funds

•	 Shareholders’ fund of the insurance and takaful businesses

	 Other segments comprise investment holding, hire purchase, leasing and other credit activities, property management and investment 
advising and consultancy services.

	 There are no changes in the operating segments during the financial year.
	
	 Measurement and Evaluation of Segment Performance

	 The Executive Committee evaluates operating segments’ performance on the basis of revenue and profit. Expenses directly associated 
with each operating segment are included in determining their respective profits. Transactions between operating segments are based 
on mutually agreed allocation bases. In addition to the operating segments, the segment information also discloses non inter-segment 
eliminations.
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46	 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

	 Geographical segments

	 The Group operates mainly in Malaysia, Indonesia, Philippines and Australia. In determining the geographical segments of the Group, 
revenues and non-current assets are based on the geographical location of customers.

		  External revenue	 Non-current assets

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Malaysia				  
- Continuing operations	 427,847	 360,155	 254,614	 195,970
- Discontinued operations	 15,302	 1,284,827	 -	 -
		
			  443,149	 1,644,982	 254,614	 195,970
Indonesia	 69,797	 81,332	 341	 1,189
Others	 98	 120	 -	 -

			  513,044	 1,726,434	 254,955	 197,159

47	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

	 The Group’s capital management underlying objective is to manage capital and to allocate capital efficiently for business growth taking into 
account the associated business risks to meet regulatory requirements, obligations to policyholders and the expectation of stakeholders.

	 The Company manages the capital of the Group to ensure that source of capital and the related costs meet the overall objectives of the 
capital plan. Excess capital generated from profits at the subsidiary level exceeding planned requirements is returned to the Company in the 
form of dividends under the Group’s capital management plan.

	 For the core insurance subsidiary companies, the performance of internal capital levels against the regulatory requirements are reviewed at 
least quarterly by their respective management and reported to their respective Risk Management Committees and the Boards as part of 
capital budgeting, planning and monitoring process. This measure is also implemented ahead at the takaful subsidiary company to ensure 
the takaful subsidiary company is Risk Based Capital ready.

48	 RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

	 Risk Governance Structure

	 The Group’s risk governance structure and risk reporting requirement is incorporated in the Group Risk Management Framework. The 
Framework explains the underlying approach and defined an ongoing and consistent process for identifying, analysing, evaluating, monitoring, 
reporting and managing significant risks faced by the business units in the Group. It also outlines the key aspects of the risks management 
process and identifies the main reporting procedures.

	 The Board through the Group Risk Management Committee is ultimately responsible for effective risk oversight and framework within the 
Group. The Group Risk Management Committee determines the remit, roles, resources and structure for risk management functions to 
operate effectively and efficiently. The core insurance and takaful subsidiary companies in the Group have their respective dedicated Risk 
Management teams to manage the risk management functions to comply with the applicable regulatory requirements. The Heads of Risk 
Management of the insurance subsidiary companies report directly to their respective Risk Management Committees, and indirectly to the 
Group Risk Management Committee.

	 The Group Risk Management Framework is premised with three lines of defence that serves as the guiding principles within the Group:

1.	 The Business Units acting as the “first line of defence” is primarily responsible for identifying, evaluating and managing risks within 
their Units. The Head of Business Units are responsible to implement and execute appropriate risk mitigation action plan on a timely 
manner. The Business Units are responsible to ensure the execution of appropriate risk reduction action plans on a timely manner. The 
priority should be accorded to mitigate high and significant risks in order to ensure that their day-to-day business activities are carried 
out within acceptable risk level.

2.	 The Risk Management teams acting as the “second line of defence” conducts risk oversight and supports the risk policies and 
framework that is approved by the Group Risk Management Committee. The Risk Management teams facilitates in assessing the 
adequacy of the internal control systems.

3.	 The Audit Committee’s key role, supported by the Internal Audit Department, as the “third line of defence” provides an independent 
assessment of the adequacy and reliability of the risk management processes and compliance among the Business Units with the risk 
policies, regulatory guidelines and Group’s procedures. 
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48	 RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (CONTINUED)

	 Risk Governance Structure (continued)

	 The Group has established within its risk management framework a structured approach to enterprise-wide risk management with risk 
management process which encompasses risk identification, risk evaluation, risk treatment and risk monitoring.

	 The Group has also established management committees in the subsidiary companies where applicable to act as platform for two-way 
communication between the Management and the Board. The management committees are Executive Committee, Business Committee, 
Family Takaful Management Committee, General Takaful Management Committee, Information Technology Committee and Investment 
Committee. These committees are responsible for overseeing the development and assessing the effectiveness of risk management policies, 
reviewing risk exposure and portfolio composition and ensuring that infrastructure, resources and systems are put in place for effective risk 
management activities.

49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK	

	 The risk underlying any insurance contract is the likelihood of the insured event occurring and the uncertainty in the amount of the resulting 
claims. This risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

	 For a portfolio of insurance contracts, the principal risk that the Group faces is that claims and benefit payments exceed the amount of 
insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated.  The actual number 
and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical estimation techniques.

	
(I)	 Life Insurance and Family Takaful Contracts 

	 Life insurance contracts offered by the Group include whole life, term assurance, endowments, annuity contracts, investment-link 
contracts and medical and health riders. Family takaful contracts offered by the Group include health, group family, mortgage and 
investment-linked. The Group currently does not offer any investment contracts with DPF.

The main risks that the Group is exposed to are the following:
•	 Mortality risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder’s death experience being different than expected
•	 Morbidity risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder’s health experience being different than expected
•	 Longevity risk – risk of loss arising due to the annuitants’ living longer than expected
•	 Investment return/Interest rate risk – risk of loss arising from actual returns being different than expected
•	 Expense risk – risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected
•	 Lapse risk – risk of loss arising due to policyholder surrender experience being different than expected	
	

	 These risks vary in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk insured or by industry.

	 The Group’s underwriting strategy is designed to ensure that risks are well diversified in terms of type of risk and level of insured 
benefits. This is broadly achieved through diversification across industry sectors and geography, the use of medical screening in 
order to ensure that product pricing reflects policyholders’ health conditions and family medical history, regular review of actual claims 
experience, as well as detailed claims procedures.

	 Life Insurance Contracts 

	 The table below shows the concentration of life insurance contract liabilities held by the Group by type of product for the overseas 
insurance subsidiary company:	

						      Gross Without DPF	
	
					     31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Life Contracts			 
  Whole life and endowment			   -	 10,404	 8,585
  Term – Mortgage			   -	 1,738	 1,279
  Term – Other plans			   -	 11,302	 9,367
  Term – Medical & Health			   -	 473	 809

Total life insurance contract liabilities			   -	 23,917	 20,040
			 

	 The above business were derived from Indonesia. Accordingly the entire life liabilities were in Indonesia. The subsidiary company was 
subsequently disposed during the current financial year as disclosed in Note 54(d) to the financial statements.

		  The above is shown gross-of-reinsurance basis as it assumed that reinsurance is neutral with respect to cash flows.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(I)	 Life Insurance and Family Takaful Contracts (continued)

Family Takaful Contracts

The table below shows the concentration of Family takaful contract liabilities, excluding available-for-sale reserve, by type of contract:

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011

				    Gross	 Retakaful	 Net	 Gross	 Retakaful	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
							     

Whole life			   501	 -	 501	 97	 -	 97
Endowment			   259,535	 (4)	 259,531	 203,527	 -	 203,527
Term				   47,608	 (13,788)	 33,820	 40,323	 (10,049)	 30,274

				    307,644	 (13,792)	 293,852	 243,947	 (10,049)	 233,898
							     

								      
						      1.1.2011

							       Gross	 Retakaful	 Net
							       RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

							     
Whole life						      13	 -	 13
Endowment						      153,108	 -	 153,108
Term							      38,761	 (17,198)	 21,563

							       191,882	 (17,198)	 174,684
							     

	 As all of the business is derived from Malaysia, the entire Family takaful contract liabilities are in Malaysia.

	 Key assumptions

	 Material judgment is required in determining the liabilities and in the choice of assumptions. Assumptions in use are based on past 
experience, current internal data, external market indices and benchmarks which reflect current observable market prices and other 
published information. Assumptions and prudent estimates are determined at the date of valuation and no credit is taken for possible 
beneficial effects of voluntary withdrawals. Assumptions are further evaluated on a continuous basis in order to ensure realistic and 
reasonable valuations.

The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are as follows:

i.	 Mortality Rates
	 Assumption is based on industry standard table – M9903 

ii.	 Morbidity Rates
	 Assumption is mainly based on reinsurer rates
	
iii.	 Investment Return
	 5% p.a. for participant Investment Account (PIA) and 3% p.a for Participant Risk Investment Account (PRIA)

iv.	 Expenses
	 Assumption varies by product type as follow:

	 Product Type	 RM per certificate

	 Investment-linked	 53
	 Ordinary Family	 40
	 Group Family	 4
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(I)	 Life Insurance and Family Takaful Contracts (continued)

Family Takaful Contracts (continued)

Key assumptions (continued)

v.	 Lapse and Surrender Rates
	 2% p.a. for Single Contribution certificates

	 For regular contribution certificates, lapse rate varies by Certificate Year as follows:

Plan

Certificate Year (%)

1 2 3 4+

Takafulink 25 15 10 3.5

Takafulink Education 15 10 10 3.5

Takafulife Series 25 20 10 3.5

CancerCare 30 45 20 3.5

SmartMedic 20 30 25 3.5

Term80 25 20 10 3.5

vi.	 Discount Rate
	 GII Spot rate as at date of statement of financial position.

	 Sensitivities

	 The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all other assumptions held constant, 
showing the impact on gross and net liabilities. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate 
claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had to be changed on an individual basis. 
It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-linear. Sensitivity information will also vary according to the current 
economic assumptions.	

		  Impact on Family takaful contract liabilities	
	

			  Change in			   Profit 
			  assumptions	 Gross	 Net	 before tax
			  %	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012				  
				  
Mortality/morbidity	 +10	 2,594	 686	 686
Lapse and surrender rates	 +10	 (17)	 165	 165
Discount rate	 +1	 (1,905)	 (2,572)	 (2,572)
				  
31 December 2011				  
				  
Mortality/morbidity	 +10	 1,606	 98	 98
Lapse and surrender rates	 +10	 (164)	 -	 -
Discount rate	 +1	 (74)	 (564)	 (564)
Expenses	 +10	 573	 573	 573
				  
1 January 2011				  
				  
Mortality/morbidity	 +10	 5,396	 5,301	 5,301
Lapse and surrender rates	 +10	 174	 174	 174
Discount rate	 +1	 (13)	 (13)	 (13)

	 There is minimal impact on the Family takaful contract liabilities in relation to changes made to longevity, expenses and investment 
return assumptions.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts 

	 Risks under general insurance and general takaful contracts usually cover a twelve-month duration. The risks inherent in general 
insurance and general takaful contracts are reflected in the insurance and takaful contract liabilities which include the premiums/
contributions and claims liabilities, as set out under Notes 17(b) and 17(d) of the financial statements. Premiums/contributions 
liabilities comprise of reserves for unexpired risks, while the claims liabilities comprise of loss reserves which include provision for both 
outstanding claims notified and outstanding claims incurred but not reported.

	 The Group manages its insurance risks for general insurance and general takaful contracts by having a clearly defined framework as 
follows:

•	 Writing a balanced mix and spread of business, geographically and between classes of business;
•	 Underwriting strategies focused on profitable lines of business are clearly articulated to stakeholders; 
•	 Underwriting authority limits for capacity are in place according to individual’s capacity in the underwriting process;
•	 Mitigating insurance risks through purchase of both proportional and non-proportional reinsurance and retakaful treaties; and
•	 Regular monitoring of claim experience and comparing actual experience against that implied in pricing.

General Insurance Contracts

	 The concentration of the general insurance contracts in relation to the type of insurance contracts accepted by the Group is as 
summarised below:

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011

					     Re-			   Re-
				    Gross	 insurance	 Net	 Gross	 insurance	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Fire				    58,201	 (37,848)	 20,353	 13,409	 (4,820)	 8,589
Motor vehicle			   1,904	 (11)	 1,893	 1,086	 (13)	 1,073
Marine Cargo, Aviation Cargo & Transit		 17,075	 (8,584)	 8,491	 9,580	 (6,061)	 3,519
Miscellaneous			   25,459	 (14,239)	 11,220	 16,481	 (6,165)	 10,316
				  
				    102,639	 (60,682)	 41,957	 40,556	 (17,059)	 23,497

Currency translation differences		  (6,565)	 5,600	 (965)	 217	 (120)	 97
	
				    96,074	 (55,082)	 40,992	 40,773	 (17,179)	 23,594
						    

							       1.1.2011

								        Re-
							       Gross	 insurance	 Net
							       RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

						    
Fire							       15,906	 (9,352)	 6,554
Motor vehicle						      2,351	 (30)	 2,321
Marine Cargo, Aviation Cargo & Transit					    13,359	 (10,291)	 3,068
Miscellaneous						      12,601	 (5,578)	 7,023

							       44,217	 (25,251)	 18,966
Currency translation differences					     (1,124)	 874	 (250)

							       43,093	 (24,377)	 18,716
						    

	 The comparatives concentration of the general insurance contracts was not restated to take into account the prior year adjustments 
disclosed in Note 43 to the financial statements as it is impractical to do so.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Insurance Contracts (continued)

	 Key assumptions

	 The risk inherent in general insurance contracts are reflected in the insurance contract liabilities which include the premium and claims 
liabilities, as set out under Note 17(b) of the financial statements. Premium liabilities comprise of reserves for unexpired risks, whilst 
claims liabilities comprise of loss reserves which include provisions for both outstanding claims notified and outstanding claims incurred 
but not reported.

	 Outstanding claims provisions are usually established by skilled claims personnel based upon their experience and knowledge, and 
known facts of individual claims at hand. The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial 
claims projection techniques, such as the Chain Ladder and Bornhuetter-Ferguson (BF) methods. The main assumption underlying 
these techniques is that past claims development experience can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate 
claims costs. As such, these methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses based upon past development patterns 
including the implicit underlying trends. The BF methods which tend to be more stable and the more preferred methods also require 
the input of initial expected loss ratios (“IELRs”) which usually are based upon past claims experience.

	 Thus, General insurance contract liabilities are normally determined based on previous claims experience, existing knowledge of events, 
the terms and conditions of the relevant policies and interpretation of circumstances. Of particular relevance is past experience with 
similar cases, historical claims development trends, legislation changes, judicial decisions, economic conditions and claims handling 
procedure. 

	 However, additional qualitative judgments are also used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for 
example, isolated occurrence, changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal 
factors, such as, portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures. Judgment is further used to assess the extent 
to which external factors, such as judicial decisions and government legislation affect the estimates. The estimates of the general 
insurance contract liabilities are therefore sensitive to various factors and uncertainties and the actual future premium and claims 
liabilities may not develop exactly as projected and could vary significantly from initial estimates. To increase the probability that the 
estimates would ultimately be adequate, provisions for adverse deviations are also included in the estimates. 

	 The Group further reduced its risk exposure through strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular detailed 
review of claims handling procedures and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent claims.  In addition, the Group enforces a policy 
of actively managing and prompt pursuing of claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future developments that can 
negatively impact the Group.

	 Sensitivities

	 The general insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions shown below. It has not been possible to quantify the 
sensitivity of certain assumptions, such as, legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.

	 For the Group’s continuing operations, the initial expected loss ratio is an important assumption in the BF estimation techniques.

	 Increasing the IELRs by 10% yields the following impact:

		  Impact on	
	

				   Change in	 Gross	 Net	 Profit 
				   assumptions	 liabilities	 liabilities	 before tax	 Equity
				   %	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012					   
					   
Initial expected loss ratios       	 +10%	 6,941	 2,95	 (2,095)	 (1,571)
					   
31 December 2011					   
					   
Initial expected loss ratios       	 +10%	 20,991	 13,557	 (1,232)	 (924)
					   
1 January 2011					   
					   
Initial expected loss ratios       	 +10%	 37,321	 30,788	 (2,799)	 (2,099)

					      
	 The method used in deriving sensitivity information and significant assumptions did not change from the previous period.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Insurance Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development Table
	
	 The following tables show the estimate of cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive 

accident year at each statement of financial position date, together with cumulative payments to date.

	 In setting provisions for claims, the Group gives consideration to the probability and magnitude of future experience being more 
adverse than assumed and exercises a degree of caution in setting reserves when there is considerable uncertainty. In general, 
the uncertainty associated with the ultimate claims experience in an accident year is greatest when the accident year is at an early 
stage of development and the margin necessary to provide the necessary confidence in adequacy of provision is relatively at its 
highest. As claims develop and the ultimate cost of claims becomes more certain, the relative level of margin maintained should 
decrease.	

			   Before
			   2006	 2006	 2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Accident year									       
At end of accident year   	 (6,929)	 (5,644)	 (8,811)	 (6,280)	 (18,090)	 (11,277)	 (8,875)	 (7,049)	
One year later		  (13,769)	 (12,234)	 (12,218)	 (11,605)	 (29,896)	 (21,362)	 (30,379)	 -	
Two years later		  (1,679)	 (2,055)	 (6,128)	 (11,350)	 (6,514)	 (7,090)	 -	 -	
Three years later		  (2,534)	 (1,455)	 (1,958)	 (157)	 (7,580)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later		  (4)	 (162)	 291	 (540)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later		  1	 (113)	 (1,982)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later		  (775)	 (27)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current payments to date	 -	 (27)	 (1,982)	 (540)	 (7,580)	 (7,090)	 (30,379)	 (7,049)	 (54,647)
									       

Currency translation differences									         3,592
									       
Gross benefits and claims paid									         (51,055)

			   Before
			   2006	 2006	 2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Accident year									       
At end of accident year   	 (5,413)	  (3,913)	 (6,960)	 (5,085)	 (11,845)	 (6,765)	 (5,326)	 (6,056)	
One year later		  (4,261)	   (3,377)	 (3,741)	 (3,787)	 (12,073)	 (5,078)	 (10,717)	 -	
Two years later		  (1,405)	 (1,514)	 (2,784)	 (5,813)	 (1,207)	 (2,175)	 -	 -	
Three years later		  (6)	 (1,369)	 (1,740)	 (37)	 (2,814)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later		  (5)	 (162)	 55	 (398)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later		  (1)	 (91)	 (1,911)	 -   	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later		  (1)	 (6)	 -	   -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later		  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current payments to date	 -	 (6)	 (1,911)	 (398)	 (2,814)	 (2,175)	 (10,717)	 (6,056)	 (24,077)
									       

Currency translation differences									         1,473
									       
Net benefits and claims paid									         (22,604)

	 The Group used an annual average exchange rate to translate the foreign currency Indonesia Rupiah to Ringgit Malaysia.

	 The gross and net claims development tables above are not comparable to 2011, as they have been presented on a claims paid basis 
and not outstanding claim basis, as the information is not readily available. 
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Insurance Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development Table (continued)

	 Gross General Insurance Contract Liabilities for 2011

			   Before 
			   2005	 2005	 2006	 2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Accident year									       
At end of accident year   	 -	 4,731	 3,277	 735	 2,062	 17,540	 29,547	 38,819	
One year later		  4,710	 17,506	 19,168	 9,244	 24,250	 24,220	 41,321	 -	
Two years later		  6,627	 28,599	 34,477	 17,409	 31,733	 56,059	 -	 -	
Three years later		  10,649	 28,933	 37,138	 18,606	 29,422	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later		  10,635	 29,070	 36,799	 28,833	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later		  11,555	 28,976	 21,681	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later		  11,515	 16,510	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later		  1,503	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current estimate of 
  cumulative claims incurred	 1,503	 16,510	 21,681	 28,833	 29,422	 56,059	 41,321	 38,819		

								      
At end of accident year   	 -	 (4,731)	 (3,277)	 (195)	 (703)	 -	 (5,875)	 (8,791)	
One year later		  (4,710)	 (17,506)	 (17,911)	 (8,014)	 (22,783)	 (8,430)	 (32,641)	 -	
Two years later		  (6,627)	 (27,801)	 (32,534)	 (13,264)	 (29,073)	 (54,501)	 -	 -	
Three years later		  (10,544)	 (28,758)	 (36,424)	 (18,440)	 (29,392)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later		  (10,641)	 (28,974)	 (36,782)	 (28,824)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later		  (11,515)	 (28,976)	 (21,663)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later		  (11,515)	 (16,510)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later		  (1,503)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Cumulative payments 
  to date		  (1,503)	 (16,510)	 (21,663)	 (28,824)	 (29,392)	 (54,501)	 (32,641)	 (8,791)	
									       
Gross General insurance 
  contract liabilities		  -	 -	 18	 9	 30	 1,558	 8,680	 30,028	 40,323

Currency translation differences									         450

Gross General insurance contract liabilities 								        40,773
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Insurance Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development Table (continued)

	 Net General Insurance Contract Liabilities for 2011

			   Before 
			   2005	 2005	 2006	 2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Accident year									       
At end of accident year   	 -	 2,652	 1,643	 2,914	 2,720	 5,529	 14,076	 23,572	
One year later		  3,030	 5,932	 7,559	 7,968	 7,781	 15,634	 21,206	 -	
Two years later		  4,565	 6,797	 9,495	 9,394	 13,609	 29,534	 -	 -	
Three years later		  5,162	 6,965	 10,419	 9,440	 14,808	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later		  5,199	 7,124	 10,877	 14,409	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later		  5,191	 7,087	 10,456	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later		  5,184	 7,750	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later		  848	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current estimate of 
  cumulative claims incurred	 848	 7,750	 10,456	 14,409	 14,808	 29,534	 21,206	 23,572	
									       
At end of accident year   	 -	 (2,652)	 (1,643)	 -	 (660)	 -	 (3,353)	 (5,780)	
One year later		  (3,030)	 (5,932)	 (7,375)	 (4,830)	 (5,023)	 (6,625)	 (15,780)	 -	
Two years later		  (4,565)	 (6,980)	 (8,910)	 (6,213)	 (15,569)	 (28,874)	 -	 -	
Three years later		  (5,147)	 (7,115)	 (8,984)	 (8,410)	 (14,786)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later		  (5,182)	 (7,294)	 (10,845)	 (14,934)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later		  (5,183)	 (7,300)	 (10,449)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later		  (5,184)	 (7,750)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later		  (848)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Cumulative payments 
  to date		  (848)	 (7,750)	 (10,449)	 (14,934)	 (14,786)	 (28,874)	 (15,780)	 (5,780)	
									       
Net General insurance 
  contract liabilities		  -	 -	 7	 (525)	 22	 660	 5,426	 17,792	 23,382

Currency translation differences									         212

Net General insurance contract liabilities 								        23,594

	 The Group used an annual average exchange rate to translate the foreign currency Indonesia Rupiah to Ringgit Malaysia. The 
comparatives claim development table (gross and net) was not restated to take into account the prior year adjustments disclosed in 
Note 43 to the financial statements as it is impractical to do so.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Takaful Contracts

	 The concentration of the general takaful contracts in relation to claims liabilities by the type of takaful contracts accepted is as 
summarised below:

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011

				    Gross	 Retakaful	 Net	 Gross	 Retakaful	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
						    

Fire				    14,930	 (12,903)	 2,027	 17,190	 (13,829)	 3,361
Motor vehicle			   41,192	 (30,130)	 11,062	 28,396	 (16,067)	 12,329
Marine Cargo, Aviation Cargo & Transit		 8,637	 (7,959)	 678	 5,018	 (4,576)	 442
Miscellaneous			   43,842	 (33,146)	 10,696	 42,649	 (31,065)	 11,584

				    108,601	 (84,138)	 24,463	 93,253	 (65,537)	 27,716
						    

							       1.1.2011

							       Gross	 Retakaful	 Net
							       RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

						    
Fire							       17,763	 (14,221)	 3,542
Motor vehicle						      14,283	 (2,871)	 11,412
Marine Cargo, Aviation Cargo & Transit					    6,829	 (6,258)	 571
Miscellaneous						      23,336	 (13,892)	 9,444

							       62,211	 (37,242)	 24,969
						    

	 Key assumptions

	 The principal assumptions underlying the estimation of liabilities is that the Group’s future claims development will follow a similar 
pattern to past claims development experience. This includes assumptions in respect of development of claims paid and development 
of claims reported amounts. The methods employed also require assumptions on a seed prior estimate (for Bornhuetter-Ferguson 
based methods) for each accident year. For Frequency / Severity analysis, this method uses the fact that the number of claims reported 
is unlikely to have been affected by any changes in the claims handling process, and thus, the link ratio techniques are appropriate 
in determining the ultimate number of claims. Any changes in reporting, reserving or settlement process can affect the reliability of 
assumptions.

 
	 Additional qualitative judgments are used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for example, isolated 

occurrence, changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal factors, such 
as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures. Judgment is further used to assess the extent to which external 
factors, such as judicial decisions and government legislation affect the estimates.

	 Sensitivities

	 The General takaful claims liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions shown below. It has not been possible to quantify the 
sensitivity of certain assumptions, such as, legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.

	 The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all other assumptions held constant, 
showing the impact on Gross and Net liabilities and Profit before Tax. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in 
determining the ultimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had to be 
changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-linear.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 Sensitivities (continued)

		  Impact on General takaful contract liabilities	
		

				   Change in 			   Surplus	 Surplus
				   assumptions	 Gross	 Net	 before tax	  after tax
				   %	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012 				  
					   
Average open claims	 +10	 10,860	 2,446	 2,446	 1,835
Loss ratio	 +10	 15,291	 3,138	 3,138	 2,354
Provision for risk of adverse deviation	 +1	 117	 22	 22	 17
					   
31 December 2011					   
					   
Average open claims	 +10	 9,325	 2,771	 2,771	 2,079
Loss ratio	 +10	 12,447	 3,212	 3,212	 2,409
Claims handling expenses	 +10	 96	 94	 94	 70
Provision for risk of adverse  deviation	 +1	 651	 199	 199	 149
					   
1 January 2011					   
					   
Average open claims	 +10	 6,221	 2,497	 2,497	 1,873
Loss ratio	 +10	 9,952	 4,034	 4,034	 3,026
Provision for risk of adverse deviation	 +1	 446	 180	 180	 135

						    
	 The method used for deriving sensitivity information and significant assumptions did not change from the previous period.

	 Claims development table

	 The following tables show the estimate of cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each successive 
accident year at each statement of financial position date, together with cumulative payments to date.

	 In setting provisions for claims, the Group gives consideration to the probability and magnitude of future experience being more 
adverse than assumed and exercises a degree of caution in setting reserves when there is considerable uncertainty. In general, the 
uncertainty associated with the ultimate claims experience in an accident year is greatest when the accident year is at an early stage 
of development and the margin necessary to provide the necessary confidence in adequacy of provision is relatively at its highest. As 
claims develop and the ultimate cost of claims becomes more certain, the relative level of margin maintained should decrease.
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development table (continued)

	 Gross General Takaful Contract Liabilities for 2012

					     2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 Total
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Accident year							     
At end of accident year  			   96	 6,816	 24,168	 54,138	 57,359	 75,801	
One year later				    78	 4,592	 20,219	 58,203	 55,297	 -	
Two years later				    50	 3,714	 16,567	 52,314	 -	 -	
Three years later				    42	 3,214	 13,865	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later				    39	 3,249	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later				    39	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current estimate of cumulative claims incurred		  39	 3,249	 13,865	 52,314	 55,297	 75,801	
							     
At end of accident year  			   -	 (1,100)	 (4,021)	 (10,114)	 (12,429)	 (18,204)	
One year later				    (39)	 (2,807)	 (9,177)	 (29,052)	 (34,709)	 -	
Two years later				    (39)	 (3,035)	 (10,273)	 (35,595)	 -	 -	
Three years later				    (39)	 (3,076)	 (12,049)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later				    (39)	 (3,089)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later				    (39)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Cumulative payments to date			   (39)	 (3,089)	 (12,049)	 (35,595)	 (34,709)	 (18,204)	
							     

Gross General takaful contract liabilities		  -	 160	 1,816	 16,719	 20,588	 57,597	 96,880
							     
							     
Provision for risk of adverse deviation									         11,721
							     
Gross General takaful contract liabilities								        108,601
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development Table (continued)

	 Net General Takaful Contract Liabilities for 2012

					     2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 2012	 Total
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Accident year							     
At end of accident year  			   39	 1,640	 5,655	 25,190	 17,488	 17,661	
One year later				    48	 1,642	 6,165	 24,835	 15,510	 -	
Two years later				    32	 1,370	 5,340	 23,500	 -	 -	
Three years later				    26	 1,198	 5,206	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later				    24	 1,230	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later				    24	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current estimate of cumulative claims incurred		  24	 1,230	 5,206	 23,500	 15,510	 17,661	
							     
At end of accident year  			   -	 (339)	 (1,548)	 (5,284)	 (4,926)	 (5,573)	
One year later				    (23)	 (1,032)	 (3,831)	 (14,461)	 (11,260)	 -	
Two years later				    (23)	 (1,169)	 (4,285)	 (18,328)	 -	 -	
Three years later				    (23)	 (1,182)	 (4,511)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later				    (23)	 (1,186)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later				    (23)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later				    -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Cumulative payments to date			   (23)	 (1,186)	 (4,511)	 (18,328)	 (11,260)	 (5,573)	
							     

Net General takaful contract liabilities			   1	 44	 695	 5,172	 4,250	 12,088	 22,250
							     

Provision for risk of adverse deviation									         2,213
							     
Net General takaful contract liabilities									         24,463
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development table (continued)

	 Gross General Takaful Contract Liabilities for 2011

						      2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 Total
						      RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

						    
Accident year						    
At end of accident year  				    96	 6,816	 24,168	 54,138	 57,359	
One year later					     78	 4,592	 20,219	 58,203	 -	
Two years later					     50	 3,714	 16,567	 -	 -	
Three years later					     42	 3,214	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later					     39	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current estimate of cumulative claims incurred			   39	 3,214	 16,567	 58,203	 57,359	
						    
At end of accident year  				    -	 (1,100)	 (4,021)	 (10,114)	 (12,429)	
One year later					     (39)	 (2,807)	 (9,177)	 (29,052)	 -	
Two years later					     (39)	 (3,035)	 (10,278)	 -	 -	
Three years later					     (39)	 (3,076)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later					     (39)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Cumulative payments to date				    (39)	 (3,076)	 (10,278)	 (29,052)	 (12,429)	
						    

Gross General takaful contract liabilities			   -	 138	 6,289	 29,151	 44,930	 80,508
						    
Claims handling expenses									         840
						    
Provision for risk of adverse deviation									         11,905
						    
Gross General takaful contract liabilities								        93,253
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49	 INSURANCE/TAKAFUL RISK (CONTINUED)

(II)	 General Insurance and General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 General Takaful Contracts (continued)

	 Claims Development table (continued)

	 Net General Takaful Contract Liabilities for 2011

						      2007	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011	 Total
						      RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

						    
Accident year						    
At end of accident year  				    39	 1,640	 5,655	 25,190	 17,488	
One year later					     48	 1,642	 6,165	 24,835	 -	
Two years later					     32	 1,370	 5,340	 -	 -	
Three years later					     26	 1,198	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later					     24	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Current estimate of cumulative claims incurred			   24	 1,198	 5,340	 24,835	 17,488	
						    
At end of accident year  				    -	 (339)	 (1,548)	 (5,284)	 (4,926)	
One year later					     (23)	 (1,032)	 (3,831)	 (14,461)	 -	
Two years later					     (23)	 (1,169)	 (4,285)	 -	 -	
Three years later					     (23)	 (1,182)	 -	 -	 -	
Four years later					     (23)	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Five years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Six years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
Seven years later					     -	 -	 -	 -	 -	

Cumulative payments to date				    (23)	 (1,182)	 (4,285)	 (14,461)	 (4,926)	
								      

Net General takaful contract liabilities				    1	 16	 1,055	 10,374	 12,562	 24,008
						    
Claims handling expenses									         840
						    
Provision for risk of adverse deviation									         2,868
						    
Net General takaful contract liabilities									         27,716
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK

	 The Group is exposed to a range of financial risks through its assets, financial liabilities and insurance liabilities. In particular, the key financial 
risk is that in the long-term the investment proceeds are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts. The most 
important components of this financial risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk which comprise of currency risk, interest rate/profit yield 
risk and price risk.

	 The Group manages these positions within an Asset Liability Management (“ALM”) framework that has been developed for the insurance 
subsidiary companies to achieve long-term investment returns in excess its obligations under insurance contracts. The key principle of the 
framework is to match assets to the liabilities by reference to the type of benefits payable to contract holders. For each distinct class of 
liabilities, a separate portfolio of assets is maintained and monitored. The Group has not changed the processes used to manage its risks 
from previous periods. 

	 The Group’s ALM is integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the Group’s other classes of financial assets and 
liabilities not directly associated with insurance liabilities. The note below explain how financial risks are managed using the categories in the 
Group’s ALM framework. In particular, the ALM framework requires the management of interest rate risk, equity price risk and liquidity risk at 
the portfolio level. Credit risk is managed on a group-wide basis. The following notes are in relation to the Group’s management disclosure 
with respect to credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and price risk.

	 Credit Risk

	 The Group has exposure in credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. The Group is exposed to credit risk through (i) investment in cash and private debt securities, (ii) corporate 
and mortgage lending activities and (iii) exposure to counterparty’s reinsurance contracts. For investments in private debt securities, a 
downgrade of credit rating or widening of credit spread may also incur financial loss.  Qardhul Hassan is not financial instrument and hence 
is not exposed to credit risk.

	 Minimum credit quality only applies to investments in private debt securities/bonds with a minimum rating of BBB-/BBB3 (at date of 
investment) provided by Malaysian Credit Rating Corporation (“MARC”) and Rating Agency of Malaysia (“RAM”), respectively. The Group 
however intends to maintain a minimum rating of A/A2 in the overall bond portfolio under current returns objectives. The Group does not 
solely depend on the rating report provided but as in all credit assessments/reviews are based on publicly available issuer information 
together with in-house analysis based on information provided by the borrower/ issuer, peer group comparisons, industry comparisons and 
other quantitative tools.

	 Reinsurance/retakaful is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Group’s liability as primary insurer. If a 
participant reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Group remains liable for the payment to the policyholders/participants. The 
creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an annual basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of any contract.

	 The Group issues unit-linked investment contracts. In the unit-linked business, the holders of these contract bear the investment risks on the 
assets held in the unit-linked funds as the contract benefits are directly linked to the value of the assets in the fund. Therefore, the Group has 
no material credit risk on unit-linked financial assets.

	 Debtor recoverability and risk concentration monitoring are part of credit risk management which is reviewed regularly. The management 
monitors the market value of the collateral, requests additional collateral when needed and performs an impairment valuation. Allowance 
of doubtful debts/specific provision is made on those securities/loans (or part of remaining amount) where the level of security has been 
impaired.  
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure 

	 The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components on the Statement of Financial Position and items such as 
future commitments. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting or collateral 
agreements.

	 GROUP

				   Insurance and Shareholders’ Funds	 Investment-linked

						     Dis-			   Dis-
					    Continuing 	 continued		  Continuing	 continued
					    Operations 	Operations	 Total	 Operations	 Operations	 Total	 Total
					    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
							    
31 December 2012	 						   
							    
Available-for-sale financial assets:							     
  Corporate debt securities				   504	 -	 504	 -	 -	 -	 504
  Islamic debt securities				   135,865	 -	 135,865	 -	 -	 -	 135,865
  Malaysian Government 
    Guarantee Financing				   54,243	 -	 54,243	 -	 -	 -	 54,243
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss:							    
    Corporate debt securities				   -	 -	 -	 3,928	 -	 3,928	 3,928
    Islamic debt securities				   -	 -	 -	 41,152	 -	 41,152	 41,152
Loans and receivables:							    
  Loans				   9,199	 -	 9,199	 -	 -	 -	 9,199
  Fixed and call deposits				   4,037	 -	 4,037	 42,250	 -	 42,250	 46,287
Reinsurance/retakaful assets				   212,743	 -	 212,743	 -	 -	 -	 212,743
Insurance/takaful receivables				   68,804	 -	 68,804	 -	 -	 -	 68,804
Trade and other receivables				   256,551	 -	 256,551	 1,039	 -	 1,039	 257,590
Cash and cash equivalents				   102,730	 -	 102,730	 38,987	 -	 38,987	 141,717
							    
					    844,676	 -	 844,676	 127,356	 -	 127,356	 972,032
							    
31 December 2011 (Restated)	 						    
							     
Available-for-sale financial assets:							     
  Corporate debt securities				   9,452	 -	 9,452	 -	 -	 -	 9,452
  Islamic debt securities				   144,590	 -	 144,590	 -	 -	 -	 144,590
  Malaysian Government 
    Guarantee Financing				   20,872	 -	 20,872	 -	 -	 -	 20,872
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss:							    
    Corporate debt securities				   -	 -	 -	 4,555	 -	 4,555	 4,555
    Islamic debt securities				   -	 -	 -	 29,134	 -	 29,134	 29,134
Loans and receivables:							    
  Loans				   10,407	 -	 10,407	 -	 -	 -	 10,407
  Fixed and call deposits				   2,252	 -	 2,252	 41,912	 -	 41,912	 44,164
Reinsurance/retakaful assets				   147,928	 -	 147,928	 -	 -	 -	 147,928
Insurance/retakaful receivables				   81,556	 -	 81,556	 -	 -	 -	 81,556
Trade and other receivables				   208,344	 -	 208,344	 1,489	 -	 1,489	 209,833
Cash and cash equivalents				   145,403	 -	 145,403	 31,849	 -	 31,849	 177,252
							    

					    770,804	 -	 770,804	 108,939	 -	 108,939	 879,743
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure (continued)

	 GROUP
				   Insurance and Shareholders’ Funds	 Investment-linked

						     Dis-			   Dis-
					    Continuing 	 continued		  Continuing	 continued
					    Operations 	Operations	 Total	 Operations	 Operations	 Total	 Total
					    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

							     
1 January 2011 (Restated)							    

							     
Available-for-sale financial assets:							     
  Corporate debt securities				   41,681	 3,551,424	 3,593,105	 -	 -	 -	 3,593,105
  Islamic debt securities				   142,638	 -	 142,638	 -	 -	 -	 142,638
  Malaysian Government 
    Guarantee Financing				   10,631	 -	 10,631	 -	 -	 -	 10,631
  Malaysian Government Securities/ 
    Government Investment Issues		  -	 236,125	 236,125	 -	 -	 -	 236,125
Financial assets at fair value through 
  profit or loss:							    
    Corporate debt securities				   -	 21,802	 21,802	 4,814	 145,363	 150,177	 171,979
    Islamic debt securities				   -	 -	 -	 21,995	 -	 21,995	 21,995
    Malaysian Government Securities/ 
      Government Investment Issues		  -	 11,688	 11,688	 -	 -	 -	 11,688
Loans and receivables:							    
Loans				   30,464	 650,254	 680,718	 -	 -	 -	 680,718
Fixed and call deposits				   8,009	 199,424	 207,433	 -	 50,200	 50,200	 257,633
Reinsurance/retakaful assets				   123,897	 222,343	 346,240	 -	 -	 -	 346,240
Insurance/takaful receivables				   68,575	 77,151	 145,726	 -	 -	 -	 145,726
Trade and other receivables				   36,444	 45,559	 82,003	 3,222	 4,379	 7,601	 89,604
Cash and cash equivalents				   183,723	 480,188	 663,911	 68,856	 139,087	 207,943	 871,854
							    
					    646,062	 5,495,958	 6,142,020	 98,887	 339,029	 437,916	 6,579,936
							    
	
COMPANY
									        31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
									        RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			 
Loans and receivables:			
  Loans								       96	 139	 192
  Fixed and call deposits								       -	 1,029	 5,016
Trade and other receivables								       251,029	 199,715	 64,568
Cash and cash equivalents								       6,141	 6,946	 47,934
			 
									        257,266	 207,829	 117,710
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure by Credit Rating

	 The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Group by classifying assets according to the Group’s credit 
rating of counterparties.

   
	 GROUP

				    Non-			   Past due
			   Investment	 investment		 Investment	 but not
			   grade	 grade	 Not rated	 -linked	 Impaired	 impaired	 Total

		  Government	 AAA to 	
		  Guaranteed	 BBB	 BB to C						    

	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 							     
								      
Available-for-sale financial assets:								      
  Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 504	 -	 -	 -	 504
  Islamic debt securities	 -	 135,865	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 135,865
  Malaysian Government Guarantee
    Financing	 54,243	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 54,243
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss:								      
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 3,928	 -	 -	 3,928
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 41,152	 -	 -	 41,152
Loans and receivables:								      
  Loans	 -	 -	 -	 8,089	 -	 -	 1,110	 9,199
  Fixed and call deposits	 -	 2,973	 -	 1,064*	 42,250	 -	 -	 46,287
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 65,492	 -	 147,251	 -	 -	 -	 212,743
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 23,772	 -	 45,032	 -	 -	 -	 68,804
Trade and other receivables	 -	 223,028	 -	 33,523	 1,039	 -	 -	 257,590
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 102,354	 -	 376	 38,987	 -	 -	 141,717
								      
		  54,243	 553,484	 -	 235,839	 127,356	 -	 1,110	 972,032

								        	
31 December 2011 (Restated)	 							     
								      
Available-for-sale financial assets:								      
  Corporate debt securities	 -	 8,948	 -	 504	 -	 -	 -	 9,452
  Islamic debt securities	 7,262	 137,328		  -	 -	 -	 -	 144,590
  Malaysian Government 
    Guarantee Financing	 20,872	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 20,872
Financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss:								      
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,555	 -	 -	 4,555
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 29,134	 -	 -	 29,134
Loans and receivables:								      
  Loans	 -	 -	 -	 5,624	 -	 -	 4,783	 10,407
  Fixed and call deposits	 -	 1,221	 -	 1,031*	 41,912	 -	 -	 44,164
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 51,885	 -	 96,043	 -	 -	 -	 147,928
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 17,882	 -	 63,674	 -	 -	 -	 81,556
Trade and other receivables	 -	 180,561	 -	 27,783	 1,489	 -	 -	 209,833
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 145,337	 -	 66	 31,849	 -	 -	 177,252
								      
		  28,134	 543,162	 -	 194,725	 108,939	 -	 4,783	 879,743

*Issued by a Government-Linked Company (GLC) Institution 
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure by Credit Rating (continued)

	 GROUP

				    Non-			   Past due
			   Investment	 investment		  Investment	 but not
			   grade	 grade	 Not rated	 -linked	 Impaired	 impaired	 Total

		  Government	 AAA to 	
		  Guaranteed	 BBB	 BB to C						    

	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
								      

1 January 2011 (Restated)								      
								      

Available-for-sale financial 
  assets:								      
    Corporate debt securities	 676,075	 2,882,536	 694	 490	 -	 -	 33,310	 3,593,105
    Islamic debt securities	 6,731	 135,907	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 142,638
    Malaysian Government 
      Guarantee Financing	 10,631	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 10,631
    Malaysian Government 
      Securities/ Government 
        Investment Issues	 236,125	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 236,125
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss:								      
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 21,802	 -	 -	 150,177	 -	 -	 171,979
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 21,995	 -	 -	 21,995
    Malaysian Government 
      Securities/ Government 
        Investment Issues	 11,688	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 11,688
Loans and receivables:								      
  Loans	 -	 -	 -	 375,752	 -	 4,529	 300,437	 680,718
  Fixed and call deposits	 -	 206,433	 -	 1,000*	 50,200	 -	 -	 257,633
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 112,602	 1,013	 232,625	 -	 -	 -	 346,240
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 14,998	 -	 88,167	 -	 42,561	 -	 145,726
Trade and other receivables	 -	 -	 -	 82,003	 7,601	 -	 -	 89,604
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 663,911	 -	 -	 207,943	 -	 -	 871,854
								      
		  941,250	 4,038,189	 1,707	 780,037	 437,916	 47,090	 333,747	 6,579,936
								      

*Issued by a Government-Linked Company (GLC) Institution
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure by Credit Rating (continued)

	 The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Group by classifying assets according to the RAM and 
MARC credit ratings of counterparties. AAA is the highest possible rating. Assets that fall outside the range of AAA to BBB are classified as 
speculative grade.

	 GROUP

		  Govern
		  -ment						      Invest-
		  Guarant	 AAA		  BBB1	 BB & 		  ment-
		  -eed	 to AA	 A1 to A3	 to BBB3	 below	 Not rated	 linked	 Impaired	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
									       
31 December 2012	 								      
									       
Available-for-sale financial 
  assets:									       
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 504	 -	 -	 504
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 135,865	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 135,865
    Malaysian Government 
      Guarantee Financing	 54,243	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 54,243
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss:									       
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 3,928	 -	 3,928
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 41,152	 -	 41,152
Loans and receivables:									       
  Loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 8,089	 -	 1,110	 9,199
  Fixed and call deposits	 -	 2,973	 -	 -	 -	 1,064*	 42,250	 -	 46,287
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 5,061	 34,583	 25,848	 -	 147,251	 -	 -	 212,743
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 327	 6,448	 16,997	 -	 45,032	 -	 -	 68,804
Trade and other receivables	 -	 223,028	 -	 -	 -	 33,523	 1,039	 -	 257,590
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 102,301	 53	 -	 -	 376	 38,987	 -	 141,717
								      
		  54,243	 469,555	 41,084	 42,845	 -	 235,839	 127,356	 1,110	 972,032
									       
31 December 2011 (Restated)									       
									       
Available-for-sale financial 
  assets:									       
  Corporate debt securities	 -	 7,543	 1,405	 -	 -	 504	 -	 -	 9,452
  Islamic debt securities	 7,262	 137,328	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 144,590
  Malaysian Government
    Guarantee Financing	 20,872	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 20,872
Financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss:									       
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,555	 -	 4,555
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 29,134	 -	 29,134
Loans and receivables:									       
  Loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,624	 -	 4,783	 10,407
  Fixed and call deposits	 -	 1,221	 -	 -	 -	 1,031*	 41,912	 -	 44,164
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 3,941	 27,245	 20,699	 -	 96,043	 -	 -	 147,928
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 251	 4,835	 12,796	 -	 63,674	 -	 -	 81,556
Trade and other receivables	 -	 180,561	 -	 -	 -	 27,783	 1,489	 -	 209,833
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 145,236	 101	 -	 -	 66	 31,849	 -	 177,252
									       
		  28,134	 476,081	 33,586	 33,495	 -	 194,725	 108,939	 4,783	 879,743

*Issued by a Government-Linked Company (GLC) Institution 
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure by Credit Rating (continued)

	 GROUP

		  Govern
		  -ment						      Invest-
		  Guarant	 AAA		  BBB1	 BB & 		  ment-
		  -eed	 to AA	 A1 to A3	 to BBB3	 below	 Not rated	 linked	 Impaired	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

									       
1 January 2011 (Restated)	 								      
									       
Available-for-sale financial 
  assets:									       
    Corporate debt securities	 676,075	 2,332,384	 550,152	 -	 694	 490	 -	 33,310	 3,593,105
    Islamic debt securities	 6,731	 131,795	 4,112	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 142,638
    Malaysian Government 
      Guarantee Financing	 10,631	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 10,631
    Malaysian Government
      Securities/ Government 
        Investment Issues	 236,125	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 236,125
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss:									       
    Corporate debt securities	 -	 -	 21,802	 -	 -	 -	 150,177	 -	 171,979
    Islamic debt securities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 21,995	 -	 21,995
    Malaysian Government
      Securities/ Government 
        Investment Issues	 11,688	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 11,688
Loans and receivables:									       
  Loans	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 380,281	 -	 300,437	 680,718
  Fixed and call deposits	 -	 206,433	 -	 -	 -	 1,000*	 50,200	 -	 257,633
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 99,355	 8,248	 4,999	 1,013	 232,625	 -	 -	 346,240
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 1,366	 879	 12,753	 -	 130,728	 -	 -	 145,726
Trade and other receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 82,003	 7,601	 -	 89,604
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 663,911	 -	 -	 -	 -	 207,943	 -	 871,854
									       
		  941,250	 3,435,244	 585,193	 17,752	 1,707	 827,127	 437,916	 333,747	 6,579,936
									       

*Issued by a Government-Linked Company (GLC) Institution

The credit risk analysis for the unit-linked business was not provided as the Group has no direct exposure to any credit risk in those assets.

	 The ratings shown for fixed and call deposits are based on the rating assigned to the respective financial institution issuing the financial 
instruments. 
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Credit Exposure by Credit Rating (continued)

	 The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Company by classifying assets according to the Company’s 
credit rating of counterparties.

	 COMPANY

						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011

				    Investment		  Total	 Investment		  Total 
				    grade			   grade
				    (AAA to AA)	 Not rated		  (AAA to AA)	 Not rated	
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Loan and receivables						    
  Loans			   -	 96	 96	 -	 139	 139
  Fixed and call deposits			   -	 -	 -	 1,029	 -	 1,029
Trade and other receivables			   224,018	 27,011	 251,029	 179,667	 20,048	 199,715
Cash and cash equivalents			   6,141	 -	 6,141	 6,946	 -	 6,946
				  
				    230,159	 27,107	 257,266	 187,642	 20,187	 207,829

						    
							       1.1.2011
						    
							       Investment		  Total
							       grade		
							       (AAA to AA)	 Not rated	
							       RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Loan and receivables						    
  Loans						      -	 192	 192
  Fixed and call deposits						      5,016	 -	 5,016
Trade and other receivables						      -	 64,568	 64,568
Cash and cash equivalents						      47,934	 -	 47,934
							     
							       52,950	 64,760	 117,710

						    

	 During the financial year, no credit exposure limits were exceeded.

	 The Group actively manages its product mix to ensure that there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
 
	 Age Analysis of Financial Assets Past-Due But Not Impaired

	 GROUP	

			  Up to 3	 3 months to 6	 7 months to
			  months	 months	 12 months	 >12 months	 Total
			  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 				  

Loans and receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

			  -	 -	 -	 -	 -	
				  

31 December 2011	 				  

Loans and receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

			  -	 -	 -	 -	 -
					  
1 January 2011	 				  

Loans and receivables	 -	 736	 41	 3,752	 4,529
Insurance/takaful receivables	 24,884	 13,995	 3,682	 -	 42,561

			  24,884	 14,731	 3,723	 3,752	 47,090
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Credit Risk (continued)

	 Impaired Financial Assets

	 At 31 December 2012, based on an individual assessment of receivables, there are impaired insurance/takaful receivables of RM2,940,000 
(31.12.2011: RM1,394,000, 1.1.2011: RM11,666,000). For assets to be classified as “past-due and impaired”, contractual payments must 
be in arrears for more than six (6) months for loans, and more than 90 days for insurance receivables. In addition, full impairment was made 
on outstanding debts exceeding twelve months, outstanding debts with terminated status, closed accounts, commuted, winding-up under 
legal action, accounts written off or those served with letters of demand. This applies similarly to reinsurance assets, particularly reinsurance 
recoverable on outstanding claims. No collateral is held as security for any past due or impaired assets. The Group records impairment 
allowance for loans and receivables and insurance/takaful receivables in a separate allowance for impairment accounts.  

	 A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for insurance/takaful receivables and loans is as follows:

			   GROUP

	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1. 1.2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Insurance/takaful receivables			 
			 
At 1 January	 1,394	 11,666	 24,315
Related to disposed insurance subsidiary company	 -	 (8,710)	 -
	 1,394	 2,956	 24,315
Allowance for/(write-back of) impairment loss	 1,546	 (1,562)	 (12,649)

At 31 December	 2,940	 1,394	 11,666
			 
Loans			 
			 
At 1 January	 54,726	 198,313	 253,063
Related to disposed insurance subsidiary company	 -	 (133,113)	 -
	 54,726	 65,200	 253,063
Balance offset against gross outstanding	 -	 -	 (46,660)
Allowance made during the financial year	 1,478	 8,796	 12,542
Amounts written back in respect of recoveries	 (524)	 (73)	 (19,906)
Bad debts written off	 (215)	 (19,197)	 (726)

At 31 December	 55,465	 54,726	 198,313
			 
				  
		
	The outstanding loans before allowance for impairment loss analysed by economic purpose are as follows:

			   GROUP	
	
	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			 
Policy loans	 -	 709	 352,559
Constructions	 11,452	 13,136	 94,906
Purchase of landed properties/ securities	 5,032	 5,089	 301,560
Purchase of property, plant and equipment other than land and buildings	 1,552	 1,521	 13,219
Personal use	 11,056	 7,891	 4,312
Working capital	 21,214	 21,546	 94,343
Others	 14,358	 15,241	 16,255

	 64,664	 65,133	 877,154
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Liquidity Risk 

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial obligations when due. This situation arises when the Group is unable to 
convert its financial assets into cash when needed. Demands for funds can usually be met through ongoing normal operations, premiums/
contributions received, sale of assets or borrowings through committed credit facilities from bankers. Unexpected demands for liquidity 
may be triggered by negative publicity, deterioration of the economy, reports of problems in other companies in the same or similar lines of 
business, unanticipated policy claims, or other unexpected cash demands from policyholders.

	 Expected liquidity demands are managed through a combination of treasury, investment and asset-liability management practices, which are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. Actual and projected cash inflows and outflows are monitored and an adequate cushion in the form of cash 
and very liquid investments are maintained at all times. The projected cash flow from the in-force insurance/takaful contract liabilities consist 
of renewal premiums/contributions, commissions, claims, maturities and surrenders. Renewal premiums/contributions, commissions, claims 
and maturities are generally stable and predictable. Surrenders can be more uncertain.   

	 Unexpected liquidity demands are managed through a combination of product design, diversification limits, investment strategies and 
systematic monitoring. The existing of surrender penalty in life insurance/family takaful contracts also protects the Group from losses due to 
unexpected surrender trends as well as reduces the sensitivity of surrenders to changes in interest rates. 

	 In addition, for general insurance/general takaful contracts, the Group’s catastrophe excess-of-loss reinsurance contracts contain clauses 
permitting the immediate drawdown of funds to meet claims payments should claims events exceed a certain amount.

	 Maturity Profile

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on outstanding terms to maturity still remaining.  

	 The insurance contract liabilities below are gross of reinsurance (no reinsurance credit is taken into account). Unit-linked liabilities are 
repayable or transferrable on demand and are included in the “up to a year” column. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated 
as if notice were to be given immediately. Products which have no maturity benefits such as term assurance and yearly renewable plans are 
excluded as there carry no maturity values. Products with no maturity dates are annuity and whole life plans.

	 Unearned premiums/contributions and the reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums/contributions have been excluded from the analysis as 
they are not contractual obligations.

	 GROUP

							       No
	 Carrying	 Up to a	 1 – 3	 3 – 5	 5 – 15	 Over 15 	 maturity
	 value	 year	 years	 years	 years	 years	 date	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 							     
								      
Investments:								      
  Financial assets at fair value 
    through profit or loss	 201,800	 22,301	 7,468	 7,298	 30,837	 20,200	 134,419	 222,523
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 216,335	 32,802	 5,806	 12,188	 159,485	 109,680	 -	 319,961
  Loans and receivables	 55,486	 16,060	 43,249	 16	 2	 -	 -	 59,327
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 151,541	 130,860	 18,043	 2,269	 369	 -	 -	 151,541
Insurance/takaful receivables	 68,804	 68,804	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 68,804
Trade and other receivables	 255,965	 64,270	 191,695	 -	 -	 -	 -	 255,965
Cash and cash equivalents	 141,717	 141,717	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 141,717

	 1,091,648	 476,814	 266,261	 21,771	 190,693	 129,880	 134,419	 1,219,838
								      
Insurance contract liabilities:								      
  With DPF	 116,990	 116,990	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 116,990
  Without DPF	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
Takaful contract liabilities	 480,184	 411,396	 23,022	 2,946	 1,202	 41,618	 -	 480,184
Financial liabilities	 4,335	 4,335	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,335
Insurance/takaful payables	 101,543	 101,543	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 101,543

	 703,052	 634,264	 23,022	 2,946	 1,202	 41,618	 -	 703,052
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Liquidity Risk (continued)

	 Maturity Profile (continued)

	 GROUP

							       No
	 Carrying	 Up to a	 1 – 3	 3 – 5	 5 – 15	 Over 15 	 maturity
	 value	 year	 years	 years	 years	 years	 date	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2011 (Restated)	 							     
								      
Investments:								      
  Financial assets at fair value 
    through profit or loss	 171,333	 35,514	 10,868	 12,320	 13,483	 6,284	 102,887	 181,356
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 201,091	 27,531	 8,970	 6,048	 178,894	 67,449	 -	 288,892
  Loans and receivables	 54,571	 13,649	 45,256	 -	 -	 -	 -	 58,905
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 97,058	 82,784	 13,779	 495	 -	 -	 -	 97,058
Insurance/takaful receivables	 81,556	 81,556	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 81,556
Trade and other receivables	 201,000	 201,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 201,000
Cash and cash equivalents	 177,252	 177,252	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 177,252

	 983,861	 619,286	 78,873	 18,863	 192,377	 73,733	 102,887	 1,086,019
								      
Insurance contract liabilities:								      
  With DPF	 75,838	 75,838	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 75,838
  Without DPF	 37,208	 37,208	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 37,208
Takaful contract liabilities	 390,708	 331,845	 21,153	 870	 330	 36,080	 430	 390,708
Financial liabilities	 91,153	 90,603	 304	 167	 79	 -	 -	 91,153
Insurance/takaful payables	 96,092	 96,092	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 96,092

	 690,999	 631,586	 21,457	 1,037	 409	 36,080	 430	 690,999

1 January 2011 (Restated)								      
								      
Investments:								      
  Financial assets at fair value 
    through profit or loss	 1,255,059	 77,791	 49,207	 50,667	 93,179	 -	 987,286	 1,258,130
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 4,015,248	 342,864	 503,190	 637,855	 2,455,919	 156,979	 3,365	 4,100,172
  Loans and receivables	 938,351	 915,260	 8,746	 1,788	 3,174	 9,383	 -	 938,351
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 309,939	 216,806	 56,381	 25,192	 11,560	 -	 -	 309,939
Insurance/takaful receivables	 145,726	 145,726	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 145,726
Trade and other receivables	 89,604	 89,604	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 89,604
Cash and cash equivalents	 871,854	 871,854	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 871,854

	 7,625,781	 2,659,905	 617,524	 715,502	 2,563,832	 166,362	 990,651	 7,713,776
								      
Insurance contract liabilities:								      
  With DPF	 3,231,177	 19,546	 31,851	 43,440	 368,618	 17,920	 2,749,802	 3,231,177
  Without DPF	 1,406,669	 1,106,210	 59,691	 26,422	 28,201	 123,577	 62,568	 1,406,669
Takaful contract liabilities	 295,876	 246,827	 11,367	 1,480	 998	 33,079	 2,125	 295,876
Provision for agents’ retirement	 2,703	 478	 508	 666	 948	 103	 -	 2,703
Financial liabilities	 553,117	 395,032	 163,510	 1,590	 41	 -	 -	 560,173
Insurance/takaful payables	 910,936	 910,936	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 910,936

	 6,400,478	 2,679,029	 266,927	 73,598	 398,806	 174,679	 2,814,495	 6,407,534
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Liquidity Risk (continued)

	 Maturity Profile (continued)
	
	 COMPANY

							       No
	 Carrying	 Up to a	 1 – 3	 3 – 5	 5 – 15	 Over 15 	 maturity
	 value	 year	 years	 years	 years	 years	 date	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 							     
								      
Investments:								      
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 1,664	 1,664	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,664
  Loans and receivables	 96	 37	 59	 -	 -	 -	 -	 96
Trade and other receivables	 251,029	 36,011	 215,018	 -	 -	 -	 -	 251,029
Cash and cash equivalents	 6,141	 6,141	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 6,141

	 258,930	 43,853	 215,077	 -	 -	 -	 -	 258,930
								      

Financial liabilities	 4,527	 4,527	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,527
								      
31 December 2011	 							     
								      
Investments:								      
  Loans and receivables	 1,168	 1,080	 88	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,168
Trade and other receivables	 199,715	 35,048	 164,667	 -	 -	 -	 -	 199,715
Cash and cash equivalents	 6,946	 6,946	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 6,946

	 207,829	 43,074	 164,755	 -	 -	 -	 -	 207,829
								      

Financial liabilities	 5,083	 5,083	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,083
								      
1 January 2011	 							     
								      
Investments:								      
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 4,658	 4,658	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,658
Loans and receivables	 5,208	 5,069	 139	 -	 -	 -	 -	 5,208
Trade and other receivables	 64,568	 64,568	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 64,568
Cash and cash equivalents	 47,934	 47,934	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 47,934

	 122,368	 122,229	 139	 -	 -	 -	 -	 122,368
								      

Financial liabilities	 210,114	 77,170	 140,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 217,170
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Liquidity Risk (continued)

	 The table below summarises the current/non-current classification of assets:

	 GROUP

	 Current*	 Non-current	 Unit-linked	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 24,901	 -	 24,901
Investment properties	 -	 11,632	 -	 11,632
Intangible assets	 -	 7,859	 -	 7,859
Investments				  
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 19,448	 -	 182,352	 201,800
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 27,802	 188,533	 -	 216,335
  Loans and receivables	 12,227	 1,009	 42,250	 55,486
Associated companies	 -	 56,314	 -	 56,314
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 212,743	 -	 -	 212,743
Insurance/takaful receivables	 68,804	 -	 -	 68,804
Trade and other receivables	 45,988	 210,563	 1,039	 257,590
Tax recoverable	 3,617	 -	 -	 3,617
Deferred tax assets	 558	 -	 -	 558
Cash and cash equivalents	 102,730	 -	 38,987	 141,717

	 493,917	 500,811	 264,628	 1,259,356
				  
31 December 2011 (Restated)	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 11,962	 -	 11,962
Investment properties	 -	 11,175	 -	 11,175
Intangible assets	 -	 8,461	 -	 8,461
Investments				  
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 24,243	 -	 147,090	 171,333
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 27,531	 173,560	 -	 201,091
  Loans and receivables	 10,643	 2,016	 41,912	 54,571
Associated companies	 -	 50,522	 -	 50,522
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 147,928	 -	 -	 147,928
Insurance/takaful receivables	 81,556	 -	 -	 81,556
Trade and other receivables	 42,783	 165,561	 1,489	 209,833
Tax recoverable	 3,563	 -	 -	 3,563
Deferred tax assets	 784	 -	 -	 784
Cash and cash equivalents	 145,403	 -	 31,849	 177,252

	 484,434	 423,257	 222,340	 1,130,031
				  
1 January 2011 (Restated)	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment	 -	 291,117	 -	 291,117
Investment properties	 -	 523,888	 -	 523,888
Intangible assets	 -	 12,866	 -	 12,866
Investments				  
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 570,299	 -	 684,760	 1,255,059
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 304,557	 3,710,691	 -	 4,015,248
  Loans and receivables	 853,858	 34,293	 50,200	 938,351
Associated companies	 -	 49,404	 -	 49,404
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 346,240	 -	 -	 346,240
Insurance/takaful receivables	 145,726	 -	 -	 145,726
Trade and other receivables	 82,003	 -	 7,601	 89,604
Tax recoverable	 29,846	 -	 1,802	 31,648
Deferred tax assets	 12,780	 -	 -	 12,780
Cash and cash equivalents	 663,911	 -	 207,943	 871,854

	 3,009,220	 4,622,259	 952,306	 8,583,785
				  

	 * 	 Expected recovery or settlement within 12 months from the statement of financial position date.
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Liquidity Risk (continued)

	 The table below summarises the current/non-current classification of assets:

	 COMPANY

		  Current*	 Non-current	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment		  -	 2,316	 2,316
Intangible assets		  -	 181	 181
Investments				  
  Available-for-sale financial assets		  1,664	 -	 1,664
  Loans and receivables		  37	 59	 96
Subsidiary companies		  -	 126,972	 126,972
Associated companies		  -	 100	 100
Trade and other receivables		  36,011	 215,018	 251,029
Tax recoverable		  1,933	 -	 1,933
Cash and cash equivalents		  6,141	 -	 6,141

		  45,786	 344,646	 390,432
				  
31 December 2011	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment		  -	 1,176	 1,176
Intangible assets		  -	 176	 176
Investments				  
  Loans and receivables		  1,080	 88	 1,168
Subsidiary companies		  5,405	 129,322	 134,727
Associated companies		  -	 100	 100
Trade and other receivables		  35,048	 164,667	 199,715
Tax recoverable		  1,932	 -	 1,932
Cash and cash equivalents		  6,946	 -	 6,946

		  50,411	 295,529	 345,940
				  
1 January 2011	 			 
				  
Property, plant and equipment		  -	 1,784	 1,784
Intangible assets		  -	 57	 57
Investments				  
  Available-for-sale financial assets		  4,658	 -	 4,658
  Loans and receivables		  5,069	 139	 5,208
Subsidiary companies		  28,425	 255,428	 283,853
Associated companies		  -	 100	 100
Trade and other receivables		  64,568	 -	 64,568
Tax recoverable		  2,841	 -	 2,841
Cash and cash equivalents		  47,934	 -	 47,934
Asset classified as held for sale		  110,981	 -	 110,981

		  264,476	 257,508	 521,984
				  

	 * 	 Expected recovery or settlement within 12 months from the statement of financial position date.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012

(continued)

MAA GROUP BERHAD 
annual report 2012 207

50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Market Risk

	 Market risk is the risk of loss in the valuation of the Group’s investments due to adverse changes or volatility of prices in economic and 
financial markets. Market risk comprises three (3) types of risk i.e. currency risk, market interest rates/profit yields and price risk.

	
	 The Group manages market risks through setting of investment policy and asset allocation, approving portfolio limit structure and risk 

management methodologies, approving hedging and alternative risk transfer strategies. Investment limits monitoring is in place at various 
levels to ensure that all investment activities are aligned with the Group’s risk management principles and philosophies. Compliance with 
established financial risk limits forms an integral part of the risk governance and financial reporting framework.  

	
	 The Group also issues unit-linked investment policies in a number of its products. In unit-linked business, the policyholders bear the 

investment risk on the assets held in the unit-linked funds as the policy benefits are directly linked to the value of the assets in the funds. The 
Group’s exposure to market risk on this business is limited to the extent that income arising from asset management charges is based on 
the value of the assets in the funds.

	 Currency Risk

	 Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates.

	 The Group has overseas subsidiary and associated companies that operate in Indonesia, Philippines and Australia whose revenue and 
expenses are denominated in Indonesian Rupiah, United States Dollar, Peso and Australia Dollar respectively. It also has subsidiary 
companies that operate in Labuan whose revenue and expenses are denominated mainly in United States Dollar. In order to protect the 
Group’s exposure to the exchange rate movements of the foreign currencies against Ringgit Malaysia, the Group finances its net investments 
in the foreign subsidiary and associated companies by means of composition of Ringgit Malaysia and United States Dollar denominated 
funds based on assessment of the exchange rate exposure.

	 The Group’s exposure to transactional foreign exchange risk is monitored on an ongoing basis through regular stress testing. The Group 
does not hedge its foreign currency risk.

	 The Group’s financial assets are also primarily denominated in the same currency as its insurance/takaful contract liabilities as required under 
the applicable regulatory requirements. Thus, the main foreign exchange risk from recognised assets and liabilities arises from transactions 
other than those in which insurance/takaful contract liabilities are expected to be settled.  

	 The Group’s main foreign exchange risk from recognised assets and liabilities arises from reinsurance transactions for which the balances 
are expected to be settled and realised in less than a year. The impact arising from sensitivity in foreign exchange rates is deemed minimal 
as the Group has no significant concentration of foreign currency risk.

	 Interest Rate/Profit Yield Risk

	 Interest rate risk is part of market risk as any adverse movements in interest rates may affect the Group’s investment fair valuation and 
reinvestment issues. The Group’s Investment Committees of the insurance subsidiary companies actively monitor such developments as 
well as discuss changes in maturity profiles of the assets and liabilities to minimise overall mismatch given the long duration of policy liabilities 
and the uncertainty of cash flows, it is not possible to hold assets that will perfectly match the policy liabilities.  

	 The Group has no significant concentration of interest rate/profit yield risk.

	 The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key variables with all other variables held constant, showing the 
impact on Equity (that reflects adjustments to Profit before Tax and revaluing fixed rate/yield AFS financial assets). The correlation of variables 
will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on interest rate/profit yield risk but to demonstrate the impact due to changes 
in variables, variables had to be changed in an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these variables are non-linear.

GROUP	
						      Impact on Equity*	

	
						      31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
						      RM’000	 RM’000
Interest Rate			 
			 
+ 100 basis points			   (11,148)	 (13,516)
- 100 basis points			   12,565	 10,879
			 

	 * 	 Impact on Equity reflects adjustments for tax, when applicable.

	 The above excluded the potential impacts from overseas subsidiary companies which are deemed insignificant as the said subsidiary 
companies’ AFS financial assets are not material.

	 The method used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables did not change from previous year.
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50	 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

	 Market Risk (continued)

	 Price Risk

	 Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices 
(other than those arising from interest rate/profit yield risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer or factors affecting similar financial instruments traded in the market.

	 The equity investment portfolio of the Group is exposed to movements in equity markets. The Group monitors its equity price risk through 
regular stress testing. In addition, the Group monitors and manages the equity exposure against policies set and agreed by the Investment 
Committees of the insurance subsidiary companies. These policies include monitoring the equity exposure against benchmark set and also 
single security exposure of the portfolio against the limits set. The Group uses historical stock betas, index levels and equity prices and 
estimates the volatility and correlation of each of these share prices and index levels to calculate the gains and losses that could occur over 
a period of time, given a certain index level.

	 The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key variables with all other variables held constant, showing the 
impact on Profit before Tax (due to changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities whose changes in fair values are recorded in Income 
Statement) and Equity (that reflects adjustments to Profit before Tax and changes in fair value of AFS financial assets). The correlation of 
variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on price risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in 
variables, variables had to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these variables are non-linear.

	
GROUP	
		  Impact on profit before tax	 Impact on Equity*

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Change in variables					   
				  
FTSE Bursa Malaysia					   
		
- FBM KLCI +15% - gain	 2,977	 2,957	 2,233	 2,218
- FBM KLCI -15% - loss	 (2,977)	 (2,957)	 (2,233)	 (2,218)

							     

	 The potential impacts arising from other market indices and overseas subsidiary companies are deemed insignificant as the Group’s 
holdings in equity securities listed in other bourses are not material.  

	 * 	 Impact on Equity reflects adjustments for tax, when applicable.

	 The method used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables did not change from previous year.

	 Price risk is deemed insignificant to the Company as its holdings in quoted equity securities are not material.

51	 OPERATIONS RISK

	 Operational risk arises from inadequate or failed performance of business functions or internal processes. Exposure to this risk can cause 
deficiencies or breakdowns in internal controls or processes, technology and external events such as interruption of business operations due 
to a breakdown of IT systems, landslide or flood.  

	 The Group has developed comprehensive operating policies and procedures manuals to enable all business units to implement, measure, 
monitor and control the risks in order to avoid or reduce future losses. Further the Group has established Risk Management Department and 
Internal Audit Department which are assigned to facilitate business units to review and check the current procedures adhere to all rules and 
regulations and the procedures manuals. 

52	 COMPLIANCE RISK

	 Compliance risk is the risk arising from violations of, or non conformance with business principles, internal policies and procedures, related 
laws, rules and regulations governing the Group’s products and activities.

	 Consequently, the exposure to this risk can damage the Group’s reputation, lead to legal or regulatory sanctions and/or financial loss.  

	 The Group has established a Compliance and Governance Department to look into all compliance aspects in observing the regulatory 
requirements. In this respect, it has developed internal policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all applicable law and guidelines 
issued by the regulatory authorities.
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS 

	 Statement of Financial Position by Funds 
	 As at 31 December 2012

 		  Shareholders’	 General	 Life	 General 	 Family
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 takaful fund	 takaful fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Assets	 					   
						    
Property, plant and equipment 	 23,545	 341	 -	 -	 -	 23,886
Investment properties	 11,632	 -	 -	 -	 -	 11,632
Intangible assets	 7,859	 -	 -	 -	 -	 7,859
Investments	 125,287	 3,401	 11,011	 61,775	 272,147	 473,621
  Financial assets at fair value 
    through profit of loss	 19,448	 -	 11,011	 -	 171,341	 201,800
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 95,985	 20	 -	 61,775	 58,555	 216,335
  Loans and receivables	 9,854	 3,381	 -	 -	 42,251	 55,486
Associated companies	 56,314	 -	 -	 -	 -	 56,314
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 66,812	 -	 132,139	 13,792	 212,743
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 21,944	 -	 21,942	 24,918	 68,804
Trade and other receivables	 253,324	 708	 92	 1,185	 2,281	 257,590
Tax recoverable	 3,382	 235	 -	 -	 -	 3,617
Deferred tax assets	 -	 558	 -	 -	 -	 558
Cash and cash equivalents	 73,419	 853	 1,773	 10,077	 55,595	 141,717
Asset classified as held for sale 	 1,015	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,015

Total assets	 555,777	 94,852	 12,876	 227,118	 368,733	 1,259,356
						    
Equity, policyholders’ funds and liabilities	 					   
						    
Liabilities	 					   
						    
Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 -	 116,990	 -	 173,057	 310,882	 600,929
Investment contract liabilities	 -	 -	 11,289	 -	 -	 11,289
Borrowings 						    
-  Bank overdrafts (unsecured)	 4,335	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,335
Insurance/takaful payables	 -	 40,309	 -	 36,388	 24,846	 101,543
Trade and other payables	 52,269	 5,999	 151	 12,783	 3,457	 74,659
Current tax liabilities	 2,418	 113	 -	 2,388	 1,454	 6,373
Deferred tax liabilities	 3,978	 -	 -	 627	 1,505	 6,110

Total liabilities	 63,000	 163,411	 11,440	 225,243	 342,144	 805,238
						    
Equity	 					   
						    
Share capital	 304,354	 -	 -	 -	 -	 304,354
Retained earnings	 119,952	 -	 -	 (1,218)	 -	 118,734
Reserves	 4,316	 -	 -	 -	 -	 4,316
Total equity attributable to the 
  owners of the Company	 428,622	 -	 -	 (1,218)	 -	 427,404
						    
Non-controlling interests	 27,121	 -	 -	 (407)	 -	 26,714

Total equity	 455,743	 -	 -	 (1,625)	 -	 454,118
						    
Total equity, policyholders’ funds 
  and liabilities	 518,743	 163,411	 11,440	 223,618	 342,144	 1,259,356
						    

Inter-fund balances	 37,034	 (68,559)	 1,436	 3,500	 26,589	 -
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Statement of Financial Position by Funds 
	 As at 31 December 2011

 		  Shareholders’	 General	 Life	 General 	 Family
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 takaful fund	 takaful fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Assets	 					   
						    
Property, plant and equipment 	 9,184	 492	 697	 -	 -	 10,373
Investment properties	 11,175	 -	 -	 -	 -	 11,175
Intangible assets	 8,461	 -	 -	 -	 -	 8,461
Investments	 115,278	 4,330	 36,226	 55,418	 215,743	 426,995
  Financial assets at fair value 
    through profit of loss	 21,599	 -	 26,921	 -	 122,813	 171,333
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 82,441	 3,724	 8,490	 55,418	 51,018	 201,091
  Loans and receivables	 11,238	 606	 815	 -	 41,912	 54,571
Associated companies	 50,522	 -	 -	 -	 -	 50,522
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 30,187	 -	 107,692	 10,049	 147,928
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 18,034	 766	 43,996	 18,760	 81,556
Trade and other receivables	 203,166	 1,209	 3,542	 423	 1,493	 209,833
Tax recoverable	 2,822	 741	 -	 -	 -	 3,563
Deferred tax assets	 170	 419	 195	 -	 -	 784
Cash and cash equivalents	 101,500	 15,653	 9,930	 6,909	 43,260	 177,252
Asset classified as held for sale 	 1,589	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,589

Total assets	 503,867	 71,065	 51,356	 214,438	 289,305	 1,130,031
						    
Equity, policyholders’ funds and liabilities	 					   
						    
Liabilities	 					   
						    
Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 -	 81,834	 31,212	 148,465	 246,979	 508,490
Investment contract liabilities	 -	 -	 17,756	 -	 -	 17,756
Borrowings 						    
-  Bank overdrafts (unsecured)	 9,232	 -	 -	 -	 -	 9,232
Insurance/takaful payables	 -	 24,487	 149	 51,935	 19,521	 96,092
Trade and other payables	 49,786	 16,517	 5,381	 7,748	 2,489	 81,921
Current tax liabilities	 1,344	 92	 35	 698	 1,249	 3,418
Deferred tax liabilities	 3,574	 -	 -	 568	 1,013	 5,155

Total liabilities	 63,936	 122,930	 54,533	 209,414	 271,251	 722,064
						    
Equity	 					   
						    
Share capital	 304,354	 -	 -	 -	 -	 304,354
Retained earnings	 82,559	 -	 -	 (6,302)	 -	 76,257
Reserves	 (616)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (616)
Total equity attributable to the 
  owners of the Company	 386,297	 -	 -	 (6,302)	 -	 379,995
						    
Non-controlling interests	 30,073	 -	 -	 (2,101)	 -	 27,972

Total equity	 416,370	 -	 -	 (8,403)	 -	 407,967
						    
Total equity, policyholders’ 
  funds and liabilities	 480,306	 122,930	 54,533	 201,011	 271,251	 1,130,031
						    

Inter-fund balances	 23,561	 (51,865)	 (3,177)	 13,427	 18,054	 -
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Statement of Financial Position by Funds 
	 As at 1 January 2011

 		  Shareholders’	 General	 Life	 General 	 Family
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 takaful fund	 takaful fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Assets	 					   
						    
Property, plant and equipment 	 7,426	 480	 481	 -	 -	 8,387
Investment properties	 6,496	 5,105	 -	 -	 -	 11,601
Intangible assets	 8,271	 -	 -	 -	 -	 8,271
Investments	 160,319	 6,456	 105,779	 33,268	 111,339	 417,161
  Financial assets at fair value
    through profit of loss	 7,057	 2,477	 62,631	 -	 82,188	 154,353
  Available-for-sale financial assets	 118,045	 1,602	 42,269	 33,268	 29,151	 224,335
  Loans and receivables	 35,217	 2,377	 879	 -	 -	 38,473
Associated companies	 49,404	 -	 -	 -	 -	 49,404
Reinsurance/retakaful assets	 -	 44,517	 -	 62,182	 17,198	 123,897
Insurance/takaful receivables	 -	 30,559	 790	 37,226	 -	 68,575
Trade and other receivables	 25,450	 7,395	 4,690	 325	 1,806	 39,666
Tax recoverable	 4,292	 420	 -	 -	 -	 4,712
Deferred tax assets	 1,306	 827	 -	 -	 -	 2,133
Cash and cash equivalents	 110,515	 14,094	 45,390	 11,094	 71,486	 252,579
Asset classified as held for sale 	 231,757	 935,510	 6,430,132	 -	 -	 7,597,399

Total assets	 605,236	 1,046,363	 6,587,262	 144,095	 201,829	 8,583,785
						    
Equity, policyholders’ funds and liabilities	 					   
						    
Liabilities	 					   
						    
Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 -	 115,311	 108,560	 104,929	 193,610	 522,410
Investment contract liabilities	 -	 -	 40,538	 -	 -	 40,538
Borrowings 						    
- Medium term notes (secured)	 170,000	 -	 -	 -	 -	 170,000
- Revolving credit (secured)	 36,300	 -	 -	 -	 -	 36,300
- Bank overdrafts (unsecured)	 9,905	 -	 -	 -	 -	 9,905
Insurance/takaful payables	 -	 15,068	 103	 41,612	 8,605	 65,388
Trade and other payables	 51,447	 6,302	 12,586	 5,380	 4,114	 79,829
Current tax liabilities	 168	 77	 38	 -	 348	 631
Deferred tax liabilities	 2,234	 -	 -	 312	 776	 3,322
Liabilities directly associated with assets 
  classified as held for sale	 (2,428)	 935,510	 6,430,132	 -	 -	 7,363,214

Total liabilities	 267,626	 1,072,268	 6,591,957	 152,233	 207,453	 8,291,537
						    
Equity	 					   
						    
Share capital	 304,354	 -	 -	 -	 -	 304,354
Accumulated losses	 (27,571)	 -	 -	 (10,889)	 -	 (38,460)
Reserves	 (981)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (981)

Total equity attributable to the 
  owners of the Company	 275,802	 -	 -	 (10,889)	 -	 264,913
						    
Non-controlling interests	 30,965	 -	 -	 (3,630)	 -	 27,335

Total equity	 306,767	 -	 -	 (14,519)	 -	 292,248
						    
Total equity, policyholders’ funds 
  and liabilities	 574,393	 1,072,268	 6,591,957	 137,714	 207,453	 8,583,785
						    

Inter-fund balances	 30,843	 (26,905)	 (4,695)	 (6,381)	 (5,624)	 -
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Income Statement by Funds
	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

	 Continuing operations
			 
			   Share-			   General	 Family
			   holders’	 General	 Life	 takaful	 takaful	 Inter-
			   fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 elimination	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
							     
Gross earned premiums/contributions		  -	 69,412	 -	 152,907	 209,099	 -	 431,418
Premiums/contributions ceded to 
  reinsurers/retakaful		  -	 (48,466)	 -	 (121,522)	 (18,709)	 -	 (188,697)

Net earned premiums/contributions	 	 -	 20,946	 -	 31,385	 190,390	 -	 242,721
							     
Investment income		  9,681	 402	 177	 2,893	 9,263	 -	 22,416
Realised gains and losses		  6,179	 (6)	 83	 565	 8,345	 -	 15,166
Fair value gains and losses		  9,164	 -	 (2,828)	 -	 5,884	 -	 12,220
Fee and commission income		  -	 6,035	 -	 31,330	 -	 -	 37,365
Other operating revenue from 
  non-insurance businesses		  43,908	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 43,908
Wakalah fee from takaful business		  113,351	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (113,351)	 -

Other revenue		  182,283	 6,431	 (2,568)	 34,788	 23,492	 (113,351)	 131,075
							     
Gross benefits and claims paid		  -	 (51,055)	 -	 (48,810)	 (84,879)	 -	 (184,744)
Claims ceded to reinsurers/retakaful		  -	 28,451	 -	 32,808	 20,634	 -	 81,893
Gross change to contract liabilities		  -	 (49,298)	 3,283	 (15,348)	 (52,293)	 -	 (113,656)
Change in contract liabilities ceded to 
  reinsurers/retakaful		  -	 43,503	 -	 18,601	 4,486	 -	 66,590

Net insurance/takaful benefits 
  and claims		  -	 (28,399)	 3,283	 (12,749)	 (112,052)	 -	 (149,917)
							     
Fee and commission expense		  (80,292)	 (15,330)	 (40)	 -	 -	 -	 (95,662)
Management expenses		  (109,230)	 (11,609)	 (1,050)	 (3)	 -		  (121,892)
Other operating income/(expenses) - net		  (21,033)	 15,693	 247	 -	 (10,296)	 -	 (15,389)
Wakalah fee payable to Shareholders’ fund	 -	 -	 -	 (43,316)	 (70,035)	 113,351	 -
Finance costs		  (420)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (420)

Other expenses		  (210,975)	 (11,246)	 (843)	 (43,319)	 (80,331)	 113,351	 (233,363)
							     
Share of loss of associate companies, 
  net of tax		  (665)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (665)

Profit/(loss) before taxation	 	 (29,357)	 (12,268)	 (128)	 10,105	 21,499	 -	 (10,149)
							     
Taxation of life insurance, general takaful
  and family takaful businesses		  -	 -	 -	 (3,327)	 (2,477)	 -	 (5,804)

Surplus after taxation/ 
  profit/(loss) before taxation	 	 (29,357)	 (12,268)	 (128)	 6,778	 19,022	 -	 (15,953)

Surplus attributable to participants		  -	 -	 -	 -	 (9,192)	 -	 (9,192)

Profit/(loss) before taxation	 	 (29,357)	 (12,268)	 (128)	 6,778	 9,830	 -	 (25,145)
							     
Taxation		  (3,845)	 181	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (3,664)
Zakat			  (226)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (226)
							     
Profit/(loss) for the financial year		  (33,428)	 (12,087)	 (128)	 6,778	 9,830	 -	 (29,035)
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Income Statement by Funds 
	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2011

	 Continuing operations
			   Share-			   General	 Family
			   holders’	 General	 Life	 takaful	 takaful	 Inter-
			   fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 fund	 elimination	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
							     
Gross earned premiums/contributions	 -	 73,975	 6	 124,471	 163,751	 -	 362,203
Premiums/contributions ceded to 
  reinsurers/retakaful	 -	 (45,653)	 -	 (92,505)	 (12,927)	 -	 (151,085)

Net earned premiums/contributions	 -	 28,322	 6	 31,966	 150,824	 -	 211,118
							     
Investment income	 7,601	 682	 2,188	 2,408	 6,592	 -	 19,471
Realised gains and losses	 2,728	 (29)	 2,197	 50	 5,633	 -	 10,579
Fair value gains and losses	 (14,911)	 (11)	 (4,358)	 -	 1,430	 -	 (17,850)
Fee and commission income	 -	 6,841	 -	 23,539	 1,938	 -	 32,318
Other operating revenue from 
  non-insurance businesses	 43,497	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 43,497
Wakalah fee from takaful business	 90,713	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (90,713)	 -

Other revenue	 129,628	 7,483	 27	 25,997	 15,593	 (90,713)	 88,015
							     
Gross benefits and claims paid	 -	 (46,032)	 (3,409)	 (32,508)	 (51,362)	 -	 (133,311)
Claims ceded to reinsurers/retakaful	 -	 32,606	 3,515	 17,938	 13,418	 -	 67,477
Gross change to contract liabilities	 -	 (3,519)	 52,046	 (31,042)	 (44,915)	 -	 (27,430)
Change in contract liabilities ceded to 
  reinsurers/retakaful	 -	 (8,210)	 -	 28,295	 (2,645)	 -	 17,440
Net insurance/takaful benefits 
  and claims	 -	 (25,155)	 52,152	 (17,317)	 (85,504)	 -	 (75,824)
							     
Fee and commission expense	 (67,347)	 (18,682)	 (47)	 -	 -	 -	 (86,076)
Management expenses	 (76,995)	 (11,217)	 (1,457)	 (168)	 -	 -	 (89,837)
Other operating income/(expenses) - net	 (7,720)	 34	 534	 -	 (8,165)	 -	 (15,317)
Wakalah fee payable to Shareholders’ fund	 -	 -	 -	 (33,663)	 (57,050)	 90,713	 -
Finance costs	 (14,428)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (14,428)

Other expenses	 (166,490)	 (29,865)	 (970)	 (33,831)	 (65,215)	 90,713	 (205,658)
							     
Share of loss of associate companies,
  net of tax	 (350)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (350)

Profit/(loss) before taxation	 (37,212)	 (19,215)	 51,215	 6,815	 15,698	 -	 17,301
							     
Taxation of life insurance, general 
  takaful and family takaful businesses	 -	 -	 -	 (699)	 (1,381)	 -	 (2,080)

Surplus after taxation/ 
  profit/(loss) before taxation	 (37,212)	 (19,215)	 51,215	 6,116	 14,317	 -	 15,221
							     
Surplus attributable to participants 	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (6,222)	 -	 (6,222)

Surplus retained in life insurance fund	 -	 -	 (1,453)	 -	 -	 -	 (1,453)

Profit/(loss) before taxation	 (37,212)	 (19,215)	 49,762	 6,116	 8,095	 -	 7,546
							     
Taxation	 (4,586)	 (341)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (4,927)
Zakat		 (188)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (188)
							     
Profit/(loss) for the financial year	 (41,986)	 (19,556)	 49,762	 6,116	 8,095	 -	 2,431
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Income Statement by Funds
	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

	 Discontinued operations
					    Shareholders’	 Life	
					     fund	  fund	 Total
					     RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
			 
Gross earned premiums	 -	 3,453	 3,453
Premiums ceded to reinsurers	 -	 (258)	 (258)

Net earned premiums	 -	 3,195	 3,195
			 
Investment income	 8	 555	 563
Realised gains and losses	 67,302	 (182)	 67,120
Fair value gains and losses	 -	 (942)	 (942)
Fee and commission income	 -	 135	 135
Other operating revenue from non-insurance businesses	 11,286	 -	 11,286

Other revenue	 78,596	 (434)	 78,162
			 
Gross benefits and claims paid	 -	 (3,749)	 (3,749)
Claims ceded to reinsurers	 -	 -	 -
Gross change to contract liabilities	 -	 1,587	 1,587
Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers	 -	 -	 -

Net insurance benefits and claims	 -	 (2,162)	 (2,162)
			 
Fee and commission expense	 -	 (450)	 (450)
Management expenses	 (10,945)	 (3,373)	 (14,318)
Other operating income/(expenses) - net	 (148)	 54	 (94)
Finance costs	 (20)	 -	 (20)

Other expenses	 (11,113)	 (3,769)	 (14,882)
			 
Profit/(loss) before taxation	 67,483	 (3,170)	 64,313
			 
Taxation	 (153)	 -	 (153)
			 

Profit/(loss) for the financial year	 67,330	 (3,170)	 64,160
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Income Statement by Funds 
	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2011
	
	 Discontinued operations
	  		
	 Shareholders’	 Life	 General
	 fund	 fund	  fund	 Total
	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  

Gross earned premiums	 -	 346,873	 697,184	 1,044,057
Premiums ceded to reinsurers	 -	 (38,351)	 (15,071)	 (53,422)

Net earned premiums	 -	 308,522	 682,113	 990,635
				  
Investment income	 7,371	 18,470	 211,271	 237,112
Realised gains and losses	 83,420	 2,867	 21,881	 108,168
Fair value gains and losses	 222	 4,093	 (56,372)	 (52,057)
Fee and commission income	 -	 15,001	 9,013	 24,014
Other operating revenue from non-insurance businesses	 20,094	 -	 -	 20,094

Other revenue	 111,107	 40,431	 185,793	 337,331
				  
Gross benefits and claims paid	 -	 (215,776)	 (942,769)	 (1,158,545)
Claims ceded to reinsurers	 -	 82,277	 8,351	 90,628
Gross change to contract liabilities	 -	 (42,388)	 153,662	 111,274
Change in contract liabilities ceded to reinsurers	 -	 (6,563)	 688	 (5,875)

Net insurance benefits and claims	 -	 (182,450)	 (780,068)	 (962,518)
				  
Fee and commission expense	 -	 (52,623)	 (72,098)	 (124,721)
Management expenses	 (29,898)	 (55,456)	 (73,995)	 (159,349)
Other operating income/(expenses) - net	 44	 2,332	 37,014	 39,390
Finance costs	 (42)	 -	 -	 (42)

Other expenses	 (29,896)	 (105,747)	 (109,079)	 (244,722)
				  
Profit/surplus((deficit) before taxation	 81,211	 60,756	 (21,241)	 120,726
				  
Taxation of life insurance business	 -	 -	 14,407	 14,407
				  
Profit/(loss) before taxation	 81,211	 60,756	 (6,834)	 135,133
				  
Taxation	 (3,853)	 (19,571)	 -	 (23,424)
				  
Profit/(loss) for the financial year	 77,358	 41,185	 (6,834)	 111,709
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Investment-linked Fund
	
	 Statement of Financial Position 
	 As at 31 December 2012

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Assets	 			 

	
Investments	 224,602	 189,002	 120,489
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 182,352	 147,090	 120,489
    Loans and receivables	 42,250	 41,912	 -
Trade and other receivables	 1,039	 1,489	 3,222
Cash and cash equivalents	 38,987	 31,849	 68,856
Assets classified as held for sale (a)	 -	 -	 759,739

Total assets	 264,628	 222,340	 952,306

Liabilities	 			 
	

Insurance/takaful contract liabilities	 246,482	 200,301	 147,889
Investment contract liabilities	 11,289	 17,756	 40,538
Trade and other payables	 4,535	 2,508	 5,269
Current tax liabilities	 1,099	 1,049	 348
Deferred tax liabilities	 1,224	 749	 625
Liabilities classified as held for sale (a)	 -	 -	 759,739

Total liabilities	 264,629	 222,363	 954,408

Inter-fund balances	 (1)	 (23)	 (2,102)

Net assets value of funds	 264,628	 222,340	 952,306
				  

	
Income Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

			   31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
			   RM’000	 RM’000
CONTINUING OPERATIONS			 
			 
Investment income		  6,519	 4,926
Realised gains and losses		  7,076	 5,400
Fair value gains and losses		  3,102	 (4,048)
			   16,697	 6,278
Other operating expenses - net		  (3,359)	 (3,263)
Profit before taxation		  13,338	 3,015
Taxation		  (1,541)	 (909)

Net profit for the financial year from continuing operations		  11,797	 2,106
			 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS			 
			 
Loss before taxation		  (1,106)	 (21,991)
Taxation		  -	 1,715

Net loss for the financial year from discontinued operations (b)		  (1,106)	 (20,276)
			 

Net profit/(loss) for the financial year		  10,691	 (18,170)
			 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012

(continued)

MAA GROUP BERHAD 
annual report 2012 217

53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

(a)	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

	 Investment-linked Fund 
	
	 Statement of Financial Position 
	 As at 31 December 2012

		  31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 1.1.2011
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Assets	 			 
	

Investments	 -	 -	 614,471
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 -	 -	 564,271
    Loans and receivables	 -	 -	 50,200
Trade and other receivables	 -	 -	 4,379
Tax recoverable	 -	 -	 1,802
Cash and cash equivalents	 -	 -	 139,087

Total assets	 -	 -	 759,739
				  

	
Liabilities	 			 

	
Insurance contract liabilities	 -	 -	 747,175
Trade and other payables	 -	 -	 8,638
Current tax liabilities	 -	 -	 4,974
Deferred tax liabilities	 -	 -	 1,681

Total liabilities	 -	 -	 762,468

Inter-fund balances	 -	 -	 (2,729)

Net assets value of funds	 -	 -	 759,739
				  

	

(b)	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Income Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2012

			   31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
			   RM’000	 RM’000

			 
Investment income		  (981)	 21,113
Realised gains and losses		  -	 3,316
Fair value gains and losses		  -	 (38,770)
			   (981)	 (14,341)
Fees and commission expenses		  -	 (8,224)
Management expenses		  -	 (24)
Other operating expenses - net		  (125)	 598
Loss before taxation		  (1,106)	 (21,991)
Taxation		  -	 1,715

Net loss for the financial year		  (1,106)	 (20,276)
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53	 INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED)

	 Information on cash Flow by Funds

 		  Shareholders’	 General	 Life	 General 	 Family
		  fund	 fund	 fund	 takaful fund	 takaful fund	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

31 December 2012	 					   
						    
Cash flows from:						    
   Operating activities	 (15,397)	 (14,722)	 (6,939)	 3,168	 12,335	 (21,555)
   Investing activities	 (7,787)	 (78)	 (1,218)	 -	 -	 (9,083)
   Financing activities	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -
						    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
  cash equivalents	 (23,184)	 (14,800)	 (8,157)	 3,168	 12,335	 (30,638)
						    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
  of financial year	 92,268	 15,653	 9,930	 6,909	 43,260	 168,020
						    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
  financial year	 69,084	 853	 1,773	 10,077	 55,595	 137,382
						    
31 December 2011	 					   
						    
Cash flows from:						    
   Operating activities	 728,107	 (105,218)	 (508,072)	 (64,577)	 32,166	 82,406
   Investing activities	 (566,006)	 (1,151)	 (2,878)	 -	 -	 (570,035)
   Financing activities	 (206,300)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (206,300)
						    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
  cash equivalents	 (44,199)	 (106,369)	 (510,950)	 (64,577)	 32,166	 (693,929)
						    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
  of financial year	 136,467	 122,022	 520,880	 71,486	 11,094	 861,949
						    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
  financial year	 92,268	 15,653	 9,930	 6,909	 43,260	 168,020
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54	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR END

(a)	 On 30 September 2011, the Company completed the disposal of its entire 100% equity interest in Malaysian Assurance Alliance Berhad 
(“MAA”) (now known as Zurich Insurance Malaysia Berhad) and other identified subsidiary companies, namely Multioto Services Sdn 
Bhd, Maagnet Systems Sdn Bhd, Malaysian Alliance Property Services Sdn Bhd and Maagnet-SSMS Sdn Bhd (hereinafter collectively 
known as the (“Disposed Subsidiaries”)) to Zurich Insurance Company Ltd (“Zurich”) for a total cash consideration of RM344.0 million 
(“the Disposal”).

	 Under the terms of the Conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Zurich in relation to the Disposal, there is an adjustment 
to the sale consideration of RM344.0 million equal to the difference between the aggregate net asset value of Disposed Subsidiaries 
as at 30 September 2010 and the final aggregate net asset value as at 30 September 2011 (“Adjustment to Consideration”). The 
Adjustment to Consideration shall be finalised within one hundred and twenty (120) days from the completion of the sale of the 
Disposed Subsidiaries, unless disputes arise which shall be resolved in accordance to the relevant terms and conditions stipulated in 
the SPA.    

	 On 30 December 2011, based on the draft completion accounts and statement of aggregate net assets value of the Disposed 
Subsidiaries prepared by and received from Zurich, there is an upward adjustment of RM86.0 million to the sale consideration of 
RM344.0 million. The upward adjustment of RM86.0 million equals to the difference between the aggregate net asset value of Disposed 
Subsidiaries as at 30 September 2010 and the final aggregate net asset value as at 30 September 2011.

	 On 17 February 2012 and 12 April 2012, the Company submitted notifications of disputes (“Dispute Notifications”) to Zurich to disagree 
certain downward adjustments made to the draft completion accounts and statement of aggregate net assets value of the Disposed 
Subsidiaries.  

	 On 28 June 2012, the Company received RM30.1 million in the escrow account from Zurich being the net held back sum upon 
satisfaction of certain condition precedent in the SPA in relation to Prima Avenue Klang property, one of the real properties owned by 
MAA.

	 On 16 July 2012, the Company received a letter dated 13 July 2012 from Zurich confirming an overstatement of RM5.3 million in the 
Life fund liabilities of MAA in the draft completion accounts.

	 On 27 July 2012, the Company received RM20.6 million in the escrow account from Zurich being the held back sum upon satisfaction 
of certain condition precedent in the SPA in relation to Mithril’s 3% 8-year redeemable convertible secured loan stocks (“RCSLS”).

	 On 2 November 2012, the Company filed and served a notice of arbitration against Zurich with the Singapore International Arbitration 
Centre seeking, inter alia, declarations to refer disputes on the calculation of General Insurance Reserves and other dispute matters in 
the draft completion accounts prepared by Zurich to an Expert Accountant in accordance with terms of the SPA in order to determine 
the final selling price of the Disposed subsidiaries, as well as further declarations to be entitled to receive payment of escrow monies 
in accordance  with the Escrow Agreement dated 28 September 2011, having satisfied the requirements under the SPA and the Side 
Letter dated 17 August 2011 in respect of the Prima Avenue Klang property, together with damages, interests and costs.

(b)	 On 30 September 2011, the Company became an affected listed issuer pursuant to Practice Note 17 (“PN17”) of the Listing 
Requirements whereby a listed issuer has suspended or ceased its major business, i.e. in this case the disposal of MAA. 

	 Nonetheless, the Company did not trigger any of the other prescribed criteria under PN17 of the Listing Requirements, such as 
consolidated shareholders’ equity of 25% or less of the issued and paid up share capital, a default in payment by the Group, the 
auditors having expressed an adverse or disclaimer opinion on the Company’s latest audited accounts etc. 

	 As an affected listed issuer, the Company is required pursuant to paragraph 4.1 of the PN 17 of the Listing Requirements to announce 
details of its regularisation plan. 

	 On 28 September 2012, the Company submitted an application to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) for a waiver 
from having to comply with Paragraph 8.04(2) of the Listing Requirements and a waiver from submitting a regularisation plan to Bursa 
Securities pursuant to Paragraph 8.04(3) of the Listing Requirements (“Application for Waiver”).

	 On 1 October 2012, Bursa Securities had vide its letter dated 1 October 2012 informed that the suspension on the trading of the 
Company’s securities and delisting of the Company in accordance with Paragraph 8.04 of the Listing Requirements shall be deferred 
pending the decision on the Application for Waiver.

	 On 30 November 2012, the Company submitted an application to Bursa Securities for an extension of time from complying with 
Paragraph 8.04(3) and PN17 of the Listing Requirements (“Application for Extension of time”).



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012
(continued)

MAA GROUP BERHAD 
annual report 2012220

54	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR END (CONTINUED)

(b)	 On 20 December 2012, the Company announced that Bursa Securities had vide its letter rejected the Company’s Application for 
Waiver from complying with Paragraph 8.04(3) and PN17 of the Listing Requirements and has granted an extension of time of up to 18 
June 2013 for the Company to submit a regularisation plan taking into consideration amongst others the following:

(i)	 The consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2012 including its consolidated shareholders’ equity and 
net assets of approximately RM451.9 million, cash and cash equivalents of approximately RM154.6 million as well as the Group’s 
low gearing position;

(ii)	 The future receipts of balance of cash proceeds from the disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries which is scheduled to be released 
to the Company from the escrow account in 2013;

(iii)	 The steps taken to regularise the Company’s financial position to date and in particular the disposals of non-performing or loss 
making assets (such as Wira Security Services Sdn Bhd and PT MAA Life Assurance as disclosed in note (c) and (d) below) and 
the acquisition of Origin Mortgage Management Services by Columbus Capital Pty Ltd in note (f) below; and

(iv)	 The Company’s plan to revert, sustain and grow the profitability of the Group.

(c)	 On 28 June 2012, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary company, MAA Corporation Sdn Bhd (“MAA Corp”), completed the 
disposal of its 100% equity interest in Wira Security Services Sdn Bhd (“Wira”) for a total cash consideration of RM7.0 million, arrived 
at on a ‘willing buyer-willing seller’ basis.

(d)	 On 16 August 2012, MAA International Assurance Ltd (“MAAIA”), a wholly owned subsidiary company of MAA Corp, completed the 
disposal of its 99.5% equity interest in PT MAA Life Assurance (“PT MAAL”) for a final sale consideration of IDR23.56 billion (equivalent 
to approximately RM7.79 million) to Tokio Marine Holdings, Inc.

(e)	 On 5 September 2012, the Company disposed its 45% equity interest in an associated company, Maybach Logistics Sdn Bhd to Crest 
Corporate Services Sdn Bhd, for a total cash consideration of RM14,000. 

(f)	 On 21 September 2012, Columbus Capital Pty Ltd (“CCAU”), an associated company of Columbus Capital Singapore Ltd (“CCS”) 
which is in turn a wholly owned subsidiary company of MAA International Investments Ltd (“MAAII”), also a wholly owned subsidiary 
company of MAA Corp, entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited (“ANZ”) to acquire ANZ’s wholesale mortgage distribution business, Origin Mortgage Management Services which manages a 
portfolio of approximately AUD2.2 billion in residential mortgages.

	 The acquisition was part financed by funds raised from issuance of Preference Shares B to shareholders’ CCS and Consortia Group 
Holdings Pty Limited (“Consortia”)

	 A Share Subscription Deed to subscribe for 2.0 million Preference Shares B at AUD1.00 per share, representing 4.68% of the enlarged 
equity interest in CCAU, for a total cash consideration of AUD2.0 million or RM6.7 million equivalent (based on the prevailing exchange 
rate of AUD1.00: RM3.35) was executed by CCS on 11 September 2012. Consortia subscribed for 1.25 million Preference Share B 
at an issue price of AUD1.00 per share which represented 2.92% of the enlarged equity interest in CCAU. The proposed subscription 
increased CCS’ equity interest in CCAU from 46.84% to 47.95% whilst correspondingly decreased Consortia’s overall interest from 
53.16% to 52.05%.

	 On 28 September 2012, CCAU completed the acquisition of ANZ’s wholesale mortgage distribution business, Origin Mortgage 
Management Services.

(g)	 On 2 October 2012, MAA Credit Berhad (“MAA Credit”), a wholly owned subsidiary of MAA Corp had in exercise of its power of 
attorney pursuant to memorandum of deposit shares in Keris Murni Sdn Bhd (“KMSB”) and Pusat Tuisyen Kasturi Sdn Bhd (“PTKSB”) 
(“the Security Shares”) dated 1 October 2009 signed with Famous Vertex Sdn Bhd (“FVSB”), transferred all the Security Shares to 
itself. This forms part of debt recovery action taken to enforce the Security Shares after FVSB had defaulted the loan (both principal 
and interest) due to MAA Credit. 

	 Consequently, KMSB and PTKSB become 70% owned subsidiary companies of MAA Credit on 2 October 2012.

(h)	 On 26 November 2012 MAA Credit entered into a Shares Sale Agreement with Ahmad Nor Shaffuddin bin Ahmad Baharuddin and 
Rozeeta Binti Ahmad Baharuddin (collectively referred to as “Vendors”) on the same date to acquire from the Vendors 290,002 ordinary 
shares of RM1.00 each representing 100% equity interest in Nilam Timur Sdn Bhd (“Nilam Timur”) for a total cash consideration of 
RM10.00, arrived at on a ‘willing seller-willing buyer’ basis. This forms part of debt recovery action taken by MAA Credit for a loan due 
by Nilam Timur. MAA Credit intends to sell Nilam Timur which has the sub-lease on lands to any interested party to recover the loan.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012

(continued)

MAA GROUP BERHAD 
annual report 2012 221

54	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE FINANCIAL YEAR END (CONTINUED)

(i)	 On 5 December 2012, MAA Corp and NTY Enterprise Sdn Bhd entered into a Share Sale Agreement, for the disposal of 385,000 
ordinary shares representing 11% of the issued and fully paid up ordinary shares and the 153 redeemable preference shares 
representing 100% of the issued and fully paid up redeemable preference shares in Meridian Asset Management Holdings Sdn Bhd 
(“MAM”) respectively for a total cash consideration of Ringgit Malaysia Ten (RM10) only,  arrived at on a ‘willing seller-willing buyer’ basis. 
Upon completion of the disposal, MAM has ceased to be a subsidiary company of MAA Corp/the Company and has been accounted 
for as an associated company of the Group.

(j)	 On 23 April 2013, the Board of Directors of the Company discussed and approved in principle the proposed disposal of MAAIA’s 
entire interest in PT MAA General Assurance (“PT MAAG”), an 83% owned subsidiary company in Indonesia. The Company has been 
in discussions with an interested party for the proposed disposal; however the terms and conditions of the contemplated sale and 
purchase agreement have yet to be finalised. The Board is of the opinion that it will be in the best interest of the Company to divest PT 
MAAG based on its financial condition and to therefore mitigate the loss from this operations in Indonesia.   

	 The key financial information in relation to PT MAAG included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the current and 
previous financial years are as follows:

				    (Restated)
			   31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
			   RM’000	 RM’000

Income statement for the financial year ended:	 	
		
Operating revenue	 69,797	 64,896
		
Loss after taxation	 (26,895)	 (24,847)
		
Statement of financial position as at:	 	
		
Total assets	 94,852	 67,718
		
Total liabilities	 (163,411)	 (108,139)

		

The expected gain or loss from the proposed disposal is presently undeterminable as the terms and conditions of the contemplated 
sale and purchase have yet to be finalised.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2012
(continued)
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55	 DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS

	 The following analysis of realised and unrealised retained profits at the legal entity level is prepared in accordance with Guidance of Special 
Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Securities Listing 
Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants whilst the disclosure at the Group level is based on the prescribed format by 
the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).

		  GROUP	 COMPANY

				    31.12.2012	 31.12.2011	 31.12.2012	 31.12.2011
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
					   

Total retained earnings:				  
	

   Realised	 131,741	 74,713	 79,887	 36,503
   Unrealised	 1,415	 5,577	 (131)	 (11)
			  133,156	 80,290	 79,756	 36,492
Total share of accumulated losses from associated companies:				  

	
   Realised	 (5,606)	 (5,644)	 -	 -
   Unrealised	 3,913	 4,616	 -	 -
					  
			  (1,693)	 (1,028)	 -	 -
					  
			  131,463	 79,262	 79,756	 36,492
					  
Less: Consolidation adjustments	 (12,729)	 (3,005)	 -	 -
					  
Total retained earnings 	 118,734	 76,257	 79,756	 36,492

							     
	 The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits/(losses) above is solely for compliance with the directive issued by Bursa Securities and 

should not be used for any other purpose.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Name No. of Shares Held
% of 

Issued Capital

Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah (“TY”)
Indirect Interest 105,777,084 34.75#

Tunku Yahaya @ Yahya bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah (“TYY”)
Indirect Interest 105,777,084 34.75*

Khyra Legacy Berhad (“Khyra”)
Indirect Interest 105,777,084 34.75#

Internum Melewar Sdn Bhd (“IMSB”)
Indirect Interest 105,777,084 34.75+

Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd (“MESB”)
Direct Interest

38,513,030 12.65#

Melewar Khyra Sdn Bhd (“MKSB”)
Direct Interest

40,326,110 13.25#

Melewar Equities (BVI) Ltd
Direct Interest

26,937,944 8.85#

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Number of Shares Held

Name Direct % Indirect %

TY - - 105,777,084 34.75#

TYY - - 105,777,084 34.75*

Tan Sri Ahmad bin Mohd Don 2,055,000** 0.67 - -

Datuk Seri Razman Md Hashim 150,000 0.05 - -

Yeo Took Keat 80,000 0.02 - -

Notes:

#	 Deemed interested by virtue of TY being the founder and ultimate beneficial owner of Khyra, a public company limited by guarantee and 
being the holding company of MESB, Melewar Equities (BVI) Ltd and MKSB.

+  	 IMSB is deemed interested in MAAG by virtue of it being the holding company of MESB who in turn is the holding company of MKSB. MESB 
and MKSB who are substantial shareholders of MAAG.

* 	 Under Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act 1965, TYY is deemed interested in Khyra’s deemed interest in MAAG by virtue of his family 
relationship with TY. 

**	 1,575,000 shares are registered in the name of CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd and the balance of 480,000 shares are registered 
in the name of Tan Sri Ahmad bin Mohd Don.

LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND 
DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 APRIL 2013
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 APRIL 2013

Authorised Capital RM500,000,000.00
Issued and Paid-up Capital RM304,353,752.00
Class of Shares Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each
Total Number of Shares Issued 304,353,752
Number of Shareholders 8,312

Breakdown of shareholdings

No. Of	 % Of	 % Of
Size Of Holdings	 Holders	 Holders	 No. Of Shares	 Shares

1 - 99	 229	 2.76	 9,074	 0.00

100 - 1000	 907	 10.91	 707,963	 0.23

1001 - 10000	 4,652	 55.97	 24,398,291	 8.02

10001 - 00000	 2,226	 26.78	 72,155,110	 23.71

100001 and below 5%	 295	 3.55	 101,806,230	 33.45

5% and above	 3	 0.04	 105,277,084	 34.59

TOTAL	 8,312	 100.00	 304,353,752	 100.00

List of Top Thirty Shareholders

No.	 Name	 No. Of Shares Held	 % Of Issued Capital

1	 RHB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 40,326,110	 13.25	
	 Beneficiary : Pledged Securities Account For Melewar Khyra Sdn Bhd

2	 AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 38,013,030	 12.49
	 Beneficiary : Pledged Securities Account - Ambank (M) Berhad For 
	 Melewar Equities Sdn Bhd	

3	 Melewar Equities (BVI) Ltd	 26,937,944	 8.85

4	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 3,451,300	 1.13
	 Beneficiary : Exempt An For Credit Suisse (Sg Br-Tst-Asing)

5	 Ong Wan Chin	 3,448,000	 1.13

6	 Ng Long Tiang	 3,000,000	 0.99

7	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 2,608,400	 0.86
	 Beneficiary : Exempt An For Morgan Stanley & Co. International Plc (Client)	
	 	
8	 Siva Kumar A/L M Jeyapalan	 2,519,800	 0.83

9	 Lin Thean Fatt	 1,832,000	 0.60

10	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,575,000	 0.52
	 Beneficiary : CIMB For Ahmad bin Mohd Don (PB)	

11	 Maybank Securities Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 1,490,100	 0.49
	 Beneficiary : Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd For Ng Aik Yeow	
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No.	 Name	 No. Of Shares Held	 % Of Issued Capital

12	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,473,000	 0.48
	 Beneficiary : Pledged Securities Account For Oh Kim Sun (CEB) 	

13	 CIMSEC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd	 1,360,350	 0.45
	 Beneficiary : Exempt An For CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd (Retail Clients)	

14	 Ng Nyuk Me @ Ng Nyuk Fung	 1,327,000	 0.44

15	 Soh Guan Chai	 1,200,000	 0.39

16	 Dennis Koh Seng Huat	 1,169,600	 0.38

17	 Nirmala Navinchandra Shah	 1,154,600	 0.38

18	 Chuah Sze Ming	 1,140,000	 0.37

19	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 1,099,632	 0.36
	 Beneficiary : Exempt An For Cimb Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd (Retail Clients)   

20	 Ooi Gim Eng	 1,060,600	 0.35

21	 G.T.Y. Holdings Sdn. Bhd.	 1,000,000	 0.33

22	 Lye Kok Loong	 972,100	 0.32

23	 Lim Mok Leng	 960,000	 0.32

24	 Ong Seng Lee	 922,600	 0.30

25	 Choy Wee Chiap	 892,000	 0.29

26	 Chin Yun Fen	 875,000	 0.29

27	 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 737,500	 0.24
	 Beneficiary : Pledged Securities Account For Law Hon Sun @ Liew Pin Cheong (E-Sdk)

28	 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 720,000	 0.24
	 Beneficiary : Pledged Securities Account For Lim Chou Bu (E-Kpg)

29	 RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd	 703,900	 0.23
	 Beneficiary : Pledged Securities Account For Tee Ho Peng

30	 Nik Ariza Binti Ariffin	 700,000	 0.23

	 TOTAL	 144,669,566	 47.53

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 APRIL 2013
(continued)
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NOTICE
There will be no 

distribution 
of door gifts

No. of ordinary 
shares held

CDS Account No.FORM OF PROXY
(please refer to the notes below)

I/We ____________________________________________________________ NRIC No./Co. No./CDS No. : _______________________________________________________
	 (Full Name in Block Letters)

of _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
	 (Full address)
being a member/members of MAA GROUP BERHAD hereby appoint  * Chairman of the meeting or

__________________________________________________ of ______________________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her
	 (Name of Proxy, NRIC No.)	 (Full Address)

__________________________________________________ of ______________________________________________________________________________ as *my/our proxy 
	 (Name of Proxy, NRIC No.)	 (Full Address)

to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the 15th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at the Crystal Function Room, 4th Floor, Mutiara 
Complex, 3 ½ Miles, Jalan Ipoh, 51200 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 20 June 2013 at 10.00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof on the following resolutions referred 
to in the Notice of 15th AGM. My/our proxy is to vote as indicated below: - 

FIRST PROXY SECOND PROXY
For Against For Against

Resolution 1 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM225,000.00 for the period from 1 July 
2013 to 30 June 2014 to be payable quarterly in arrears.
To re-elect the following Directors of the Company who are retiring pursuant to Article 73 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association:-

Resolution 2 (i)	 Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob bin Tunku Tan Sri Abdullah
Resolution 3 (ii)	 Mr Yeo Took Keat

To re-elect the following Directors of the Company who are retiring pursuant to Article 79 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association:-

Resolution 4 (i)	 Dato’ Narendrakumar Jasani A/L Chunilal Rugnath
Resolution 5 (ii)	 Mr Onn Kien Hoe
Resolution 6 To re-elect Datuk Seri Razman Md Hashim who is retiring pursuant to Section 129(6) of the 

Companies Act, 1965.
Resolution 7 To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the 

Directors to fix their remuneration.
Resolution 8 To re-elect Dato’ Jaffar Indot who is retiring pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965.
Resolution 9 To approve the Proposed Renewal and New Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions.
Resolution 10 Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority.

(Please indicate with a “3” or “7” in the spaces provided above on how you wish your vote to be cast. If no instruction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain 
from voting at his/her discretion).

The proportion of my holdings to be represented by my *proxy/proxies are as follows:

Number of shares Percentage
First proxy %
Second proxy %
Total 100%

*Strike out whichever is not desired.

Dated this _________________ day of _________________ 2013	 __________________________________________________________
	 Signature of Shareholder(s)/Common Seal

NOTES : -

1.	 Applicable to shares held through a nominee account.

2.	 A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not 
more than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead. A proxy may but need not be 
a member of the Company, and the provision of the Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 
shall not apply to the Company. 

3.	 Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies 
the proportion of his/her shareholdings to be presented by each proxy.

4.	 Where a member is an Exempt Authorised Nominee which holds shares in the Company for 
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the 
Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, there is no limit to the number of proxies 
which the Exempt Authorised Nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy, shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his 
attorney duly authorised in writing, and in the case of a corporation, either under seal or under 
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office, Suite 
12.03, 12th Floor, No.566, Jalan Ipoh, 51200 Kuala Lumpur, not less than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

7.	 Any alteration in the form of proxy must be initialled.

8.	 Form of Proxy sent through facsimile transmission shall not be accepted.

9.	 For the purpose of determining a member who shall be entitled to attend this 15th AGM, the 
Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd in accordance with Articles 
51(b), 51(c) and 51(d) of the Company’s Articles of Association and Section 34(1) of the Securities 
Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991 to issue a General Meeting Record of Depositors as at 
14 June 2013. Only a depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at 14 June 
2013 shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the said meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend, 
speak and/or vote on his/her behalf.

10.	 Explanatory notes to Special Business of the Agenda 7 : -

(a)	 Proposed Re-election of Director pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Act

        The re-appointment of Dato’ Jaffar Indot, who is over the age of seventy (70) years as Director 
of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company shall take 
effect if the Proposed Resolution 8 has been passed by a majority of not less than three-fourth 
(3/4) of such members as being entitled to vote in person or, where proxies are allowed, by 
proxy, at a general meeting. 

(b)	 Proposed Renewal and New Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 
Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature (“RRPTs”)

	 The Proposed Resolution 9, if passed, will empower the Company to conduct recurrent 
related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature which are necessary for the Group’s 
day-to-day operations, and will eliminate the need to convene separate general meetings 
from time to time to seek shareholders’ approval. This will substantially reduce administrative 
time, inconvenience and expenses associated with the convening of such meetings, without 
compromising the corporate objectives of the Group or adversely affecting the business 
opportunities available to the Group. 

(c)	 Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority

	 The Proposed Resolution 10, if passed, would empower the Directors to exercise the power 
of the Company to purchase its own shares (“the Proposal”) by utilising its financial resources 
not immediately required. The Proposal may have a positive impact on the market price of the 
Company’s shares. This authority, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, will expire at 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The detailed information on Special Business of Agenda 7 except for Agenda 7(a) as mentioned above 
is set out in the Circular to Shareholders of the Company dated 29 May 2013 which is despatched 
together with the Company’s 2012 Annual Report.

*Please strike out whichever is not desired. (Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit)

Incorporated in Malaysia
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